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THE INFORMATION IN THIS PROSPECTUS IS NOT COMPLETE AND MAY BE CHANGED. WE MAY
NOT SELL THESE SECURITIES UNTIL THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT FILED WITH THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION IS EFFECTIVE. THIS PROSPECTUS IS NOT AN OFFER
TO SELL THESE SECURITIES, AND WE ARE NOT SOLICITING OFFERS TO BUY THESE
SECURITIES IN ANY STATE WHERE THE OFFER OR SALE IS NOT PERMITTED.
 
                  Subject to Completion, dated March 24, 1999
 
PROSPECTUS
 
                                2,500,000 SHARES
 
                                      LOGO
 
                                  COMMON STOCK
 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
              Network Appliance, Inc. is offering 2,500,000 shares
 
Our shares are listed on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "NTAP." The
                          last reported sales price of
our shares on the Nasdaq National Market on March 22, 1999 was $53.88 per share.
 
     INVESTING IN THE SHARES INVOLVES RISKS. RISK FACTORS BEGIN ON PAGE 5.
 

                                                              PER SHARE       TOTAL
                                                              ---------       -----
                                                                                 
Public Offering Price.......................................  $            $
Underwriting Discount.......................................
Proceeds to Network Appliance, Inc. ........................



 
We have also granted the underwriters the right to purchase up to an additional
375,000 shares within 30 days to cover over-allotments.
 
Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities
commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the
adequacy or accuracy of the disclosures in this prospectus. Any representation
to the contrary is a criminal offense.
 
Lehman Brothers, on behalf of the underwriters, expects to deliver the shares on
or about           , 1999.
 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
LEHMAN BROTHERS
 
                 BT ALEX. BROWN
                                  MERRILL LYNCH & CO.
                                              WIT CAPITAL CORPORATION
                                                       AS E-MANAGER(TM)
 
               , 1999
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     Certain persons participating in this offering may engage in transactions
that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of our common stock,
including stabilizing bids, syndicate covering transactions or the imposition of
penalty bids. For a discussion of these activities, see "Underwriting."
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                               PROSPECTUS SUMMARY
 
     This summary contains basic information about us and this offering. Because



it is a summary, it does not contain all of the information that you should
consider before investing. You should read this entire prospectus carefully,
including the section entitled "Risk Factors" and the consolidated financial
statements and the related notes to those consolidated financial statements
included in and incorporated by reference into this prospectus. Except as
otherwise required by the context, references in this prospectus to "we," "us,"
"our" or the "company" refer to the combined business of Network Appliance, Inc.
and its subsidiaries. The term "you" refers to prospective investors in our
common stock. The term "fiscal" used in conjunction with a year refers to our
fiscal year ended or ending on the last Friday in April of that year. This
prospectus assumes that the underwriters have not exercised the over-allotment
option and gives effect to a two-for-one stock split of our common stock
effective December 21, 1998.
 
                                  OUR COMPANY
 
     Network Appliance pioneered the concept of the "network appliance," an
extension of the industry trend toward specialized devices that perform a
specific function in the network, similar to the development of the router for
network communications. Today we are the leading supplier of network attached
data storage and access devices, called filers. Our first filer product was
specifically designed to improve the storage and accessibility of data stored on
a network. In late 1997 we introduced an Internet caching appliance, our second
product category, designed to achieve Internet bandwidth savings and to improve
performance by moving data closer to end-users. This product is designed to
benefit customers struggling with Web data traffic that is, according to market
analysts, doubling every three months. Our filers are faster, more highly
available and easier to operate than similarly configured and competitively
priced products. This filer performance is accomplished by a specialized and
patented software system optimized to exclusively perform file service tasks,
thus providing performance advantages as compared to general purpose computers
used as file servers.
 
     Initially we marketed our filers primarily in the UNIX(R) environment in
high technology companies seeking to achieve leading edge performance.
Thereafter, we significantly expanded our market by supporting heterogeneous
Windows NT(R), UNIX and Web platforms. More recently we began marketing our
products to users of leading database software applications, such as
applications offered by Oracle Corp. and Sybase, Inc. In fiscal 1999, we
intensified our focus on the Windows NT market and entered into original
equipment manufacturer (OEM) agreements with Dell Computer Corporation and
Fujitsu Limited.
                                        1

   5
 
                                  THE OFFERING
 

                                              
Common stock offered.................    2,500,000 shares
Common stock outstanding after the
  offering(1)........................    71,896,295 shares
Use of proceeds......................    Working capital and general corporate purposes.
                                         See "How We Intend to Use the Proceeds."
Nasdaq National Market Symbol........    NTAP

 
- -------------------------
(1) The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding after this
    offering is based on the number of shares outstanding as of January 29,
    1999, excluding:
 
     - 16,999,469 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of options
       outstanding at a weighted average exercise price of $12.62 per share;
 
     - 6,262,903 shares that are reserved for future issuance under our 1995
       Stock Incentive Plan and our Special Non-Officers Option Plan; and
 
     - 796,574 shares that are reserved for future issuance under our Employee
       Stock Purchase Plan.
 
     Our executive offices are located at 2770 San Tomas Expressway, Santa
Clara, California 95051, and the telephone number at that address is (408)
367-3000.
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                      SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
 
     The following table sets forth summary consolidated financial data as of
and for the periods indicated. The consolidated statement of operations data for
the nine months ended January 23, 1998 and January 29, 1999 and consolidated
balance sheet data as of January 29, 1999 were derived from our unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
prospectus, which, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments,
consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which we consider necessary for
a fair presentation of our financial position and results of operations for
these periods. The results of operations for the nine months ended January 29,
1999 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full
year or future periods. We operate on a 52/53 week fiscal year ending on the
last Friday in April of each year. For presentation purposes in the following
table we have indicated April 30 as our fiscal year end date. The consolidated
statement of operations data for each of the fiscal years in the three-year
period ended April 30, 1998 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of April
30, 1997 and 1998 were derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. The consolidated statement of
operations data for the fiscal years ended April 30, 1994 and 1995 and the
consolidated balance sheet data as of April 30, 1994, 1995 and 1996 were derived
from our audited consolidated financial statements not included elsewhere in
this prospectus. The information in the table should be read in conjunction with
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations" and our Consolidated Financial Statements and Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements, including the notes thereto, included elsewhere in this
prospectus.
 

                                                                                            NINE MONTHS ENDED
                                               FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30,              -------------------------
                                     ------------------------------------------------   JANUARY 23,   JANUARY 29,
                                      1994      1995      1996     1997(1)     1998        1998          1999
                                     -------   -------   -------   -------   --------   -----------   -----------
                                                       (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
                                                                                                                 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
  OPERATIONS DATA
Net Sales..........................  $ 2,244   $14,796   $46,632   $93,333   $166,163    $115,805      $198,616
Income (Loss) From Operations......   (1,955)   (4,913)    6,000     3,083     32,658      22,818        38,138
Net Income (Loss)..................   (1,874)   (4,764)    6,600       250     20,965      14,661        24,867
Net Income (Loss) Per Share,
  Basic(2).........................    (0.12)    (0.28)     0.18      0.00       0.32        0.23          0.37
Net Income (Loss) Per Share,
  Diluted(3).......................    (0.12)    (0.28)     0.10      0.00       0.29        0.21          0.32

 

                                                    AS OF APRIL 30,                     AS OF JANUARY 29, 1999
                                    ------------------------------------------------   -------------------------
                                     1994      1995      1996      1997       1998      ACTUAL    AS ADJUSTED(4)
                                    -------   -------   -------   -------   --------   --------   --------------
                                                                   (IN THOUSANDS)
                                                                                                             
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-
  Term Investments................  $ 2,426   $ 1,791   $27,619   $28,436   $ 48,115   $ 68,036      $196,748
Total Assets......................    4,055    10,628    45,449    68,941    115,736    172,648       301,360
Long-Term Obligations.............    4,855    11,607       318       232        180        116           116
Total Shareholders' Equity
  (Deficit).......................   (1,324)   (5,923)   39,029    54,029     86,265    135,740       264,452

 
- -------------------------
 
(1) Fiscal 1997 includes non-recurring charges of $10,519,000 ($9,215,000, net
    of taxes) for purchased in-process technology and compensation expense
    related to the acquisition of Internet Middleware Corporation and $4,300,000
    (2,795,000, net of taxes) for the settlement of litigation. See Notes 4 and
    9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
(2) The basic net income (loss) per share computation excludes redeemable
    convertible preferred stock, options and warrants to purchase common stock
    and common stock subject to repurchase rights held by us. See Note 2 of
    Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 6 of Notes to Condensed
    Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed explanation of the
    determination of shares used in computing basic net income (loss) per share.



 
(3) The diluted net income (loss) per share computation excludes redeemable
    convertible preferred stock, options and warrants to purchase common stock
    and common stock subject to repurchase rights held by us in periods of net
    loss as their effect would be antidilutive.
 
(4) Reflects, after deducting commissions and estimated offering expenses, the
    net proceeds of the sale of the common stock offered hereby at an assumed
    public offering price of $53.88 per share.
                                        3
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                                  RISK FACTORS
 
     You should carefully consider the risks described below before making an
investment decision. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the
only ones facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to
us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations.
This prospectus also contains "forward-looking" statements that involve risks
and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors,
including the risks faced by us described below and elsewhere in this
prospectus.
 
FACTORS BEYOND OUR CONTROL COULD CAUSE OUR QUARTERLY RESULTS TO FLUCTUATE.
 
     Although we have experienced significant revenue growth in recent periods,
this growth may not be indicative of our future operating results. As a result,
we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations are
not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as indicators of future
performance. Many of the factors that could cause our quarterly operating
results to fluctuate significantly in the future are beyond our control and
include the following:
 
     - the level of competition in our target product markets;
 
     - the size, timing and cancellation of significant orders;
 
     - product configuration and mix;
 
     - market acceptance of new products and product enhancements;
 
     - new product announcements or introductions by us or our competitors;
 
     - deferrals of customer orders in anticipation of new products or product
       enhancements;
 
     - changes in pricing by us or our competitors;
 
     - our ability to timely develop, introduce and market new products and
       enhancements;
 
     - supply constraints;
 
     - technological changes in our target product markets;
 
     - the levels of expenditure on research and development and expansion of
       our sales and marketing programs;
 
     - seasonality; and
 
     - general economic trends.
 
     In addition, sales for any future quarter may vary and accordingly be
inconsistent with our plans. We generally operate with limited order backlog
because our products are typically shipped shortly after orders are received. As
a result, product sales in any quarter are generally dependent on orders booked
and shipped in that quarter. Product sales are also difficult to forecast
because the network file server market is rapidly evolving and our sales cycle
varies substantially from customer to customer.
 
                                        4
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     Due to all of the foregoing factors, it is possible that in one or more
future quarters our results may fall below the expectations of public market
analysts and investors. In such event, the trading price of our common stock
would likely decrease.
 
OUR GROSS MARGINS MAY VARY BASED ON THE CONFIGURATION OF OUR PRODUCTS.
 
     We derive a significant portion of our sales from the resale of disk drives
as components of our filers, and the resale market for hard disk drives is
highly competitive and subject to intense pricing pressures. Our sales of disk
drives generate lower gross margin percentages than those of our filer products.
As a result, as we sell more highly configured systems with greater disk drive
content, overall gross margin percentages will be negatively affected.
Consequently, we believe we will experience a modest decline in gross margins
and pre-tax income as a percentage of net sales in the fourth quarter of fiscal
1999 and in fiscal 2000.
 
     Our gross margins have been and may continue to be affected by a variety of
other factors, including:
 
     - competition;
 
     - direct versus indirect sales;
 
     - the mix and average selling prices of products, including software
       licensing;
 
     - new product introductions and enhancements; and
 
     - the cost of components and manufacturing labor.
 
A SIGNIFICANT PERCENTAGE OF OUR EXPENSES ARE FIXED WHICH COULD AFFECT OUR NET
INCOME.
 
     Our expense levels are based in part on our expectations as to future sales
and a significant percentage of our expenses are fixed. As a result, if sales
levels are below expectations, net income may be disproportionately affected.
 
OUR FUTURE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE DEPENDS ON GROWTH IN THE NETWORK FILE SERVER
MARKET AND ANY LACK OF GROWTH WILL HAVE A MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT ON OUR
OPERATING RESULTS.
 
     All of our filer products address the network file server market.
Accordingly, our future financial performance will depend in large part on
continued growth in the network file server market and on emerging standards in
this market. We cannot assure you that the market for network file servers will
continue to grow or that emerging standards in the network file server market
will not adversely affect the growth of UNIX and Windows NT server markets. If
the network file server market grows more slowly than anticipated or if network
file servers based on emerging standards other than those adopted by us become
increasingly accepted by the market, our operating results could be materially
adversely affected.
 
THE SUCCESS OF OUR NETCACHE(TM) APPLIANCE PRODUCTS DEPENDS UPON MARKET
ACCEPTANCE OF CACHING TECHNOLOGY AND CONTINUED GROWTH IN THE CACHING APPLIANCE
MARKET.
 
     In late 1997, we released our NetCache appliance products, a new category
of hardware-based Internet caching appliances designed to speed the delivery of
information stored on the Web. However, hardware-based caching technology is
still in its infancy.
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Our future financial performance will depend in part on the acceptance of
caching technology and the acceptance of our NetCache appliance products. We
cannot assure you that the caching appliance market will continue to grow at its
current rate, or at all.
 
IF WE ARE UNABLE TO INTRODUCE NEW PRODUCTS, OR IF OUR NEW PRODUCTS DO NOT
ACHIEVE MARKET ACCEPTANCE, OUR OPERATING RESULTS COULD BE MATERIALLY ADVERSELY
AFFECTED.



 
     We derive a substantial portion of our revenue from the sale of our network
filer products. As a result, a reduction in the demand for our filer products
due to increased competition, a general decline in the market for network file
servers or other factors could materially adversely affect our operating
results. As part of our ongoing development process, we initiated production
shipments of four new filers in fiscal 1998 and in the second quarter of fiscal
1999 launched the F700 filer product family. We expect to derive a substantial
portion of our revenue from sales of our F700 filer product family. Additional
product introductions in future periods are expected to impact the sales of
existing products. If we are unable to introduce new products in a timely
manner, effectively manage the introduction of new products and any related
inventory transitions or if such products do not achieve market acceptance, our
operating results could be materially adversely affected.
 
IF WE FAIL TO MANAGE OUR EXPANDING BUSINESS EFFECTIVELY OUR OPERATING RESULTS
COULD BE MATERIALLY ADVERSELY AFFECTED.
 
     We have experienced rapid growth. Our future operating results depend to a
large extent on management's ability to successfully manage expansion and
growth, including but not limited to expanding international operations,
forecasting revenues, addressing new markets, controlling expenses, implementing
infrastructure and systems and managing our assets. In addition, an unexpected
decline in the growth rate of revenues without a corresponding and timely
reduction in expense growth or a failure to manage other aspects of growth could
materially adversely affect our operating results.
 
WE DEPEND ON ATTRACTING AND RETAINING QUALIFIED TECHNICAL AND SALES PERSONNEL.
 
     Our continued success depends, in part, on our ability to identify,
attract, motivate and retain qualified technical and sales personnel. Because
our future success is dependent on our ability to continue to enhance and
introduce new products, we are particularly dependent on our ability to
identify, attract, motivate and retain qualified engineers with the requisite
education, backgrounds and industry experience. Competition for qualified
engineers, particularly in Silicon Valley, is intense. The loss of the services
of a significant number of our engineers or sales people could be disruptive to
our development efforts or business relationships and could materially adversely
affect our operating results.
 
RISKS INHERENT IN OUR INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS COULD HAVE A MATERIAL ADVERSE
EFFECT ON OUR OPERATING RESULTS.
 
     We conduct business internationally. For the nine months ended January 29,
1999 approximately 31% of our net sales were to international customers
(including United States exports). Accordingly, our future operating results
could be materially adversely
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affected by a variety of factors, some of which are beyond our control,
including regulatory, political or economic conditions in a specific country or
region, trade protection measures and other regulatory requirements and
government spending patterns.
 
     Our international sales are denominated in U.S. dollars and in foreign
currencies. An increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to foreign
currencies could make our products more expensive and, therefore, potentially
less competitive in foreign markets. For international sales and expenditures
denominated in foreign currencies, we are subject to risks associated with
currency fluctuations. We do not currently engage in hedging transactions, but
may do so in the future.
 
     Additional risks inherent in our international business activities
generally include, among others, longer accounts receivable payment cycles,
difficulties in managing international operations and potentially adverse tax
consequences. Such factors could materially adversely affect our future
international sales and, consequently, our operating results.
 
     Although operating results have not been materially adversely affected by
seasonality in the past, because of the significant seasonal effects experienced
within the industry, particularly in Europe, our future operating results could
be adversely affected by seasonality.



 
     We believe that continued growth and profitability will require successful
expansion of our international operations and sales and therefore we have
committed significant resources to such expansion. In order to successfully
expand international sales in fiscal 1999 and subsequent periods, we must
strengthen foreign operations, hire additional personnel and recruit additional
international distributors and resellers. This will require significant
management attention and financial resources and could materially adversely
affect our operating results. To the extent that we are unable to effect these
additions in a timely manner, our growth, if any, in international sales will be
limited, and our operating results could be materially adversely affected. In
addition, we cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain or increase
international market demand for our products.
 
AN INCREASE IN COMPETITION COULD MATERIALLY ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR OPERATING
RESULTS.
 
     The network file server market is intensely competitive and characterized
by rapidly changing technology. We compete with specialized network file server
companies such as Auspex Systems, Inc. We also compete against traditional
suppliers of UNIX-based general purpose computers that are used as network file
servers including Sun Microsystems, Inc., Hewlett-Packard Company, Silicon
Graphics, Inc. and IBM Corporation, among others. Many of our current and
potential competitors have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing
and other resources than we do. In addition, certain of these large traditional
suppliers of general purpose computers may in the future offer specialized file
server products which are more directly competitive with our products. We also
encounter competition from manufacturers of PC-based file servers utilizing
Windows NT and emerging standards, as well as competition from manufacturers of
open systems storage solutions such as EMC Corporation and Data General Corp.
Our NetCache appliances compete against a number of software and hardware
solutions, from companies ranging from small start-ups to larger systems
vendors, including Cisco Systems Inc., Inktomi Corp., Cacheflow Inc. and Novell,
Inc.
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     Increased competition could result in price reductions, reduced gross
margins and loss of market share, any of which could materially adversely affect
our operating results. As a result, they may be able to respond more quickly
than we can to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer
requirements, or devote greater resources to the development, promotion, sale
and support of their products. In addition, current and potential competitors
have established or may establish cooperative relationships among themselves or
with third parties. Accordingly, it is possible that new competitors or
alliances among competitors may emerge and rapidly acquire significant market
share. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against
current or future competitors. Competitive pressures we face could materially
adversely affect our operating results.
 
     We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting our market
include product features such as response time, scalability, ease of use, price,
multiprotocol capabilities and customer service and support. Although we believe
that our products currently compete favorably with respect to these factors, we
cannot assure you that we can maintain our competitive position against current
and potential competitors, especially those with significantly greater
financial, marketing, service, support, technical and other resources.
 
WE RELY UPON A LIMITED NUMBER OF SUPPLIERS AND ANY DISRUPTION OR TERMINATION OF
THESE SUPPLY ARRANGEMENTS COULD DELAY SHIPMENT OF OUR PRODUCTS AND COULD
MATERIALLY ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR OPERATING RESULTS.
 
     We rely upon a limited number of suppliers of several key components
utilized in the assembly of our products. We purchase most of our disk drives
through a single supplier. We purchase computer boards and microprocessors from
a limited number of suppliers. Our reliance on a limited number of suppliers
involves several risks, including:
 
     - a potential inability to obtain an adequate supply of required components
       because we do not have long-term supply commitments;
 
     - price increases;
 



     - timely delivery; and
 
     - component quality.
 
     In the future, we intend to increasingly rely on contract manufacturers to
assemble our products. If our contract manufacturers' operations were
interrupted for any reason, our ability to meet scheduled product deliveries to
customers would be adversely affected.
 
     Component quality is particularly significant with respect to our supplier
of disk drives. In order to meet product performance requirements, we must
obtain disk drives of extremely high quality and capacity. In addition, there
are periodic supply and demand issues for disk drives, microprocessors and for
semiconductor memory components, which could result in component shortages,
selective supply allocations and increased prices of such components. We cannot
assure you that we will be able to obtain our full requirements of such
components in the future or that prices of such components will not increase. In
addition, problems with respect to yield and quality of such components and
timeliness of deliveries could occur. Disruption or termination of the supply of
these components could delay shipments of our products and could materially
adversely affect our operating results. Such delays could also damage
relationships with current and prospective customers.
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WE CANNOT ASSURE YOU THAT OUR OEM RELATIONSHIPS WITH DELL COMPUTER CORPORATION
AND FUJITSU LIMITED WILL GENERATE SIGNIFICANT REVENUE.
 
     While our agreements with Dell Computer Corporation and Fujitsu Limited are
an element of our strategy to increase penetration in the Windows NT market,
neither Dell Computer Corporation nor Fujitsu Limited have made purchase
commitments for our products. In addition, since these agreements are new, we do
not have a history upon which to base an analysis of their future success.
Currently we do not, and cannot assure you that we will, generate significant
revenue from these agreements.
 
WE DO NOT HAVE EXCLUSIVE RELATIONSHIPS WITH OUR DISTRIBUTORS AND ACCORDINGLY
THERE IS A RISK THAT THOSE DISTRIBUTORS MAY GIVE HIGHER PRIORITY TO PRODUCTS OF
OTHER SUPPLIERS WHICH COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR OPERATING RESULTS.
 
     Our distribution customers generally offer products of several different
companies, including products of our competitors. Accordingly, there is risk
that these distributors may give higher priority to products of other suppliers,
which could adversely affect our operating results.
 
WE DEPEND UPON OUR RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EFFORTS TO DEVELOP AND INTRODUCE NEW
PRODUCTS AND ANY FAILURE TO DEVELOP AND INTRODUCE NEW PRODUCTS SUCCESSFULLY
COULD MATERIALLY ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR OPERATING RESULTS.
 
     Our future growth depends upon the successful development and introduction
of new hardware and software products. We cannot assure you that these or other
new products will be introduced on a timely basis or attain market acceptance.
Due to the complexity of network file servers and Internet caching devices, and
the difficulty in gauging the engineering effort required to produce new
products, new products are subject to significant technical risks. We cannot
assure you that new products will be introduced on a timely basis or at all. In
the past, we have experienced delays in the shipments of our new products
principally due to an inability to qualify component parts from disk drive and
other suppliers, resulting in delay or loss of product sales. If new products
are delayed or do not achieve market acceptance, our operating results will be
materially adversely affected.
 
WE FACE RISKS OF TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES THAT AFFECT OUR PRODUCTS.
 
     The markets we serve are characterized by rapid technological change,
changing customer needs, frequent new product introductions and evolving
industry standards. The introduction of products embodying new technologies and
the emergence of new industry standards could render our existing products
obsolete and unmarketable. Our future success will depend upon our ability to
develop and introduce new products (including new software releases and
enhancements) on a timely basis that keep pace with technological developments
and emerging industry standards and address the increasingly sophisticated needs
of our customers. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in developing



and marketing new products that respond to technological changes or evolving
industry standards. If we are unable, for technological or other reasons, to
develop and introduce new products in a timely manner in response to changing
market conditions or customer requirements, our operating results will be
materially adversely affected.
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UNDETECTED SOFTWARE ERRORS OR FAILURES FOUND IN NEW PRODUCTS MAY RESULT IN LOSS
OF OR DELAY IN MARKET ACCEPTANCE OF OUR PRODUCTS WHICH COULD MATERIALLY
ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR OPERATING RESULTS.
 
     Our products may contain undetected software errors or failures when first
introduced or as new versions are released. Despite testing by us and by current
and potential customers, errors may not be found in new products after
commencement of commercial shipments, resulting in loss of or delay in market
acceptance, which could materially adversely affect our operating results.
 
IF WE ARE UNABLE TO PROTECT OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY WE MAY BE SUBJECT TO
INCREASED COMPETITION WHICH COULD MATERIALLY ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR OPERATING
RESULTS.
 
     Our success depends significantly upon our proprietary technology. We
currently rely on a combination of copyright and trademark laws, trade secrets,
confidentiality procedures, contractual provisions and patents to protect our
proprietary rights. We seek to protect our software, documentation and other
written materials under trade secret, copyright and patent laws, which afford
only limited protection. We have registered trademarks including our "Network
Appliance" name and logo and "NetApp" trademarks. We will continue to evaluate
the registration of additional trademarks as appropriate. We generally enter
into confidentiality agreements with our employees and with our resellers and
customers. We currently have multiple U.S. and international patent applications
pending and one U.S. patent issued. The pending applications may not be approved
and if patents are issued, such patents may be challenged. If such challenges
are brought, the patents may be invalidated. We cannot assure you that we will
develop proprietary products or technologies that are patentable, that any
issued patent will provide us with any competitive advantages or will not be
challenged by third parties, or that the patents of others will not materially
adversely affect our ability to do business.
 
     Litigation may be necessary to protect our proprietary technology. Any such
litigation may be time-consuming and costly. Despite our efforts to protect our
proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our
products or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. In
addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights
to as great an extent as do the laws of the United States. We cannot assure you
that our means of protecting our proprietary rights will be adequate or that our
competitors will not independently develop similar technology, duplicate our
products or design around patents issued to us or other intellectual property
rights of ours.
 
     We are subject to intellectual property infringement claims. We may, from
time to time receive claims that we are infringing third parties' intellectual
property rights. In the first quarter of fiscal 1997, we settled litigation
related to the alleged infringement of third party rights and other claims,
which resulted in a pre-tax expense of $4.3 million ($3.5 million in payments to
the plaintiffs and $0.8 million in legal fees). Third parties may in the future
claim infringement by us with respect to current or future products, trademarks
or other proprietary rights. We expect that companies in the appliance market
will increasingly be subject to infringement claims as the number of products
and competitors in our industry segment grows and the functionality of products
in different industry segments overlaps. Any such claims could be
time-consuming, result in costly litigation, cause product shipment delays,
require us to redesign our products or require us to enter into royalty or
licensing agreements, any of which could materially adversely affect
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our operating results. Such royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may
not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all.
 



THE MARKET PRICE FOR OUR COMMON STOCK HAS FLUCTUATED SIGNIFICANTLY IN THE PAST
AND WILL LIKELY CONTINUE TO DO SO IN THE FUTURE AND ANY BROAD MARKET
FLUCTUATIONS MAY MATERIALLY ADVERSELY AFFECT THE MARKET PRICE OF OUR COMMON
STOCK.
 
     The market price for our common stock has been volatile in the past, and
several factors could cause the price to fluctuate substantially in the future.
These factors include:
 
     - fluctuations in our operating results;
 
     - fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be
       comparable to us;
 
     - a shortfall in revenues or earnings compared to securities analysts'
       expectations;
 
     - changes in analysts' recommendations or projections;
 
     - announcements of new products, applications or product enhancements by us
       or our competitors; and
 
     - changes in our relationships with our suppliers or customers.
 
     In addition, the stock market has experienced volatility that has
particularly affected the market prices of equity securities of many high
technology companies and that often has been unrelated to the operating results
of such companies. As a result, the market price of our common stock may
fluctuate significantly in the future and any broad market fluctuations may
adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Due to all of the
foregoing, the current market price of our common stock may not be indicative of
future market prices.
 
PROTECTIVE ANTI-TAKEOVER PROVISIONS IN OUR CHARTER AND BYLAWS COULD MATERIALLY
ADVERSELY AFFECT STOCKHOLDERS.
 
     Our Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of
preferred stock and to determine the price, rights, preferences, privileges and
restrictions, including voting rights, of those shares without any further vote
or action by the shareholders. The rights of the holders of common stock will be
subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any
preferred stock that may be issued in the future. The issuance of preferred
stock could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to
acquire a majority of our outstanding voting stock. Further, certain provisions
of our bylaws pertaining to the future elimination of cumulative voting and
shareholder action by written consent, and the requirement that shareholders may
call a special meeting of shareholders only upon a request of shareholders
owning at least 50% of our common stock, could delay or make more difficult a
proxy contest involving us, which could adversely affect the market price of our
common stock.
 
YEAR 2000 ISSUES COULD HARM OUR OPERATIONS.
 
     The Year 2000 issue refers to computer programs which use two digits rather
than four to define a given year and which therefore might read a date using
"00" as the year
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1900 rather than the year 2000. As a result, many companies' systems and
software may need to be upgraded or replaced in order to function correctly
after December 31, 1999.
 
     We are currently conducting a general software upgrade and replacement
program to enhance our computer systems and applications, in particular those
systems and applications related to our manufacturing, distribution and
financial operations. As part of this larger program we are addressing the
critical areas of our internal computer systems, products and relationships with
external organizations for Year 2000 compliance. We are addressing Year 2000
compliance for both our information technology ("IT") and non-IT systems, which
typically include embedded technology such as microcontrollers.
 
     While we believe that the estimated cost of becoming Year 2000 compliant



will not be significant to our operating results, failure to complete all the
work in a timely manner could materially adversely affect our operating results.
While we expect all planned work to be completed, we can not guarantee that all
systems will be in compliance by the Year 2000, the systems of suppliers and
other companies and government agencies on which we rely will be converted in a
timely manner, or that our contingency planning will be able to fully address
all potential interruptions. Therefore, Year 2000 issues could cause delays in
our ability to produce or ship our products, process transactions or otherwise
conduct business in any of our markets. Year 2000 issues could lower demand for
our products while increasing our costs. The occurrence of one or more of these
factors could materially adversely affect our operating results. For more
information, see "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations -- Year 2000."
 
                       HOW WE INTEND TO USE THE PROCEEDS
 
     Our net proceeds from the sale of 2,500,000 shares of common stock we are
offering at an assumed offering price of $53.88 per share are estimated to be
approximately $128.7 million, after deducting the underwriting discount and
commission and estimated offering expenses payable by us. We intend to use the
net proceeds from this offering for working capital and other general corporate
purposes. In addition, we may use a portion of the net proceeds to acquire
complementary assets, technologies and businesses. We currently have no
commitments or agreements and are not involved in any negotiations with respect
to any such transactions. See "Underwriting." Pending such uses, the net
proceeds of this offering will be invested in short-term, investment grade,
interest-bearing securities.
 
                                DIVIDEND POLICY
 
     We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently
anticipate retaining all available funds, if any, to finance internal growth and
product development. Payment of dividends in the future will depend upon our
earnings and financial condition and such other factors as the directors may
consider or deem appropriate at the time.
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                          PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK
 
     Our common stock commenced trading on the Nasdaq National Market on
November 21, 1995 and is traded under the symbol "NTAP." On March 22, 1999, the
last reported sale price for the common stock as reported by the Nasdaq National
Market was $53.88 per share. As of March 22, 1999, there were 313 shareholders
of record of our common stock. The following table sets forth for the periods
indicated the high and low closing sales prices for our common stock as reported
on the Nasdaq National Market. All information gives effect to two-for-one stock
splits effective December 1997 and 1998.
 

                                                         SALES PRICE
                                                       ----------------
                                                        HIGH      LOW
                                                       ------    ------
                                                                       
FISCAL YEAR 1997
Quarter ended July 26, 1996..........................  $ 9.69    $ 6.06
Quarter ended October 25, 1996.......................    8.80      5.44
Quarter ended January 24, 1997.......................   14.00      7.88
Quarter ended April 30, 1997.........................   13.75      6.56
FISCAL YEAR 1998
Quarter ended July 25, 1997..........................  $10.25    $ 7.00
Quarter ended October 24, 1997.......................   14.16      9.94
Quarter ended January 23, 1998.......................   17.75     12.06
Quarter ended April 30, 1998.........................   18.13     13.66
FISCAL YEAR 1999
Quarter ended July 31, 1998..........................  $25.13    $16.56
Quarter ended October 30, 1998.......................   30.22     17.38
Quarter ended January 29, 1999.......................   55.50     27.38
Quarter ended April 30, 1999 (through March 22,
  1999)..............................................   54.13     39.63
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                                 CAPITALIZATION
 
     The following table sets forth our capitalization as of January 29, 1999 on
an actual basis, and as adjusted to reflect the sale of 2,500,000 shares of
common stock offered by us at an assumed offering price of $53.88 per share and
the application of the estimated net proceeds therefrom. This table should be
read in conjunction with Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations and our Consolidated Financial Statements
and Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, including the notes thereto,
included elsewhere in this prospectus. All information gives effect to a
two-for-one stock split effective December 21, 1998.
 

                                                          AS OF JANUARY 29, 1999
                                                         -------------------------
                                                                           AS
                                                          ACTUAL        ADJUSTED
                                                         --------      -----------
                                                           (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT
                                                                SHARE DATA)
                                                                             
Long-term obligations..................................  $    116       $    116
                                                         --------       --------
Shareholders' equity:
  Preferred stock, no par value; 5,000,000 shares
     authorized; no shares issued and outstanding,
     actual and as adjusted............................        --             --
  Common stock, no par value; 220,000,000 shares
     authorized; 69,396,295 shares issued and
     outstanding, actual; 71,896,295 shares issued and
     outstanding, as adjusted(1).......................    91,596        220,308
Deferred stock compensation............................      (941)          (941)
Cumulative translation adjustment......................      (123)          (123)
Retained earnings......................................    45,208         45,208
                                                         --------       --------
     Total shareholders' equity........................   135,740        264,452
                                                         --------       --------
          Total capitalization.........................  $135,856       $264,568
                                                         ========       ========

 
- -------------------------
(1) As of January 29, 1999 excludes:
 
     - 16,999,469 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding
       options at a weighted average exercise price of $12.62 per share;
 
     - 6,262,903 shares that are reserved for future issuance under our 1995
       Stock Incentive Plan and our Special Non-Officers Stock Option Plan; and
 
     - 796,574 shares that are reserved for issuance under our Employee Stock
       Purchase Plan.
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                      SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
 
     The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data as of
and for the periods indicated. The consolidated statement of operations data for
the nine months ended January 23, 1998 and January 29, 1999 and consolidated
balance sheet data as of January 29, 1999 were derived from our unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
prospectus, which, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments,
consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which we consider necessary for
a fair presentation of our financial position and results of operations for
these periods. The results of operations for the nine months ended January 29,
1999 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full



year or future periods. We operate on a 52/53 week fiscal year ending on the
last Friday in April of each year. For presentation purposes in the following
table we have indicated April 30 as our fiscal year end date. The consolidated
statement of operations data for each of the fiscal years in the three-year
period ended April 30, 1998 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of April
30, 1997 and 1998 were derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. The consolidated statement of
operations data for the fiscal years ended April 30, 1994 and 1995 and the
consolidated balance sheet data as of April 30, 1994, 1995 and 1996 were derived
from our audited consolidated financial statements not included elsewhere in
this prospectus. The information in the table should be read in conjunction with
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations" and our Consolidated Financial Statements and Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements, including the notes thereto, included elsewhere in this
prospectus.
 

                                                                                                NINE MONTHS ENDED
                                                   FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30,              -------------------------
                                         ------------------------------------------------   JANUARY 23,   JANUARY 29,
                                          1994      1995      1996     1997(1)     1998        1998          1999
                                         -------   -------   -------   -------   --------   -----------   -----------
                                                           (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
                                                                                                                     
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
  DATA
Net Sales..............................  $ 2,244   $14,796   $46,632   $93,333   $166,163    $115,805      $198,616
Cost of Sales..........................    1,083     7,957    20,557    38,061     67,549      47,196        80,938
                                         -------   -------   -------   -------   --------    --------      --------
  Gross Margin.........................    1,161     6,839    26,075    55,272     98,614      68,609       117,678
                                         -------   -------   -------   -------   --------    --------      --------
Operating Expenses:
  Sales and Marketing..................    1,513     6,284    12,735    24,268     42,779      29,352        51,830
  Research and Development.............      780     2,608     4,762     8,968     16,649      11,738        20,618
  General and Administrative...........      823     2,860     2,578     4,134      6,528       4,701         7,092
  Purchased In-Process Technology and
    Related Compensation Charge........       --        --        --    10,519         --          --            --
  Litigation Settlement................       --        --        --     4,300         --          --            --
                                         -------   -------   -------   -------   --------    --------      --------
         Total Operating Expenses......    3,116    11,752    20,075    52,189     65,956      45,791        79,540
                                         -------   -------   -------   -------   --------    --------      --------
Income (Loss) From Operations..........   (1,955)   (4,913)    6,000     3,083     32,658      22,818        38,138
Other Income, net......................       81       149       600       960        889         640         1,658
                                         -------   -------   -------   -------   --------    --------      --------
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes......   (1,874)   (4,764)    6,600     4,043     33,547      23,458        39,796
Provision for Income Taxes.............       --        --        --     3,793     12,582       8,797        14,929
                                         -------   -------   -------   -------   --------    --------      --------
Net Income (Loss)......................  $(1,874)  $(4,764)  $ 6,600   $   250   $ 20,965    $ 14,661      $ 24,867
                                         =======   =======   =======   =======   ========    ========      ========
Net Income (Loss) Per Share:
  Basic(2).............................  $ (0.12)  $ (0.28)  $  0.18   $  0.00   $   0.32    $   0.23      $   0.37
                                         =======   =======   =======   =======   ========    ========      ========
  Diluted(3)...........................  $ (0.12)  $ (0.28)  $  0.10   $  0.00   $   0.29    $   0.21      $   0.32
                                         =======   =======   =======   =======   ========    ========      ========
Shares Used in Per Share Calculation:
  Basic(2).............................   16,258    17,140    35,994    60,978     64,914      64,562        67,803
                                         =======   =======   =======   =======   ========    ========      ========
  Diluted(3)...........................   16,258    17,140    62,936    68,804     71,902      71,448        76,679
                                         =======   =======   =======   =======   ========    ========      ========
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                                                                   AS OF APRIL 30,                       AS OF
                                                   ------------------------------------------------   JANUARY 29,
                                                    1994      1995      1996      1997       1998        1999
                                                   -------   -------   -------   -------   --------   -----------
                                                                           (IN THOUSANDS)
                                                                                                                
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term
  Investments....................................  $ 2,426   $ 1,791   $27,619   $28,436   $ 48,115    $ 68,036
Total Assets.....................................    4,055    10,628    45,449    68,941    115,736     172,648
Long-Term Obligations............................    4,855    11,607       318       232        180         116
Total Shareholders' Equity (Deficit).............   (1,324)   (5,923)   39,029    54,029     86,265     135,740

 
- -------------------------
(1) Fiscal 1997 includes non-recurring charges of $10,519,000 ($9,215,000, net
    of taxes) for purchased in-process technology and compensation expense
    related to the acquisition of Internet Middleware Corporation and $4,300,000
    (2,795,000, net of taxes) for the settlement of litigation. See Notes 4 and
    9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(2) The basic net income (loss) per share computation excludes redeemable



    convertible preferred stock, options and warrants to purchase common stock
    and common stock subject to repurchase rights held by us. See Note 2 of
    Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 6 of Notes to Condensed
    Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed explanation of the
    determination of shares used in computing basic net income (loss) per share.
(3) The diluted net income (loss) per share computation excludes redeemable
    convertible preferred stock, options and warrants to purchase common stock
    and common stock subject to repurchase rights held by us in periods of net
    loss as their effect would be antidilutive.
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                    MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
                 FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
OVERVIEW
 
     The following discussion of our financial condition and results of
operations should be read together with the financial statements and the related
notes included in another part of this prospectus and which are incorporated
into this prospectus. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from
those anticipated in those forward-looking statements as a result of certain
factors, including those set forth in "Risk Factors," and elsewhere in this
prospectus.
 
     Network Appliance pioneered the concept of the "network appliance," an
extension of the industry trend toward specialized devices that perform a
specific function in the network, similar to the adoption of the router for
network communications. Today we are the leading supplier of network attached
data storage and access devices.
 
     We derive a substantial portion of our revenue from the sale of our network
filer products. As a result, a reduction in the demand for filer products due to
increased competition, a general decline in the market for network file servers
or other factors could materially adversely affect our operating results. In
fiscal 1998, we initiated product shipments of NetCache appliances and in the
second quarter of fiscal 1999 began shipments of the second generation of our
NetCache proxy server. We expect that NetCache product sales will become a
larger percentage of net sales.
 
     Our gross margins may vary based on the configuration of systems that are
sold. Our sales of disk drives generate lower gross margin percentages than
those of our filer products. As a result, as we sell more highly configured
systems with greater disk drive content, overall gross margin percentages will
be negatively affected. Consequently, we believe we will experience a modest
decline in gross margins and pre-tax income as a percentage of net sales in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 1999 and fiscal 2000.
 
     Our gross margins have been and may continue to be affected by a variety of
other factors, including:
 
     - competition;
 
     - direct versus indirect sales;
 
     - the mix and average selling prices of products, including software
       licensing;
 
     - new product introductions and enhancements; and
 
     - the cost of components and manufacturing labor.
 
     Operating results have not been materially adversely affected by
seasonality in the past. However, because of the significant summer seasonal
effects experienced within the industry, particularly in Europe, our future
operating results could be adversely affected by seasonality.
 
     For the nine months ended January 29, 1999, approximately 31% of our net
sales were derived from international customers (including United States
exports). Accordingly our future operating results could be materially adversely
affected by a variety of factors, some of which are beyond our control. For more
information on risks associated with our
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international operations, see "Risk Factors -- Risks inherent in our
international operations could have a material adverse effect on our operating
results."
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
     The following table sets forth certain consolidated statement of income
data as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated:
 

                                                                 NINE MONTHS ENDED
                                  YEAR ENDED APRIL 30,       --------------------------
                               --------------------------    JANUARY 23,    JANUARY 29,
                                1996      1997      1998        1998           1999
                               ------    ------    ------    -----------    -----------
                                                                                     
Net Sales....................   100.0%    100.0%    100.0%      100.0%         100.0%
Cost of Sales................    44.1      40.8      40.7        40.8           40.8
                               ------    ------    ------      ------         ------
  Gross Margin...............    55.9      59.2      59.3        59.2           59.2
                               ------    ------    ------      ------         ------
Operating Expenses:
  Sales and Marketing........    27.3      26.0      25.7        25.3           26.1
  Research and Development...    10.2       9.6      10.0        10.1           10.4
  General and
     Administrative..........     5.5       4.4       3.9         4.1            3.5
  Purchased In-Process
     Technology and Related
     Compensation Charge.....      --      11.3        --          --             --
  Litigation Settlement......      --       4.6        --          --             --
                               ------    ------    ------      ------         ------
     Total Operating
       Expenses..............    43.0      55.9      39.6        39.5           40.0
                               ------    ------    ------      ------         ------
Income From Operations.......    12.9       3.3      19.7        19.7           19.2
Other Income, Net............     1.3       1.0       0.5         0.6            0.8
                               ------    ------    ------      ------         ------
Income Before Income Taxes...    14.2       4.3      20.2        20.3           20.0
Provision for Income Taxes...      --       4.0       7.6         7.6            7.5
                               ------    ------    ------      ------         ------
Net Income...................    14.2%      0.3%     12.6%       12.7%          12.5%
                               ======    ======    ======      ======         ======

 
NINE MONTHS ENDED JANUARY 29, 1999 COMPARED TO JANUARY 23, 1998
 
     Net sales increased by 71.5%, from $115.8 million for the nine months ended
January 23, 1998 to $198.6 million for the nine months ended January 29, 1999.
This increase was primarily attributable to a higher volume of units shipped, as
compared to the corresponding period of the prior fiscal year. Factors impacting
unit growth include:
 
     - expansion of our direct sales force;
 
     - increased unit shipments principally due to the successful launching of
       our F700 filer product family during the second quarter of fiscal 1999;
 
     - increased worldwide shipment of NetApp cluster failover and NetCache
       solutions and growth in sales of the NetApp F630; and
 
     - increased multi-protocol software licensing, software subscription and
       service revenues due to a growing installed base, and increased sales of
       multi-protocol systems.
 
     Net sales growth was also positively impacted by a higher average selling
price of the newly introduced F700 filer product family due primarily to the
increase in storage content, and an increase in the average selling price of the
NetApp F630 primarily facilitated by the incorporation of fibre-channel disk
drives which increase system capacity. Factors
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which partially offset overall net sales growth include declining unit sales of
our older product family and decreases in base prices of our older product line
due to competitive forces.
 
     International net sales (including United States exports) grew by 119.3%
for the nine months ended January 29, 1999 as compared to comparable period for
the prior fiscal year. International net sales were $60.9 million, or 30.7%, of
total net sales for the nine months ended January 29, 1999. The increase in
international sales for the nine months ended January 29, 1999 was primarily a
result of European sales growth due to increased headcount in the direct sales
force, indirect channel sales through resellers, shipments of filers and sales
of our new NetApp Cluster Failover solutions and NetCache appliances. Asia
Pacific net sales growth for the nine months ended January 29, 1999 was also
driven by increased headcount in the direct sales force, increased shipments of
filers and the sale of NetCache appliances, as compared to the corresponding
period of the prior fiscal year.
 
     We cannot assure you that our net sales will continue to increase in
absolute dollars or at the rate at which they have grown in recent fiscal
periods.
 
     Gross Margin -- Gross margin remained constant at 59.2% for the nine months
ended January 29, 1999 as compared to the corresponding period for the prior
fiscal year. The consistency in gross margin for the nine months ended January
29, 1999, as compared to the corresponding period for the prior fiscal year, was
primarily attributable to the increase in product volume, lower costs of key
components, increased manufacturing efficiencies, increased market acceptance of
our product line with the continuance of the cost-reduced designs introduced in
the second quarter of fiscal 1999, the introduction of the F700 filer product
family and NetApp Cluster Failover system during the second quarter of fiscal
1999 and the revenue growth from sales of NetCache appliances. Gross margin was
also favorably impacted by the licensing of multi-protocol software and support
contracts, and by growth in software subscription and service revenues due to a
larger installed base. Primary factors negatively impacting gross margin were
the increase in the sales volume of the F700 product family, which has higher
incremental costs associated with greater disk drive and memory content, and the
effect of base system price reductions across the full range of older generation
filers.
 
     Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by a variety of
factors, including:
 
     - competition;
 
     - product configuration;
 
     - direct versus indirect sales;
 
     - the mix and average selling prices of products, including software
       licensing;
 
     - new product introductions and enhancements; and
 
     - the cost of components and manufacturing labor.
 
     Our gross margin may also vary based upon the configuration of systems that
are sold and whether they are sold directly or through indirect channels. Highly
configured systems have historically generated lower overall gross margin
percentages due to greater disk drive and memory content.
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     Sales and Marketing -- Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of
salaries, commissions, advertising and certain promotional expenses and customer
service and support costs. For the nine months ended January 29, 1999, sales and
marketing expenses of $51.8 million reflect an increase of 76.6% over the
comparable period of fiscal 1998. These expenses were 25.3% and 26.1% of net
sales for the nine months ended January 23, 1998 and January 29, 1999,
respectively. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily related to the
continued expansion of our sales and marketing organization, including growth in
the domestic and international direct sales forces and increased commission



expenses. We expect to continue to increase our sales and marketing expenses in
an effort to expand domestic and international markets, introduce new products,
establish and expand new distribution channels and increase product and company
awareness. We believe that our continued growth and profitability is dependent
in part on the successful expansion of our international operations, and
therefore, have committed significant resources intended to increase
international sales.
 
     Research and Development -- Research and development expenses consist
primarily of salaries and benefits, prototype expenses and fees paid to outside
consultants. Research and development expenses increased 75.7% from $11.7
million for the nine months ended January 23, 1998 to $20.6 million for the nine
months ended January 29, 1999. These expenses represented 10.1% and 10.4% of net
sales, respectively, for those periods. Research and development expenses
increased in absolute dollars, primarily as a result of increased headcount,
ongoing support of current and future product development and enhancement
efforts and prototyping expenses associated with the development of new
products, including the NetApp F700 series filers and the C700 family, the
second generation of our NetCache appliances. We believe that our future
performance will depend in large part on our ability to maintain and enhance our
current product line, develop new products that achieve market acceptance,
maintain technological competitiveness and meet an expanding range of customer
requirements. We intend to continuously expand our existing product offerings
and to introduce new products. Consequently, we expect that such expenditures
will continue to increase in absolute dollars. For the nine months ended January
29, 1999 and January 23, 1998, no software development costs were capitalized.
 
     General and Administrative -- General and administrative expenses increased
50.9% from $4.7 million for the nine months ended January 23, 1998 to $7.1
million for the nine months ended January 29, 1999. These expenses represented
4.1% and 3.5% of net sales, respectively, for those periods. Increases in
absolute dollars were primarily due to increased headcount, and increases to the
allowance for doubtful accounts and outside service fees. We believe that our
general and administrative expenses will increase in absolute dollars as we
continue to build our infrastructure.
 
     Other Income, Net -- Other income, net, was $0.6 million and $1.7 million
for the nine months ended January 23, 1998 and January 29, 1999, respectively.
The increase was due primarily to foreign currency exchange gains recorded in
the second quarter of fiscal 1999.
 
     Provision for Income Taxes -- Our effective tax rate was 37.5% for the nine
months ended January 23, 1998 and January 29, 1999.
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FISCAL 1998 COMPARED TO FISCAL 1997
 
     Net Sales -- Net sales increased from $93.3 million in fiscal 1997 to
$166.2 million in fiscal 1998, an increase of 78.0%. The increase in net sales
was principally attributable to a higher volume of filers shipped. The increase
in unit shipments resulted primarily from expansion of our direct sales force
and the introduction of new products during June and July 1997, particularly the
enterprise-class NetApp F630, the NetApp F520 and the NetApp F230. Net sales for
fiscal 1998 were also positively impacted by a shift in product mix toward
higher-end systems, primarily due to the introduction of new products, leading
to higher average selling prices for filers than in the previous fiscal year.
Net sales also grew as a result of increased multi-protocol system shipments,
the licensing of multi-protocol software to pre-existing customers and increased
service and software subscription revenues due to a growing installed base.
 
     International net sales (including United States exports) were $16.1
million and $37.8 million, for fiscal 1997 and 1998, respectively. The increase
in international net sales was primarily a result of European sales growth due
to increased headcount in the direct sales force over the prior fiscal year and
to the introduction of the new products in June and July 1997.
 
     Gross Margin -- Gross margin remained relatively flat increasing slightly
from 59.2% of net sales for fiscal 1997 to 59.3% of net sales for fiscal 1997.
This increase in gross margin was primarily attributable to the increase in
product volume, lower costs of key components, increased manufacturing
efficiencies and the sale of our new product with cost-reduced designs first
introduced in June and July 1997. Gross margin was also favorably impacted by



the licensing of multi-protocol software and by growth in software subscription
and service revenues due to a growing installed base. Factors contributing to
gross margin growth were partially offset by the sale of 4 gigabyte drives at
reduced prices in fiscal 1998.
 
     Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by a variety of
factors, including competition, product configuration, direct versus indirect
sales, the mix and average selling prices of products, new product introductions
and enhancements and the cost of components and manufacturing labor. In
particular, our gross margin varies based upon the configuration of systems that
are sold and whether they are sold directly or through indirect channels. Highly
configured systems typically generate lower overall gross margin percentages due
to greater disk drive and memory content.
 
     Sales and Marketing -- Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of
salaries, commissions, advertising and promotional expenses and customer service
and support costs. Sales and marketing expenses increased 76.3% from $24.3
million in fiscal 1997 to $42.8 million in fiscal 1998. These expenses were
26.0% and 25.7% of net revenues for fiscal 1997 and 1998, respectively. The
increase in absolute dollars was primarily related to expansion of our sales and
marketing organization, including growth in the domestic and international
direct sales forces and increased commission expenses. During the quarter ended
January 23, 1998, we launched an advertising campaign which contributed to
absolute dollar growth in sales and marketing expenses for fiscal 1998. We
expect to continue to increase our sales and marketing expenses in an effort to
expand domestic and international markets, introduce new products, establish and
expand new distribution channels and increase product and company awareness. We
believe that our continued growth and profitability is dependent in part on the
successful expansion of our
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international operations, and therefore, we have committed significant resources
to international sales.
 
     Research and Development -- Research and development expenses consist
primarily of salaries and benefits and prototype expenses. Research and
development expenses increased 85.6% from $9.0 million in fiscal 1997 to $16.6
million in 1998. These expenses represented 9.6% and 10.0% of net sales in
fiscal 1997 and 1998, respectively, and increased as a result of headcount
growth, prototyping expenses associated with the development of new products and
ongoing support of current and future product development and enhancement
efforts. We believe that significant investments in research and development
will be required to remain competitive and expect that such expenditures will
continue to increase in absolute dollars.
 
     General and Administrative -- General and administrative expenses were $4.1
million in fiscal 1997, compared to $6.5 million in fiscal 1998, an increase of
57.9%. These expenses represented 4.4% and 3.9% of net sales for such periods
and increased in absolute dollars primarily as a result of headcount growth,
increased professional services fees and an increase to the allowance for
doubtful accounts. We believe that our general and administrative expenses will
increase in absolute dollars as we continue to build our infrastructure.
 
     Litigation Settlement -- See "-- Fiscal 1997 Compared to Fiscal
1996 -- Litigation Settlement."
 
     Purchased In-Process Technology and Related Compensation Charge -- See
discussion in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations section titled "Fiscal 1997 Compared to Fiscal 1996."
 
     Other Income, Net -- Other income, net, was $1.0 million and $0.9 million
in fiscal 1997 and 1998, respectively. Other income, net, decreased over the
corresponding period of the prior year due primarily to foreign currency
exchange losses recorded in fiscal 1998.
 
     Provision for Income Taxes -- Our effective tax rate for fiscal 1997 was
93.8% compared to 37.5% for fiscal 1998. The fiscal 1997 tax rate was primarily
affected by the one-time charge to operations of $7.4 million for the write-off
of purchased in-process research and development related to the IMC acquisition
which was not deductible for income tax purposes. Excluding the net effect of
the IMC acquisition, the fiscal 1997 effective tax rate would have been 35%. The
higher effective tax rate in fiscal 1998, compared to the fiscal 1997 effective



tax rate, exclusive of the IMC acquisition, relates to increased earnings, which
reduce the impact of research and development and other tax credits on the
effective tax rate. Additionally, fiscal 1997 included a benefit for the
reversal of a valuation allowance previously provided against deferred tax
assets which did not occur in fiscal 1998. As of April 30, 1997 and 1998, a
valuation allowance was deemed unnecessary as management determined that it is
more likely than not that the net deferred tax asset is realizable.
 
FISCAL 1997 COMPARED TO FISCAL 1996
 
     Net Sales -- Net sales increased by 100% from $46.6 million in fiscal 1996
to $93.3 million in fiscal 1997. This increase was attributable to an increased
shipping volume of filers and related peripheral devices and higher average
selling prices of filers. The increase in filer shipments resulted primarily
from expansion of our domestic and
 
                                       22

   26
 
international direct sales force, growth of our domestic and international
indirect sales channel, increased market acceptance of our products and the
introduction of the NetApp F540. The higher average selling prices resulted
primarily from the introduction of the enterprise-class NetApp F540 and the
shipment of a greater number of units directly to end users, who generally
purchase more highly configured systems at higher average selling prices than
resellers. Net sales also increased as a result of the introduction of multi-
protocol systems and the licensing of multi-protocol software to pre-existing
customers.
 
     Gross Margin -- Gross margin increased from 55.9% in fiscal 1996 to 59.2%
in fiscal 1997. This increase in gross margin was primarily attributable to the
increase in product volume in fiscal 1997, lower costs of key components and
increased manufacturing efficiencies. Gross margin also increased over the prior
fiscal year as a result of licensing multi-protocol software and increases in
software subscription revenue due to a larger installed base. These factors
offset the effect of increased sales of highly configured systems during fiscal
1997, which generally generate lower gross margins per system due to higher disk
drive and memory content.
 
     Sales and Marketing -- Sales and marketing expenses increased 90.6% from
$12.7 million in fiscal 1996 to $24.3 million in fiscal 1997. These expenses
were 27.3% and 26.0% of net sales in fiscal 1996 and 1997, respectively. The
increase in absolute dollars was primarily related to the expansion of our sales
and marketing organization, particularly the increase in the direct sales force,
and increased commission expenses related to higher sales volumes.
 
     Research and Development -- Research and development expenses increased
88.3% from $4.8 million in fiscal 1996 to $9.0 million in fiscal 1997. These
expenses represented 10.2% and 9.6% of net sales in fiscal 1996 and 1997,
respectively, and increased in absolute dollars primarily as a result of
increased headcount, prototyping expenses associated with the development of new
products and the support of the current and future product development and
enhancement efforts.
 
     General and Administrative -- General and administrative expenses were $2.6
million in fiscal 1996, compared to $4.1 million in fiscal 1997, an increase of
60.4%. These expenses represented 5.5% and 4.4%, respectively, of net sales for
such periods. In fiscal 1997, we continued our investments in additional
staffing, facilities expansion and related occupancy costs necessary to manage
and support our growth. Professional fees also increased from fiscal 1996 to
fiscal 1997. The growth in professional fees was primarily related to increases
in general legal fees, investor relations activities and accounting related
services.
 
     Purchased In-Process Technology and Related Compensation Charge -- On March
17, 1997, we acquired all outstanding shares and options to purchase shares of
IMC common stock by issuing 748,092 shares of our common stock and options to
purchase shares of our common stock. In connection with the acquisition,
intangible assets of $8.4 million were acquired, of which $7.4 million was
reflected as a one-time charge to operations for the write-off of in-process
research and development that had not reached technological feasibility and, in
management's opinion, had no probable alternative future use. The remaining
intangible assets of $1.0 million, consisting of existing technology and
goodwill, are included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance



sheets and are being amortized over their estimated useful lives of five years.
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     Certain key employees of IMC who continued as our employees were also
granted vested options to purchase shares of our common stock at a discount to
the market price of our common stock immediately preceding the acquisition. In
connection with the granting of these options, we recorded a compensation charge
of $3.2 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 1997.
 
     The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and, accordingly, the
results of operations of IMC from the date of acquisition forward have been
included in our consolidated financial statements. IMC results of operations
included in our consolidated financial statements for fiscal 1997 were not
significant. See Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for pro
forma financial information.
 
     Litigation Settlement -- In July 1994, we and certain of our former
employees were named as defendants in a lawsuit which alleged that one of our
founders, who left the company in March 1995, misappropriated confidential
information prior to the company's founding in April 1992. In August 1996, we
entered into a settlement with the plaintiff which resulted in a charge to
earnings of $4.3 million in the first quarter of fiscal 1997, which included a
$3.5 million payment to the plaintiffs and $0.8 million of legal fees. As the
payment released us from all liabilities associated with the case, we have no
future obligations to the plaintiffs. We deny any wrongdoing on our part or on
the part of the founder.
 
     Other Income, Net -- Other income, net, was $0.6 million and $1.0 million
in fiscal 1996 and 1997, respectively. In both of these periods, other income,
net, represented less than 2% of net sales. Other income, net, increased in
fiscal 1997 due primarily to interest income earned over four quarters of fiscal
1997 on the net proceeds of $25.7 million from our November 1995 initial public
offering compared to interest earnings on initial public offering proceeds over
two quarters for fiscal 1996.
 
     Provision for Income Taxes -- In fiscal 1996, our federal and state income
tax liabilities were offset by the realization of a portion of net deferred tax
assets. We recognized a benefit for net deferred tax assets to the extent that
they were recoverable through tax refunds in the event of future net operating
losses. We recorded a valuation allowance for the balance of our net deferred
tax assets as a result of uncertainty regarding realization of the assets,
including our limited operating history.
 
     The fiscal 1997 income tax provision was $3.8 million (effective rate of
93.8%). The fiscal 1997 tax rate was primarily affected by the one-time charge
to operations of $7.4 million for the write-off of purchased in-process research
and development related to the IMC acquisition which was not deductible for
income tax purposes. Excluding the net effect of the IMC acquisition, the
effective tax rate would have been 35%. As of April 30, 1997, a valuation
allowance was deemed unnecessary as management determined that it was more
likely than not that the net deferred tax asset was realizable.
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QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
     The following table presents selected consolidated quarterly financial
information for each of the seven quarters through January 29, 1999. This
information is unaudited but, in the opinion of management, includes all
adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which we consider
necessary for a fair presentation of our financial position and results of
operations for these periods. Such quarterly results are not necessarily
indicative of the results to be expected for the full year or future periods.
 

                                                          THREE MONTHS ENDED
                        ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
                        JULY 25,   OCTOBER 24,   JANUARY 23,   APRIL 30,   JULY 31,   OCTOBER 30,   JANUARY 29,
                          1997        1997          1998         1998        1998        1998          1999
                        --------   -----------   -----------   ---------   --------   -----------   -----------
                                               (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)



                                                                                                               
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
  OF INCOME DATA
Net Sales.............  $33,420      $38,401       $43,984      $50,358    $57,375      $65,625       $75,616
Cost of Sales.........   13,570       15,746        17,880       20,353     23,239       26,881        30,818
                        -------      -------       -------      -------    -------      -------       -------
  Gross Margin........   19,850       22,655        26,104       30,005     34,136       38,744        44,798
                        -------      -------       -------      -------    -------      -------       -------
Operating Expenses:
  Sales and
    Marketing.........    8,493        9,672        11,187       13,427     14,935       17,064        19,831
  Research and
    Development.......    3,415        3,903         4,420        4,911      6,081        6,722         7,815
  General and
    Administrative....    1,356        1,493         1,852        1,827      1,885        2,552         2,655
                        -------      -------       -------      -------    -------      -------       -------
    Total Operating
      Expenses........   13,264       15,068        17,459       20,165     22,901       26,338        30,301
                        -------      -------       -------      -------    -------      -------       -------
Income From
  Operations..........    6,586        7,587         8,645        9,840     11,235       12,406        14,497
Other Income, Net.....      168          229           243          249        121          995           542
                        -------      -------       -------      -------    -------      -------       -------
Income Before Income
  Taxes...............    6,754        7,816         8,888       10,089     11,356       13,401        15,039
Provision for Income
  Taxes...............    2,533        2,931         3,333        3,785      4,259        5,025         5,645
                        -------      -------       -------      -------    -------      -------       -------
Net Income............  $ 4,221      $ 4,885       $ 5,555      $ 6,304    $ 7,097      $ 8,376       $ 9,394
                        =======      =======       =======      =======    =======      =======       =======
Net Income Per Share:
  Basic...............  $  0.07      $  0.08       $  0.08      $  0.10    $  0.11      $  0.12       $  0.14
                        =======      =======       =======      =======    =======      =======       =======
  Diluted.............  $  0.06      $  0.07       $  0.08      $  0.09    $  0.10      $  0.11       $  0.12
                        =======      =======       =======      =======    =======      =======       =======
Shares Used in Per
  Share Calculation:
  Basic...............   63,768       64,612        65,422       66,148     67,096       67,878        68,738
                        =======      =======       =======      =======    =======      =======       =======
  Diluted.............   70,278       72,152        72,500       73,438     74,542       76,112        78,932
                        =======      =======       =======      =======    =======      =======       =======
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     The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage
of net sales represented by each item in the preceding consolidated statement of
income data.
 

                                                           THREE MONTHS ENDED
                         ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
                         JULY 25,   OCTOBER 24,   JANUARY 23,   APRIL 30,   JULY 31,   OCTOBER 30,   JANUARY 29,
                           1997        1997          1998         1998        1998        1998          1999
                         --------   -----------   -----------   ---------   --------   -----------   -----------
                                                                                                                
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
  OF INCOME DATA
Net Sales..............   100.0%       100.0%        100.0%       100.0%     100.0%       100.0%        100.0%
Cost of Sales..........    40.6         41.0          40.7         40.4       40.5         41.0          40.8
                          -----        -----         -----        -----      -----        -----         -----
  Gross Margin.........    59.4         59.0          59.3         59.6       59.5         59.0          59.2
                          -----        -----         -----        -----      -----        -----         -----
Operating Expenses:
  Sales and
    Marketing..........    25.4         25.2          25.4         26.7       26.0         26.0          26.2
  Research and
    Development........    10.2         10.2          10.0          9.8       10.6         10.2          10.3
  General and
    Administrative.....     4.1          3.9           4.2          3.6        3.3          3.9           3.5
                          -----        -----         -----        -----      -----        -----         -----
    Total Operating
      Expenses.........    39.7         39.3          39.6         40.1       39.9         40.1          40.0
                          -----        -----         -----        -----      -----        -----         -----
Income From
  Operations...........    19.7         19.7          19.7         19.5       19.6         18.9          19.2
Other Income, Net......     0.5          0.6           0.5          0.5        0.2          1.5           0.7
                          -----        -----         -----        -----      -----        -----         -----
Income Before Income
  Taxes................    20.2         20.3          20.2         20.0       19.8         20.4          19.9
Provision for Income
  Taxes................     7.6          7.6           7.6          7.5        7.4          7.6           7.5
                          -----        -----         -----        -----      -----        -----         -----
Net Income.............    12.6%        12.7%         12.6%        12.5%      12.4%        12.8%         12.4%
                          =====        =====         =====        =====      =====        =====         =====

 
     While our quarterly operating results in the past seven quarters in the
table have been relatively consistent in percentage terms, quarterly results in
the future may vary significantly. See "Risk Factors -- Factors beyond our
control could cause our quarterly results to fluctuate" and "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of



Operations -- Overview."
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 
     As of January 29, 1999, as compared to the April 30, 1998 balances, our
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments increased by $19.9 million to
$68.0 million. Working capital increased by $37.3 million to $106.9 million,
impacted primarily by increases in cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, inventories and deferred taxes and a decrease in accounts payable,
partially offset by increases in deferred revenue, accrued compensation and
related benefits, income taxes payable and other accrued liabilities, and a
decrease in short-term investments. We generated cash from operating activities
totaling $16.2 million and $26.5 million for the nine months ended January 23,
1998 and January 29, 1999, respectively. Net cash provided by operating
activities for the nine months ended January 29, 1999 principally related to net
income of $24.9 million, increases in income taxes payable, deferred revenue and
other accrued liabilities, coupled with depreciation and amortization which are
non-cash expenses, partially offset by increases in accounts receivable,
inventories, prepaid expenses and other assets and deferred income taxes and
decreases in accounts payable.
 
     We used $4.9 million and $11.6 million of cash during the nine months ended
January 23, 1998 and January 29, 1999, respectively, to purchase property and
equipment. We were provided with $1.7 million and $2.7 million during the nine
months ended January 23, 1998 and January 29, 1999, respectively, from net
short-term investment redemptions. Financing activities provided $4.8 million
and $12.0 million during the nine
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months ended January 23, 1998 and January 29, 1999, respectively. The increase
in cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended January 29,
1999, compared to the corresponding period of the prior fiscal year, was due to
an increased quantity of stock options exercised at a higher average exercise
price and a greater number of employees participating in the employee stock
purchase plan.
 
     In June 1998, we executed an agreement to acquire 5.9 acres of land in
Sunnyvale, California and the accompanying 127,000 square foot building. Under
terms of the agreement, we paid $5.5 million of the $33.8 million purchase price
as a nonrefundable deposit. In January 1999, we assigned our rights and
obligations under the agreement to a third-party entity and in exchange received
back our $5.5 million deposit. We subsequently entered into a $44.0 million
operating lease for this property. Our lease payments will vary based on the
London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus a spread. The lease is for five years
and can be renewed for two five-year periods, subject to the approval of the
third-party entity. At the expiration or termination of the lease, we have the
option to either purchase the property for $44.0 million, or arrange for the
sale of the property to a third party for at least $44.0 million with a
contingent liability for any deficiency. If the property is not purchased or
sold as described above, we will be obligated for an additional lease payment of
approximately $37.0 million. The lease also requires us to maintain specified
financial covenants with which we were in compliance as of January 29, 1999.
 
     In June 1998, we signed a 25-year operating lease requiring annual lease
payments of $3.1 million, commencing in October 1999, for a 6.2-acre plot in
Sunnyvale, California and an option agreement to purchase the 6.2 acres of land.
Under terms of the option agreement, we paid a $4.5 million nonrefundable
deposit. The option allows us to purchase the land, within a 90-day period,
commencing in December 1999 at a purchase price of $23.7 million. Our rights and
obligations under this agreement may be assigned to third parties, which we
intend to do if we can obtain satisfactory leasing terms.
 
     In July 1998, we negotiated a $5.0 million unsecured revolving credit
facility with a domestic commercial bank. Under terms of the credit facility,
which expires in July 1999, we must maintain various financial covenants. Any
borrowings under this agreement bear interest at either LIBOR plus 1% or at the
lender's "prime" lending rate, such rate determined at our discretion. In
December 1998, we drew a $2.5 million letter of credit against our line of
credit to facilitate requirements associated with the acquisition of land in
Sunnyvale, California and the accompanying 79,000 square foot building,
described below.
 



     In August 1998, we entered into an agreement to acquire 6.0 acres of land
in Sunnyvale, California and the accompanying 79,000 square foot building. Under
terms of the agreement, we paid $2.5 million of the $16.8 million purchase price
as a deposit, including $0.5 million in November 1998 upon satisfaction of
certain conditions under the agreement. The deposits are nonrefundable with
limited exceptions. Our rights and obligations under this agreement may be
assigned to third parties, which we intend to do if we can obtain satisfactory
leasing terms.
 
     Excluding the commitments related to the aforementioned properties, which
we intend to assign to third parties and establish as operating leases, we
currently have no significant commitments other than commitments under operating
leases. We believe that our existing liquidity and capital resources, including
the available amounts under the $5.0 million line of credit, are sufficient to
fund our operations for at least the next twelve months.
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YEAR 2000
 
     The Year 2000 issue refers to computer programs which use two digits rather
than four to define a given year and which therefore might read a date using
"00" as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000. As a result, many companies'
systems and software may need to be upgraded or replaced in order to function
correctly after December 31, 1999.
 
     We are currently conducting a general software upgrade and replacement
program to enhance our computer systems and applications, in particular those
systems and applications related to our manufacturing, distribution and
financial operations. As part of this larger program we are addressing the
critical areas of our internal computer systems, products and relationships with
external organizations for Year 2000 compliance. We are addressing Year 2000
compliance for both our IT and non-IT systems, which typically include embedded
technology such as microcontrollers.
 
     As part of our general systems upgrade we have evaluated and selected
significant computer software applications which are represented by vendors as
Year 2000 compliant. We expect to complete installation of such software in our
domestic operations by the end of the first quarter of fiscal year 2000 followed
by installation in our international operations by mid-fiscal year 2000. Most of
our existing business applications are already supported by Year 2000 compliant
software. With the system changes implemented to date and other planned changes,
we anticipate that our internal computer software applications will be Year 2000
compliant prior to December 31, 1999. We believe that our current products are
Year 2000 compliant, and our new products are being designed to be Year 2000
compliant.
 
     We rely on numerous third party vendors for certain products and services.
We are communicating with our principal service providers and suppliers to
assess their Year 2000 readiness. Responses indicate that our significant
service providers currently have compliant versions of their systems available
or are well into the renovation and testing phases with completion scheduled
prior to December 31, 1999. We are still assessing the effect Year 2000 issues
will have on our service providers and suppliers, however, our principal service
providers and suppliers have represented to us that they are Year 2000
compliant. We can give you no guarantee that the systems and products of these
service providers and suppliers on which we rely are, or will be, Year 2000
compliant.
 
     Our contingency planning for Year 2000 issues relates primarily to the
efforts of our third-party vendors. In the event of any Year 2000 disruptions
related to third-party software, we expect to follow the individual vendor's
contingency directives. With respect to suppliers, we will consider alternative
sources as a contingency plan, if necessary. Contingency planning will continue
throughout 1999 and our plans will be modified based upon the progress of our
remediation efforts, system updates and installations and based upon our
communications with selected suppliers. We have determined that our "worst case"
scenario relates to Year 2000 compliance problems of our third party vendors and
suppliers and other external organizations which if not remedied could
materially adversely affect our operating results.
 
     The costs we expect to incur in connection with our overall general systems
upgrade program, including both internal and third party costs, are primarily



external costs for software licenses, and implementation and consulting
services. These systems and applications were selected primarily for features
and functionality in addition to Year 2000 compliance. Accordingly, we do not
itemize costs of Year 2000 compliance separately.
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     Our expectations regarding the impact of Year 2000 issues are forward
looking statements and actual results could vary due to the factors discussed in
this section. While we believe that the estimated cost of becoming Year 2000
compliant will not be significant to our operating results, failure to complete
all the work in a timely manner could materially adversely affect our operating
results. While we expect all planned work to be completed, we can not guarantee
that all systems will be in compliance by the Year 2000, the systems of
suppliers and other companies and government agencies on which we rely will be
Year 2000 compliant, or that our contingency planning will be able to fully
address all potential interruptions. Therefore, Year 2000 issues could cause
delays in our ability to produce or ship our products, process transactions or
otherwise conduct business in any of our markets. Year 2000 issues could lower
demand for our products while increasing our costs. The occurrence of one or
more of these factors could materially adversely affect our operating results.
 
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
 
     In June 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 131, "Disclosures About
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information," which establishes interim
and annual reporting standards for an enterprise's business segments and related
disclosures about its products, services and geographic areas. We have not yet
identified our reporting segments. This statement is effective for us beginning
at fiscal year end 1999. Adoption of this statement is not expected to impact
our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
     In the first quarter of fiscal 1999, we adopted Statement of Position (SOP)
97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition," which provides guidance on applying
generally accepted accounting principles in recognizing revenue for software
transactions. SOP 97-2 requires, among other things, revenue earned on software
arrangements involving multiple elements to be allocated to each element based
on the relative fair values of the elements. Adoption of this statement did not
have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
 
     In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities," which defines derivatives, requires that
all derivatives be carried at fair value, and provides for hedging accounting
when certain conditions are met. This statement is effective for all fiscal
quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999. On a forward-looking
basis, although we have not fully assessed the implications of this new
statement, we do not believe adoption of this statement will have a material
impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.
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                                    BUSINESS
 
     Network Appliance pioneered the concept of the "network appliance," an
extension of the industry trend toward specialized devices that perform a
specific function in the network, similar to the development of the router for
network communications. Today we are the leading supplier of network attached
data storage and access devices, called filers. Our first filer product was
specifically designed to improve the storage and accessibility of data stored on
a network. In late 1997 we introduced an Internet caching appliance, our second
product category, designed to achieve Internet bandwidth savings and to improve
performance by moving data closer to end-users. This product is designed to
benefit customers struggling with Web data traffic that is, according to market
analysts, doubling every three months. Our filers are faster, more highly
available and easier to operate than similarly configured and competitively
priced products. This filer performance is accomplished by a specialized and
patented software system optimized to exclusively perform file service tasks,
thus providing performance advantages as compared to general purpose computers



used as file servers.
 
     Initially we marketed our filers primarily in the UNIX environment in high
technology companies seeking to achieve leading edge performance. Thereafter, we
significantly expanded our market by supporting heterogeneous Windows NT, UNIX
and Web platforms. More recently we began marketing our products to users of
leading database software applications, such as applications offered by Oracle
Corp. and Sybase, Inc. In fiscal 1999, we intensified our focus on the Windows
NT market and entered into OEM agreements with Dell Computer Corporation and
Fujitsu Limited.
 
INDUSTRY BACKGROUND
 
     In response to competitive pressures, businesses and other organizations
are investing in information systems to shorten product development cycles,
enhance customer responsiveness, lower costs and improve the quality of their
products and services. Networked computing offers organizations the ability to
increase productivity through distribution of computing power and sharing of
information across enterprises. In addition, the Internet and online service
related businesses have significantly expanded the amount of data available.
Furthermore, the development of new applications and services, and the more
prevalent use of stored graphics, voice and video, all require dramatically more
storage capacity than alphanumeric information.
 
ISSUES IN DATA MANAGEMENT AND NETWORK COMPUTING
 
     Enterprises utilizing networked computing environments generally share a
common set of key data management requirements driven by rapidly growing volumes
of distributed data. Certain of these requirements have become problematic,
including:
 
     - Data Access Performance. Data access performance across networks has
       historically been addressed by increasing server CPU performance or by
       increasing network bandwidth. Today, however, network data access
       performance is increasingly limited by disk input/output performance
       which has not improved as fast as CPU or network technology.
 
     - Data Administration. Network data administration, including the back up
       and expansion of data storage capacity, requires the management of both
       hardware and software systems and is made complex by the large volumes of
       data, increasing
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       numbers of users accessing data and wide distribution of data stored
       across the network.
 
     - Reliability and Data Availability. As data availability becomes
       increasingly critical to an enterprise's productivity, it is imperative
       that network data storage devices have low failure rates, rapid recovery
       times and the ability to provide uninterrupted data service.
 
     - Heterogeneous Data Access. As Windows NT has gained acceptance in many
       applications and environments traditionally dominated by UNIX,
       organizations require solutions that provide shared access to common
       data. Neither Windows NT nor UNIX-based file service solutions are
       currently well-suited for accessing the other's data. In addition to
       Windows NT and UNIX, the HTTP protocol is becoming more important with
       the growth of the Internet.
 
THE NETWORK APPLIANCE SOLUTION
 
     The core characteristics of the Network Appliance(TM) solution are:
 
     Fast Response Time. Our filers achieve response time over networks
significantly faster than competitively priced products. This speed is achieved
through our patented Write Anywhere File Layout (WAFL(TM)) software architecture
and a sophisticated caching scheme coupled with industry standard processor
architectures and I/O buses. This architecture enables our appliances to service
user read and write requests significantly faster than competitively priced
solutions.
 
     Ease of Use. Our products are easy to install and operate. Installation by



a systems administrator typically requires less than one hour and knowledge of
few system commands. For instance, an administrator can incrementally increase
storage capacity by adding disks and executing only one system command. Our
Snapshot(TM) feature allows online back up of an active file system without
interrupting users. This feature also allows users online access to earlier
versions of their data without involving the systems administrator. Together,
these features simplify administration, permit more efficient use of personnel,
increase data availability and permit remote deployment of filers.
 
     High Levels of Data Availability and Reliability. In contrast to other
approaches, our products are designed to provide high levels of data
availability with minimal incremental cost. Traditional servers do not have an
integrated facility to efficiently and reliably maintain the availability of
data upon disk drive failure. The traditional approach for providing increased
data availability for these systems has been to add RAID (redundant array of
independent disks) devices which are costly and often performance-limiting. Our
unique software integration of RAID provides a solution at minimally incremental
cost that yields more reliable data availability with no performance penalties.
In the event of a disk drive failure, our filer will reconstruct the failed data
elsewhere in the drive array allowing a spare drive to be hot-swapped with the
failed drive without any interruption of data availability to client users or
requiring a system reboot. When system reboot is required our filers
automatically reboot with full data availability in a few minutes regardless of
storage capacity.
 
     Multi-Protocol Solutions. Our filer products provide native support and
enable simultaneous shared file services for the NFS (UNIX), CIFS (Windows NT)
and HTTP (Internet) protocols. This means that support for these protocols is
woven into our WAFL
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software and file system. Our multi-protocol solutions eliminate the need to
duplicate data and do not require an organization to choose one operating system
for all network users.
 
     Scalability. The architecture of our products is designed to be scalable so
that storage capacity can cost-effectively grow on an incremental basis while
maintaining high throughput levels. Adding an additional filer appliance to a
network under this architecture is much simpler than adding a general purpose
file server. In addition, a filer can be easily expanded to multi-terabytes of
data with relatively consistent response times.
 
     Cost-Effectiveness. By combining our software-centric architecture with
state-of-the-art industry standard microprocessors and hard disk products, we
are able to achieve fast response times at a low cost per unit of storage.
 
STRATEGIES
 
     We plan to extend our leadership in the network data access appliance
market by employing the following strategies:
 
     Deepen Penetration into the Enterprise Market. Large enterprises are
increasingly deploying business critical systems and corporate intranets on
their networks. As a result, these organizations require enterprise-wide data
storage solutions that are reliable and fast while providing simple operation,
high scalability and efficient data management. These are the core
characteristics of our filers. In order to make our filers even better suited to
these enterprise requirements, we have incorporated features such as cluster
fail-over, fibre channel technology and Snapshot, our automated online backup
feature.
 
     Focus on Software Differentiation. We seek to continue to differentiate our
products by focusing on developing additional specialized software. We believe
this approach allows us to cost-effectively integrate into our systems desirable
features such as intelligent Internet caching, software integrated RAID,
multi-protocol support, automated online backup and cluster fail-over.
 
     Develop New Data Access Solutions. We seek to leverage our operating system
architecture to enter new network data access markets. Our latest product
technology, the NetCache appliance, has been specifically developed to take
advantage of our core software architecture. NetCache appliances reduce Internet
data traffic by locally storing copies of frequently requested Web pages. This



reduces the number of requests over the wide area network. As Internet traffic
continues to grow and high-speed access (such as Digital Subscriber Line (DSL))
becomes more widely available, the benefits of Internet caching are expected to
increase significantly.
 
     Another market opportunity we are targeting is providing higher performing,
more simplified database storage solutions. Our filer products can offload file
service tasks from application servers thereby allowing performance tuning
specifically for the database application. Our Snapshot feature allows the
database to be backed-up to tape without interrupting database access. Our
database solution provides improved levels of database performance, increased
data availability and simplified data management. Our filer product line is
currently endorsed by major database vendors Oracle Corp. and Sybase, Inc.
 
     Expand Distribution. We seek to market and distribute our products and
technology globally. In North America, we employ a multi-tiered distribution
strategy which focuses on product sales to end-users through a direct sales
force, as well as selected value-added resellers in certain geographies. In
Europe, we employ a mix of reseller and direct sales
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channels to sell to end-users. In Asia, our products are primarily sold through
resellers, which are supported by our channel managers and technical support
personnel. We recently entered into OEM agreements with Dell Computer
Corporation and Fujitsu Limited which are part of our strategy to increase the
worldwide distribution of our filer products.
 
     Network Storage Strategy. We seek to leverage our network attached storage
products into expanding markets. Storage Area Network (SAN) architectures have
recently emerged from a variety of vendors. The goal of SAN architecture is to
directly connect multiple independent servers and storage subsystems through a
fibre channel switching fabric. This would provide enterprises with increased
disaster tolerance and the ability to attach larger numbers of disk drives per
server, among other benefits. We view the emergence of SAN architectures as
generally complementary to our Network Attached Storage (NAS) solution and are
working with leading industry partners to add the benefits of SAN to our leading
NAS technology architecture which already embraces fibre channel connectivity.
 
PRODUCTS
 
     Filers. Our first network appliance product was a filer developed for the
UNIX environment. Subsequently, we added the capability for the filer to handle
the heterogeneous network environment of UNIX, Windows NT and HTTP protocols.
Current products include: the NetApp F720, an entry-level filer targeted for
workgroups and smaller application environments, the NetApp F740, designed to
address the needs of large departments, and the NetApp F760, an enterprise class
filer. All filers are based on a PCI-bus architecture and come packaged in rack
mountable enclosures. The NetApp F700-series filers are all based on the
Digital(R) Alpha(R) processor and support either SCSI or fibre channel
arbitrated loop conventions as storage options.
 
     All of our filers include the Data ONTAP(TM) operating system and one base
or standard protocol (either NFS, CIFS or HTTP). Data ONTAP delivers
simultaneous file service to UNIX, Windows NT and Web clients. Data ONTAP,
versions 5.0 and higher, supports multiple volume server partitioning, a popular
strategy for modularizing, consolidating and administering data according to
applications, data types and organizational needs. Native multi-protocol
functionality can be easily added through licensing non-base protocols at an
additional cost. Cluster failover software technology, which automatically
senses a system failure and switches all file service functions to its cluster
partner, is available on the NetApp F740 and NetApp F760 products.
 
     Our filer list prices range from $20,000 to $750,000, depending primarily
on the model purchased and product configuration.
 
     NetCache Appliances. NetCache appliances were developed to address the
explosive growth of Internet traffic that is slowing Web data access. Web access
delays can be substantially reduced if frequently accessed data is stored or
"cached" nearer to the end user. To do this effectively, a solution must have
three capabilities: (i) remote deployability requiring little maintenance, (ii)
high object caching "hit rates" so that trips over the Internet are minimized
and (iii) high scalability that can handle many users. Using the proprietary



software developed for our filers, we developed and are selling our NetCache
family of appliances.
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     Current products include the entry-level NetApp C720s, a dedicated caching
appliance designed for smaller ISP and enterprise environments, the NetApp C720,
designed for remote, low administrative overhead environments such as Internet
Points-of-Presence (POPs) and larger enterprises, and the NetApp C760, which
supports the most demanding, data-intensive caching environments. Under an
existing agreement we will provide Hewlett-Packard Company a NetCache software
solution for HP's UNIX platform, beginning late in the fourth quarter of fiscal
1999.
 
CUSTOMERS AND INDUSTRY SEGMENTS
 
     Below is a partial list of our customers during calendar 1998 in selected
industry segments.
 
NETWORKING
 
3Com
Ascend
Bay Networks
Cisco Systems
Lucent
Nortel
QUALCOMM
 
SEMICONDUCTOR
 
Adaptec
AMD
Broadcom
Cirrus Logic
Intel
Motorola
National Semiconductor
Texas Instruments
VLSI Technology
 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS
 
AT&T
Bell South
Ericsson
France Telecom
GTE
MCI
Nokia
Pacific Bell
Sprint
US West
ONLINE AND INTERNET SERVICES
 
@Home
Amazon.com
America Online
Demon Internet
Earthlink Networks
GTE Internet
Infoseek
Mindspring
Netcom
Netscape
UUNET
WebTV
Yahoo
 
COMPUTERS
 
Dell
Fujitsu Limited



Hewlett-Packard
Hitachi
IBM
NEC
Siemens
Tandem
Toshiba
 
FINANCIAL SERVICES
 
Bear Stearns
Citicorp Securities
Fidelity Investments
NationsBank
The Money Store
  GOVERNMENT
 
  Dept. of the Army
  Dept. of the Navy
  Los Alamos Nat'l Lab
  NASA
  USGS
 
  SOFTWARE
 
  Baan
  Cadence
  Informix
  Microsoft
  PeopleSoft
  Rational/Pure Atria
  Sybase
 
  ENERGY
 
  Amoco
  Chevron
  Western Geophysical
 
SALES AND MARKETING
 
     We seek to market and distribute our products and technology globally. In
North America, we employ a multi-tiered distribution strategy which focuses on
product sales to end-users through a direct sales force, as well as selected
value-added resellers in certain geographies. In Europe, we employ a mix of
reseller and direct sales channels to sell to end-users. In Asia, our products
are primarily sold through resellers, which are supported by our channel
managers and technical support personnel. We recently entered into OEM
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agreements with Dell Computer Corporation and Fujitsu Limited which are part of
our strategy to increase the worldwide distribution of our filer products. No
single customer accounted for 10% or more of our net sales in fiscal 1996, 1997
or 1998.
 
BACKLOG
 
     We manufacture our products based upon forecasts of our customers' demand.
Orders are generally placed by customers on an as-needed basis. Products are
typically shipped within one to four weeks following receipt of an order. In
general, customers may cancel or reschedule orders without penalty. For these
reasons, we do not believe "orders" constitute a firm "backlog" and believe
orders are not a meaningful indicator of revenues nor material to an
understanding of our business.
 
CUSTOMER SERVICE AND SUPPORT
 
     Our customer service and support organization provides technical support,
education and training. We believe that providing a high level of customer
service and technical support is critical to customer satisfaction and our
success. Warranty coverage, which is generally one year for hardware and 90 days
for software, includes 24-hour telephone support and advanced replacement of



defective hardware shipped on a next business day basis. We also offer upgraded
service during the warranty period, providing for faster on-site hardware
repair. Software support, including the repair of errors or defects, and new
release updates are provided at no extra charge for 90 days after product
shipment. Additional software support is available after the initial warranty
period through the software subscription program. Post-warranty service programs
include:
 
     - cooperative maintenance where the customer purchases replacements or
       extra parts and performs self-maintenance tasks;
 
     - a full-service program involving a combination of telephone-based support
       and on-site advanced replacement; and
 
     - a software subscription program that includes telephone support and
       software upgrades.
 
     We charge for service programs on an annual subscription basis, with
discounts to sites with multiple filers. On-site support is primarily provided
by independent parties both in North America and internationally.
 
MANUFACTURING
 
     Our manufacturing operations, located in Santa Clara, California, include
materials procurement, commodity management, component engineering,
manufacturing engineering, product assembly, product assurance, quality control
and final test. We rely on many suppliers for materials, as well as several key
subcontractors for the production of certain sub-assemblies. Our strategy has
been to develop close relationships with our suppliers, exchanging critical
information and implementing joint quality training programs. We are currently
expanding the use of subcontractors for the production of major sub-assemblies.
See "Risk Factors -- We rely upon a limited number of suppliers." This
manufacturing strategy minimizes capital investment and overhead expenditures
and creates flexibility by allowing us to rapidly expand. During May 1997, we
were awarded the ISO 9001 certification.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
 
     Since our inception we have made substantial investments in research and
development. We believe that our future performance will depend in large part on
our ability to maintain and enhance our current product line, develop new
products that achieve market acceptance, maintain technological competitiveness
and meet an expanding range of customer requirements. We intend to continuously
expand our existing product offerings and to introduce new products. As part of
our ongoing development process, in fiscal 1998 we initiated production
shipments of four new filers, in the second quarter of fiscal 1999 we launched
the F700 filer product family and in the third quarter of fiscal 1999 we
introduced the C700 family, the second generation of our NetCache appliances.
 
     Our future growth depends upon the successful development and introduction
of new hardware and software, however we cannot assure you that these or other
new products will attain market acceptance. See "Risk Factors -- We depend upon
our research and development efforts to develop and introduce new products" and
"-- We face risks of technological changes that affect our products."
 
     Our total expenses for research and development for fiscal years 1996, 1997
and 1998 and the nine months ended January 29, 1999 were $4.8 million, $9.0
million, $16.6 million and $20.6 million, respectively. We anticipate that
research and development expenses will increase in absolute dollars in future
periods.
 
COMPETITION
 
     The network file server market is intensely competitive and characterized
by rapidly changing technology. We experience competition from specialized
network file server companies such as Auspex Systems, Inc. We also compete
against traditional suppliers of UNIX-based general purpose computers that are
used as network file servers including Sun Microsystems, Inc., Hewlett-Packard
Company, Silicon Graphics, Inc. and IBM Corporation, among others. In addition,
certain of these large traditional suppliers of general purpose computers may in
the future offer specialized file server products which are more directly



competitive with our products. We also encounter competition from manufacturers
of PC-based file servers utilizing Windows NT and emerging standards, as well as
competition from manufacturers of open systems storage solutions such EMC
Corporation and Data General Corp. Our NetCache Appliances and NetCache Software
compete against a number of software and hardware solutions, from companies
ranging from small start-ups to larger systems vendors including Cisco Systems
Inc., Inktomi Corp., Cacheflow Inc. and Novell, Inc. See "Risk Factors -- An
increase in competition could materially adversely affect our operating results"
and "-- We face risks of technological changes that affect our products."
 
     We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting our market
include product features such as response time, scalability, ease of use, price,
multiprotocol capabilities and customer service and support. Although we believe
that our products currently compete favorably with respect to these factors, we
can not assure you that we can maintain our competitive position against current
and potential competitors, especially those with significantly greater
financial, marketing, service, support, technical and other resources.
 
PROPRIETARY RIGHTS
 
     We currently rely on a combination of copyright and trademark laws, trade
secrets, confidentiality procedures, contractual provisions and patents to
protect our proprietary
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rights. We seek to protect our software, documentation and other written
materials under trade secret, copyright and patent laws, which afford only
limited protection. We have registered our "Network Appliance" name and logo,
and "NetApp" trademarks. We will continue to evaluate the registration of
additional trademarks as appropriate. We generally enter into confidentiality
agreements with our employees, resellers and customers. We currently have
multiple U.S. and international patent applications pending and one U.S. patent
issued. See "Risk Factors -- If we are unable to protect our intellectual
property, we may be subject to increased competition which could materially
adversely affect our operating results."
 
EMPLOYEES
 
     As of January 29, 1999, we had approximately 660 employees. Of the total,
365 were in sales and marketing, 173 in research and development, 64 in finance
and administration and 58 in operations. Our future performance depends in
significant part upon our key technical and senior management personnel, none of
whom is bound by an employment agreement. We have never had a work stoppage and
consider relations with our employees to be good.
 
FACILITIES
 
     Our principal administrative, sales, marketing, manufacturing and research
and development facilities are located in approximately 168,000 square feet of
space in Santa Clara, California. The facilities are leased under various
operating leases which expire through fiscal 2003. In June, July and August
1998, we executed agreements to acquire approximately 18 acres of land in
Sunnyvale, California and accompanying 206,000 square feet of buildings. We
expect to occupy the Sunnyvale facilities in phases beginning in July 1999. All
of our principal activities will relocate to Sunnyvale. In January 1999, we
assigned our rights and obligations under one of the agreements for the
Sunnyvale facilities to a third-party entity and entered into an operating
lease. The lease is for five years and can be renewed for two five-year periods,
subject to the approval of the third-party entity. At the expiration or
termination of the lease, we have the option to either purchase the property at
a pre-determined amount, or arrange for the purchase by another party at a price
equal to the fair market value, and be contingently liable for any deficiency in
price. We lease other sales offices throughout the United States and
internationally. We believe that our existing facilities and those being
developed in Sunnyvale are adequate for our requirements over at least the next
two years and that additional space will be available as needed.
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                                   MANAGEMENT



 
     Our executive officers and directors and their ages as of March 22, 1999,
are as follows:
 

                 NAME                   AGE                   POSITION
                 ----                   ----                  --------
                                                     
Daniel J. Warmenhoven.................    48   President, Chief Executive Officer
                                               and Director
M. Helen Bradley......................    45   Vice President, Engineering
Jeffry R. Allen.......................    47   Vice President, Finance and
                                               Operations, Chief Financial Officer
                                               and Secretary
Thomas F. Mendoza.....................    48   Senior Vice President,
                                               Worldwide Sales and Marketing
Charles E. Simmons....................    50   Vice President, Corporate Development
Donald T. Valentine...................    66   Chairman of the Board, Director
Sanjiv Ahuja..........................    43   Director
Carol A. Bartz(1).....................    50   Director
Larry R. Carter(2)....................    55   Director
Michael R. Hallman(2).................    53   Director
Robert T. Wall(1).....................    53   Director

 
- -------------------------
(1) Member of Compensation Committee.
(2) Member of Audit Committee.
 
     Daniel J. Warmenhoven has served as our President and Chief Executive
Officer and has been a member of the Board of Directors since October 1994.
Prior to joining us, Mr. Warmenhoven served in various capacities, including
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Network Equipment Technologies, Inc., a telecommunications company, from
November 1989 to January 1994. Mr. Warmenhoven holds a B.S. degree in electrical
engineering from Princeton University.
 
     M. Helen Bradley has served as our Vice President, Engineering since
September 1995. Prior to that, Ms. Bradley owned a management consulting
business from January 1995 to September 1995. She also served as Senior Vice
President, Technology Development at Openvision, Inc., a client-server
applications company, from May 1994 to January 1995. From August 1990 to April
1994, Ms. Bradley was the Vice President, Systems Software at Sun Microsystems,
Inc. Ms. Bradley holds a B.S. degree in mathematics from the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology and an M.S. degree in computer science from the Georgia
Institute of Technology.
 
     Jeffry R. Allen has served as our Vice President, Finance and Operations,
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary since December 1996. From October 1994 to
December 1996, Mr. Allen served in various capacities, including Senior Vice
President of Operations and Vice President and Controller of Bay Networks, Inc.,
a networking company. From December 1990 to October 1994, Mr. Allen held various
positions at SynOptics, Inc., the latest of which was Vice President and
Controller. Before joining SynOptics, Inc., he held various positions, from
December 1973 to November 1990, at Hewlett-Packard Company, the latest of which
was Controller of the Information Networks Group. Mr. Allen holds a B.S. degree
from San Diego State University.
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     Thomas F. Mendoza has served as our Senior Vice President, Worldwide Sales
since 1998 and Senior Vice President, Marketing since February 1999. Prior to
that he served as Vice President, North American Sales. From November 1993 to
April 1994, Mr. Mendoza served in various capacities including Vice President,
Sales at Work Group Technology, a product data management company. Prior to
that, Mr. Mendoza served in various capacities including Vice President of North
American Sales at Auspex Systems, Inc., a UNIX-based network file server
company, from November 1990 to October 1993. Mr. Mendoza was previously Vice
President of Western Operations at Stratus Computer Corp., a vendor of fault
tolerant computers, from May 1982 to October 1990. Mr. Mendoza holds a B.A.
degree from the University of Notre Dame.
 



     Charles E. Simmons has served as our Vice President, Corporate Development
since February 1999. From May 1996 to February 1999 he served as Vice President,
Marketing. Prior to that, Mr. Simmons was a senior partner at Rohner &
Associates, a consulting firm, from October 1994 to May 1996. From February 1994
to October 1994, Mr. Simmons served as Vice President of Marketing at Voyant
Corporation, a developer of videoconferencing equipment. Prior to that, Mr.
Simmons was with Sun Microsystems Computer Company, a subsidiary of Sun
Microsystems, Inc., from November 1984 to February 1994, most recently as
Director of Business Strategy and Technology Marketing. Mr. Simmons received a
B.S. degree in electrical engineering from Washington University, an M.S. degree
in electrical engineering from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and an
M.B.A. from Santa Clara University.
 
     Donald T. Valentine has been a director and Chairman of the Board of
Directors since September 1994. Mr. Valentine has been a general partner of
Sequoia Capital, a venture capital firm, since 1972. He is also Chairman of the
Board of C-Cube Microsystems Inc., a semiconductor video compression company and
Vice Chairman of Cisco Systems Inc.
 
     Sanjiv Ahuja has been a director since August 1998. Since January 1997, Mr.
Ahuja has been the President and Chief Operating Officer of Bellcore, a leading
provider of communications software and consulting and a wholly owned subsidiary
of Science Applications International Corporation (SAIC). He joined Bellcore in
1994 as Corporate Vice President and President of the Software Systems Group
after holding several key executive positions at IBM where he began his career
in 1979. Mr. Ahuja currently serves on the Board of Directors of Bellcore and
Tellium, Inc., a wave division multiplexing systems provider. He received a B.S.
degree in electrical engineering with top honors from Delhi University, India
and an M.S. degree in computer science with a concentration in communications
from Columbia University.
 
     Carol A. Bartz has been a director since September 1995. From April 1992
through September 1996, Ms. Bartz served as Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer of Autodesk, Inc., and presently serves as Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Autodesk, Inc., a PC software company
and supplier of design software. Prior to that, Ms. Bartz was with Sun
Microsystems Inc. from September 1983 to April 1992, most recently as Vice
President of Worldwide Field Operations. In addition, Ms. Bartz currently serves
on the Board of Directors of Airtouch Communications Inc., Cadence Design
Systems, Inc., Cisco Systems Inc. and BEA Systems, Inc. Ms. Bartz received a
B.A. degree in computer science from the University of Wisconsin.
 
     Larry R. Carter has been a director since April 1997. Since January 1995,
Mr. Carter has been Vice President, Finance and Administration, Chief Financial
Officer and
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Secretary of Cisco Systems Inc. From July 1992 to January 1995, he was Vice
President and Corporate Controller for Advanced Micro Devices Inc. Prior to
that, he was with VLSI Technology, Inc. for four years where he held the
position of Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Carter
received a B.S. degree in Business Administration and Accounting from Arizona
State University.
 
     Michael R. Hallman has been a director since August 1994. Mr. Hallman is
the President of The Hallman Group, a management consulting firm, which he
founded in June 1992. Prior to that, he served as President and Chief Operating
Officer of Microsoft Corporation, a microcomputer software company, from March
1990 to March 1992. He presently serves on the Board of Directors of InFocus
Systems Inc., a computer peripherals company, Intuit Inc., a microcomputer
software company, and Keytronics Corporation, an input device company. Mr.
Hallman holds B.B.A. and M.B.A. degrees from the University of Michigan.
 
     Robert T. Wall has been a director since January 1993. From June 1997 to
November 1998, he was Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board of
Directors of Clarity Wireless, Inc., a broadband wireless datacommunications
company which was acquired by Cisco Systems Inc. in November 1998. Mr. Wall was
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of Theatrix
Interactive, Inc., a consumer educational software publisher, from April 1994 to
August 1997. In August 1984, he founded On Point Developments, LLC, a venture
management company, where he has served as President since its formation. He
presently serves on the Board of Directors of Egghead.com, Inc., an online



reseller of personal computer products. He received an A.B. degree in economics
from De Pauw University and an M.B.A. degree from Harvard Business School.
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                          DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
 
     Our authorized capital stock consists of 220,000,000 shares of common stock
after giving effect to two-for-one stock splits effective December 1997 and
1998, and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock.
 
COMMON STOCK
 
     As of January 29, 1999, there were 69,396,295 shares of our common stock
outstanding that were held by approximately 304 shareholders of record. Upon
completion of this offering, we will have outstanding an aggregate of 71,896,295
shares of common stock, assuming (i) the issuance of 2,500,000 shares of common
stock offered hereby, (ii) no exercise of the Underwriters' over-allotment
option and (iii) no exercise after January 29, 1999 of options to purchase
common stock.
 
     Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all
matters to be voted upon by the shareholders. Subject to preferences that may be
applicable to any outstanding preferred stock, the holders of common stock are
entitled to receive ratably such dividends, if any, as may be declared from time
to time by the Board of Directors out of legally available funds. See "Dividend
Policy." In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our
business, the holders of common stock are entitled to share ratably in all
assets remaining after payment of liabilities, subject to prior distribution
rights of preferred stock, if any, then outstanding. The common stock has no
preemptive or conversion rights or other subscription rights. There are no
redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the common stock. All
outstanding shares of common stock are fully paid and nonassessable, and the
shares of common stock to be issued upon completion of this offering will be
fully paid and nonassessable.
 
PREFERRED STOCK
 
     Our Articles of Incorporation authorize 5,000,000 shares of preferred
stock. Our Board of Directors has the authority to issue the preferred stock in
one or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and
restrictions thereof, including dividend rights, dividend rates, conversion
rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, redemption prices, liquidation
preferences and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation
of such series, without further vote or action by the shareholders. Issuance of
preferred stock could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third
party to acquire, or could discourage a third party from acquiring, a majority
of our outstanding stock. The issuance of preferred stock with voting and
conversion rights may adversely affect the voting power of the holders of common
stock, including the loss of voting control to others. At present, we have no
plans to issue any of the preferred stock.
 
ANTI-TAKEOVER EFFECTS OF PROVISIONS OF THE BYLAWS
 
     Our Bylaws, as amended and restated, provide that all shareholder actions
must be effected at a duly called meeting and not by a consent in writing. The
Bylaws also provide that our shareholders may call a special meeting of
shareholders only upon a request of shareholders owning at least 50% of our
capital stock. These provisions of the Bylaws and the existence of authorized,
but undesignated, preferred stock could discourage potential acquisition
proposals and could delay or prevent a change in control. These provisions are
intended to enhance the likelihood of continuity and stability in the
composition of the
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Board of Directors and in the policies formulated by the Board of Directors and
to discourage certain types of transactions that may involve an actual or
threatened change of control. The provisions also are intended to discourage
certain tactics that may be used in proxy fights. However, such provisions could
have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for our shares



and, as a consequence, they also may inhibit fluctuations in the market price of
our shares that could result from actual or rumored takeover attempts. Such
provisions also may have the effect of preventing changes in management. "See
Risk Factors -- Protective anti-takeover provisions in our charter and bylaws
could materially adversely affect stockholders."
 
TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
 
     The Transfer Agent and Registrar for the common stock is Harris Trust
Company of California.
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                                  UNDERWRITING
 
     Subject to the terms and conditions of the Underwriting Agreement, the form
of which is filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement of which this
prospectus forms a part, we have agreed to sell to each of the Underwriters
named below, and each of such Underwriters, for whom Lehman Brothers Inc., BT
Alex. Brown Incorporated, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and
Wit Capital Corporation, as e-Manager,(TM) are acting as representatives (the
"Representatives"), has severally agreed to purchase from us the respective
number of shares of common stock set forth opposite its name below:
 

                                                             NUMBER OF
                      UNDERWRITERS                             SHARES
                      ------------                        ----------------
                                                               
Lehman Brothers Inc.....................................
BT Alex. Brown Incorporated.............................
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated......
Wit Capital Corporation.................................
                                                             ---------
          Total.........................................     2,500,000
                                                             =========

 
     The Underwriting Agreement provides that the obligations of the
Underwriters to purchase the shares of common stock are subject to certain
conditions, and that if any of the foregoing shares of common stock are
purchased by the Underwriters pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, then all
of the shares of common stock agreed to be purchased by the Underwriters
pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement must be so purchased.
 
     We have been advised that the Underwriters propose to offer the shares of
common stock in part directly to the public at the offering price set forth on
the cover page of this prospectus, and in part to certain selected dealers (who
may include the Underwriters) at such public offering price less a selling
concession not in excess of $     per share. The Underwriters may allow, and
such dealers may reallow, a concession not in excess of $     per share to
certain brokers and dealers. After this offering, the public offering price, the
concession to selected dealers and the reallowance may be changed by the
Underwriters.
 
     We have granted to the Underwriters options to purchase up to an aggregate
of 375,000 additional shares of common stock, at the public offering price, less
the aggregate underwriting discounts and commissions shown on the cover page of
this prospectus, exercisable solely to cover over-allotments, if any. Such
options may be exercised at any time until 30 days after the date of the
Underwriting Agreement. To the extent that the options are exercised, the
Underwriters will be committed, subject to certain conditions, to purchase a
number of additional shares of common stock proportionate to such Underwriters'
initial commitment as indicated in the preceding table and we will be obligated,
pursuant to such over-allotment options, to sell such shares of common stock to
the Underwriters.
 
     We have agreed that, without the prior written consent of Lehman Brothers
Inc., we will not, subject to certain limited exceptions, directly or
indirectly, offer, sell or otherwise dispose of any shares of common stock, or
any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any such
shares, for the period ending 90 days after the date of this prospectus. Our



executive officers and directors have agreed pursuant to lock-up agreements
that, without the prior written consent of Lehman Brothers Inc., they will not,
subject to certain limited exceptions, directly or indirectly, offer, sell or
otherwise dispose
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of any shares of common stock or any securities convertible into or exchangeable
or exercisable for any such shares for the period ending May 20, 1999. After
this date, our executive officers and directors, and the companies affiliated
with them, will be free to sell their shares into the market.
 
     We have agreed to indemnify the Underwriters against certain liabilities,
including liabilities under the Securities Act and to contribute, under certain
circumstances, to payments that the Underwriters may be required to make in
respect thereof.
 
     Until the distribution of the common stock is completed, rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission may limit the ability of the Underwriters and
certain selling group members to bid for and purchase shares of common stock. As
an exception to these rules, the Representatives are permitted to engage in
certain transactions that stabilize the price of the common stock. Such
transactions may consist of bids or purchases for the purpose of pegging, fixing
or maintaining the price of the common stock.
 
     If the Underwriters create a short position in the common stock in
connection with this offering (i.e., if they sell more shares of common stock
than the number of shares set forth on the cover page of the prospectus), the
Representatives may reduce that short position by purchasing common stock in the
open market. The Representatives also may elect to reduce any short position by
exercising all or part of the over-allotment option described herein.
 
     The Representatives also may impose a penalty bid on certain Underwriters
and selling group members. This means that if the Representatives purchase
shares of common stock in the open market to reduce the Underwriters' short
position or to stabilize the price of the common stock, they may reclaim the
amount of the selling concession from the Underwriters and selling group members
who sold those shares as part of this offering.
 
     In general, purchases of a security for the purpose of stabilization or to
reduce a syndicate short position could cause the price of the security to be
higher than it might otherwise be in the absence of such purchases. The
imposition of a penalty bid might have an effect on the price of a security to
the extent that it were to discourage resales of the security by purchasers in
an offering.
 
     Neither we nor any of the Underwriters makes any representation or
prediction as to the direction or magnitude of any effect that the transactions
described above may have on the price of the common stock. In addition, neither
we nor any of the Underwriters makes any representation that the Representatives
will engage in such transactions or that such transactions, once commenced, will
not be discontinued without notice.
 
     Any offers in Canada will be made only pursuant to an exemption from the
requirements to file a prospectus in the relevant province of Canada in which
such sale is made.
 
     Purchasers of common stock offered hereby may be required to pay stamp
taxes and other charges in accordance with the laws and practices of the country
of purchase in addition to the offering price set forth on the cover page
hereof.
 
     The Representatives have informed us that they do not intend to confirm
sales of common stock offered hereby to any accounts over which they exercise
discretionary authority.
 
                                       44

   48
 
     Lehman Brothers Inc. has provided investment banking, financial advisory
and other services to us, for which services Lehman Brothers Inc. has received
customary fees.



 
                                 LEGAL MATTERS
 
     The validity of the shares of common stock offered by the company hereby
will be passed upon for the company by Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison LLP, San
Francisco, California, and for the Underwriters by Wilson Sonsini Goodrich &
Rosati, Professional Corporation, Palo Alto, California.
 
                                    EXPERTS
 
     The consolidated financial statements as of April 30, 1997 and 1998 and for
each of the three years in the period ended April 30, 1998 included in this
prospectus and the related consolidated financial statement schedule included
elsewhere in the registration statement have been audited by Deloitte & Touche
LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their reports appearing herein and
elsewhere in the registration statement, and have been so included in reliance
upon the reports of such firm given upon their authority as experts in
accounting and auditing.
 
                      WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
 
     We file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other
information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). You may
read and copy any document we file at the public reference facilities of the SEC
located at 450 Fifth Street N.W., Washington D.C. 20549. You may obtain
information on the operation of the SEC's public reference facilities by calling
the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. You can also access copies of such material
electronically on the SEC's home page on the World Wide Web at
http://www.sec.gov. Information concerning Network Appliance, Inc. is also
available for inspection at the offices of the Nasdaq National Market, Reports
Section, 1735 K Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20006.
 
     This prospectus is part of a registration statement (Registration No.
333-       ) we filed with the SEC. The SEC permits us to "incorporate by
reference" the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose
important information to you by referring you to those documents. The
information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this
prospectus, and information we file with the SEC after the date of this
prospectus will automatically update and supersede this information. We
incorporate by reference the following documents filed by us with the SEC (File
No. 00027130). We also incorporate by reference any future filings made with the
SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, after the date of this prospectus until the termination of
this offering.
 
          1. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 24,
             1998.
 
          2. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended April
             24, 1998.
 
          3. Our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July
             31, 1998.
 
          4. Our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
             October 30, 1998.
 
          5. Our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
             January 29, 1999.
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     If you request a copy of any or all of the documents incorporated by
reference, then we will send to you the copies you requested at no charge.
However, we will not send exhibits to such documents, unless such exhibits are
specifically incorporated by reference in such documents. You should direct
request for such copies to Chief Financial Officer, 2770 San Tomas Expressway,
Santa Clara, California, 95051, (408) 367-3000.
 
     You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus and
incorporated by reference into this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to
provide you with information different from that contained in this prospectus.
We are offering to sell, and seeking offers to buy, shares of our common stock



only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The information
contained in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this prospectus,
regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or of any sale of the
shares.
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                          INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
 
To the Shareholders of
Network Appliance, Inc.:
 
     We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Network
Appliance, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of April 30, 1997 and 1998, and the
related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity (deficit) and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended April 30, 1998. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.
 
     We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
     In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Network
Appliance, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of April 30, 1997 and 1998, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended April 30, 1998 in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles.
 



/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
 
San Jose, California
May 8, 1998 (July 17, 1998 as to
the first three paragraphs of Note 11
and December 21, 1998 as to the last
three paragraphs of Note 11)
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                            NETWORK APPLIANCE, INC.
 
                          CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
                                 (IN THOUSANDS)
 

                                                                 APRIL 30,
                                                            -------------------
                                                             1997        1998
                                                            -------    --------
                                                                             
                                    ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
  Cash and cash equivalents...............................  $21,520    $ 37,315
  Short-term investments..................................    6,916      10,800
  Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $330 in 1997
     and $811 in 1998.....................................   13,911      34,313
  Inventories.............................................    9,920       8,707
  Prepaid expenses and other..............................    1,253       2,524
  Deferred taxes..........................................    3,100       5,280
                                                            -------    --------
          Total current assets............................   56,620      98,939
                                                            -------    --------
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET...............................    9,238      12,217
OTHER ASSETS..............................................    3,083       4,580
                                                            -------    --------
                                                            $68,941    $115,736
                                                            =======    ========
 
                     LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
  Current portion of long-term obligations................  $    21    $     17
  Accounts payable........................................    4,394      10,024
  Income taxes payable....................................    1,023       1,782
  Accrued compensation and related benefits...............    4,666       8,485
  Other accrued liabilities...............................    2,280       4,201
  Deferred revenue........................................    2,317       4,799
                                                            -------    --------
          Total current liabilities.......................   14,701      29,308
                                                            -------    --------
LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS.....................................      211         163
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTES 3 AND 11)
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:
  Preferred stock, no par value; 5,000 shares authorized;
     shares outstanding: none in 1997 and 1998............       --          --
  Common stock, no par value; 220,000 shares authorized;
     shares outstanding: 65,664 in 1997 and 67,296 in
     1998.................................................   54,707      66,422
  Deferred stock compensation.............................      (54)       (498)
  Retained earnings (accumulated deficit).................     (624)     20,341
                                                            -------    --------
          Total shareholders' equity......................   54,029      86,265
                                                            -------    --------
                                                            $68,941    $115,736
                                                            =======    ========

 
                See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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                            NETWORK APPLIANCE, INC.
 
                       CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
                    (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
 

                                                      YEARS ENDED APRIL 30,
                                                  ------------------------------
                                                   1996       1997        1998
                                                  -------    -------    --------
                                                                               
NET SALES.......................................  $46,632    $93,333    $166,163
COST OF SALES...................................   20,557     38,061      67,549
                                                  -------    -------    --------
          Gross margin..........................   26,075     55,272      98,614
                                                  -------    -------    --------
OPERATING EXPENSES:
  Sales and marketing...........................   12,735     24,268      42,779
  Research and development......................    4,762      8,968      16,649
  General and administrative....................    2,578      4,134       6,528
  Purchased in-process technology and related
     compensation charge........................       --     10,519          --
  Litigation settlement.........................       --      4,300          --
                                                  -------    -------    --------
          Total operating expenses..............   20,075     52,189      65,956
                                                  -------    -------    --------
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS..........................    6,000      3,083      32,658
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
  Interest income...............................      668      1,048       1,097
  Interest and other expense....................      (68)       (88)       (208)
                                                  -------    -------    --------
          Total other income....................      600        960         889
                                                  -------    -------    --------
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES......................    6,600      4,043      33,547
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES......................       --      3,793      12,582
                                                  -------    -------    --------
NET INCOME......................................  $ 6,600    $   250    $ 20,965
                                                  =======    =======    ========
NET INCOME PER SHARE:
  Basic.........................................  $  0.18    $  0.00    $   0.32
                                                  =======    =======    ========
  Diluted.......................................  $  0.10    $  0.00    $   0.29
                                                  =======    =======    ========
SHARES USED IN PER SHARE CALCULATION:
  Basic.........................................   35,994     60,978      64,914
                                                  =======    =======    ========
  Diluted.......................................   62,936     68,804      71,902
                                                  =======    =======    ========

 
                See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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                            NETWORK APPLIANCE, INC.
 
           CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
                                 (IN THOUSANDS)
 

                                 SERIES A
                               CONVERTIBLE                                          RETAINED
                             PREFERRED STOCK      COMMON STOCK       DEFERRED       EARNINGS
                             ----------------   ----------------      STOCK       (ACCUMULATED
                             SHARES   AMOUNT    SHARES   AMOUNT    COMPENSATION     DEFICIT)      TOTAL
                             ------   -------   ------   -------   ------------   ------------   -------
                                                                                                            
BALANCES, APRIL 30, 1995...   4,748   $ 1,340   20,264   $   211      $  --         $(7,474)     $(5,923)
Exercise of stock
  options..................      --        --    5,750       274         --              --          274
Exercise of warrants.......      --        --    1,438       708         --              --          708



Issuance of common stock in
  connection with the
  Company's initial public
  offering.................      --        --    8,620    25,714         --              --       25,714
Repurchase of common
  stock....................      --        --     (858)      (68)        --              --          (68)
Conversion of Series A
  preferred stock into
  common stock.............  (4,748)   (1,340)   4,748     1,340         --              --           --
Conversion of Series B and
  C preferred stock into
  common stock.............      --        --   24,598    11,354         --              --       11,354
Deferred stock
  compensation.............      --        --       --       515       (515)             --           --
Amortization of deferred
  stock compensation.......      --        --       --        --        132              --          132
Income tax benefit from
  employee stock
  transactions.............      --        --       --       238         --              --          238
Net income.................      --        --       --        --         --           6,600        6,600
                             ------   -------   ------   -------      -----         -------      -------
BALANCES, APRIL 30, 1996...      --        --   64,560    40,286       (383)           (874)      39,029
Issuance of common stock...      --        --    1,166     1,730         --              --        1,730
Repurchase of common
  stock....................      --        --     (752)      (52)        --              --          (52)
Amortization of deferred
  stock compensation.......      --        --       --        --         85              --           85
Reversal of deferred stock
  compensation due to
  employee termination.....      --        --       --      (244)       244              --           --
Income tax benefit from
  employee stock
  transactions.............      --        --       --     2,487         --              --        2,487
Common stock issued for IMC
  acquisition..............      --        --      690     7,350         --              --        7,350
Compensation charge for IMC
  acquisition..............      --        --       --     3,150         --              --        3,150
Net income.................      --        --       --        --         --             250          250
                             ------   -------   ------   -------      -----         -------      -------
BALANCES, APRIL 30, 1997...      --        --   65,664    54,707        (54)           (624)      54,029
Issuance of common stock...      --        --    1,654     6,937         --              --        6,937
Repurchase of common
  stock....................      --        --      (22)       (1)        --              --           (1)
Deferred stock
  compensation.............      --        --       --       714       (714)             --           --
Amortization of deferred
  stock compensation.......      --        --       --        --        270              --          270
Income tax benefit from
  employee stock
  transactions.............      --        --       --     4,065         --              --        4,065
Net income.................      --        --       --        --         --          20,965       20,965
                             ------   -------   ------   -------      -----         -------      -------
BALANCES, APRIL 30, 1998...      --   $    --   67,296   $66,422      $(498)        $20,341      $86,265
                             ======   =======   ======   =======      =====         =======      =======

 
                See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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                            NETWORK APPLIANCE, INC.
 
                     CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
                                 (IN THOUSANDS)
 

                                                      YEARS ENDED APRIL 30,
                                                 -------------------------------
                                                  1996        1997        1998
                                                 -------    --------    --------
                                                                               
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
  Net income...................................  $ 6,600    $    250    $ 20,965
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
     cash provided by operating activities:
     Depreciation and amortization.............    1,386       2,866       5,548



     Purchased in-process technology and
       related compensation charge.............       --      10,519          --
     Provision for doubtful accounts...........      110          --         481
     Deferred income taxes.....................   (2,100)     (2,794)     (1,749)
     Deferred rent.............................       87         (69)        (36)
     Changes in assets and liabilities:
       Accounts receivable.....................   (2,270)     (8,573)    (20,883)
       Inventories.............................   (1,181)     (5,095)      1,213
       Prepaid expenses and other..............     (525)     (1,031)     (1,484)
       Accounts payable........................   (1,415)      2,295       5,626
       Accrued compensation and related
          benefits.............................    1,065       2,636       3,819
       Income taxes payable....................      500       3,010       4,823
       Other accrued liabilities...............      876         338       1,921
       Deferred revenue........................      370       1,917       2,482
                                                 -------    --------    --------
          Net cash provided by operating
             activities........................    3,503       6,269      22,726
                                                 -------    --------    --------
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
  Purchases of property and equipment..........   (4,281)     (7,124)     (7,971)
  Redemptions of short-term investments........       --      13,836      11,166
  Purchases of short-term investments..........   (2,982)    (17,770)    (15,050)
  Other assets.................................       --          --      (2,000)
  Cash acquired from IMC purchase..............       --          11          --
                                                 -------    --------    --------
          Net cash used in investing
             activities........................   (7,263)    (11,047)    (13,855)
                                                 -------    --------    --------
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
  Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt.....    1,250          --          --
  Repayments of long-term obligations..........   (1,272)        (17)        (12)
  Payments for repurchase of common stock......      (68)        (52)         (1)
  Proceeds from sale of common stock, net......   26,696       1,730       6,937
                                                 -------    --------    --------
          Net cash provided by financing
             activities........................   26,606       1,661       6,924
                                                 -------    --------    --------
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
  EQUIVALENTS..................................   22,846      (3,117)     15,795
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
  Beginning of year............................    1,791      24,637      21,520
                                                 -------    --------    --------
  End of year..................................  $24,637    $ 21,520    $ 37,315
                                                 =======    ========    ========

 
                See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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                            NETWORK APPLIANCE, INC.
 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
         (DOLLAR AND SHARE AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER-SHARE DATA)
 
 1. THE COMPANY
 
     Network Appliance, Inc., incorporated in the state of California in April
1992, and its subsidiaries (the "Company") operate in a single industry segment
and are involved in the design, manufacturing, marketing and support of high
performance network data storage devices which provide fast, simple, reliable
and cost-effective file service for data-intensive network environments.
 
 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
     Fiscal Year -- Although the Company operates on a 52-week or 53-week year
ending on the last Friday in April, for presentation purposes the Company has
indicated in the accompanying consolidated financial statements that its fiscal
year end is April 30. Fiscal 1996, 1997 and 1998 were 52-week years. Fiscal 1999
will be a 53-week fiscal year.
 
     Basis of Presentation -- The consolidated financial statements include the
Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and



transactions are eliminated in consolidation. Certain amounts from prior years
have been reclassified to conform to current-year presentation. These
reclassifications did not change previously reported total assets, liabilities,
shareholders' equity or net income.
 
     Cash and Cash Equivalents -- The Company considers all highly liquid debt
investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.
 
     Short-term Investments -- The Company's short-term investments consist of
securities with original maturities ranging between three and six months. All of
the Company's investments are classified as available-for-sale, and are stated
at amortized cost, which approximates fair market value. Short-term investments
consist of $6,916 and $10,800 of municipal securities as of April 30, 1997, and
April 30, 1998, respectively. No short-term investments were sold during any of
the periods presented.
 
     Inventories -- Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in,
first-out basis) or market. Inventories consist of the following:
 

                                                  APRIL 30,
                                               ----------------
                                                1997      1998
                                               ------    ------
                                                               
Purchased components.........................  $6,775    $4,494
Work in process..............................   1,524     1,889
Finished goods...............................   1,621     2,324
                                               ------    ------
                                               $9,920    $8,707
                                               ======    ======

 
     Property and Equipment -- Property and equipment is stated at cost and is
depreciated on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives which range
from two to
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                            NETWORK APPLIANCE, INC.
 
             NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
         (DOLLAR AND SHARE AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER-SHARE DATA)
 
five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over their estimated useful
lives or the life of the lease, whichever is shorter. Property and equipment
consists of the following:
 

                                                 APRIL 30,
                                             ------------------
                                              1997       1998
                                             -------    -------
                                                              
Computers, related equipment and purchased
  software.................................  $11,011    $16,979
Furniture and fixtures.....................    1,221      1,962
Leasehold improvements.....................    1,520      2,782
                                             -------    -------
                                              13,752     21,723
Accumulated depreciation and
  amortization.............................   (4,514)    (9,506)
                                             -------    -------
                                             $ 9,238    $12,217
                                             =======    =======

 
     Revenue Recognition -- The Company recognizes revenue and records estimated
product return and warranty reserves upon shipment if no material obligations
remain outstanding and the collectibility of receivables is deemed to be



probable. Service and software subscription revenues are recognized over the
terms of the related contractual periods. Combined service and software
subscription revenues were less than 10% of net sales for all of the periods
presented.
 
     Advertising Costs -- Advertising costs are charged to operations when
incurred. Advertising expenses for fiscal 1996, 1997 and 1998 were aproximately
$25, $100 and $1,000, respectively.
 
     Software Development Costs -- The Company capitalizes eligible computer
software development costs, which include software enhancement costs, upon the
establishment of technological feasibility, which occurs upon the completion of
a working model. Software development costs capitalized have not been
significant.
 
     Foreign Currency Translation -- The functional currency of the Company's
foreign subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, all monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the current exchange rate at the end of the year,
nonmonetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical rates and net
sales and expenses are translated at average exchange rates in effect during the
period. Transaction gains and losses, which are included in other income
(expense) in the accompanying consolidated statements of income, have not been
significant.
 
     Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties -- The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Such management estimates include the
allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, inventory reserves, various accruals
and warranty reserves. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
 
     The Company is subject to certain risks, including without limitation risks
relating to history of operating losses, fluctuating operating results, customer
and market acceptance
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                            NETWORK APPLIANCE, INC.
 
             NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
         (DOLLAR AND SHARE AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER-SHARE DATA)
 
of new products, dependence on new products, rapid technological change,
litigation, dependence on growth in the network file server market, expansion of
international operations, product concentration, changing product mix,
competition, recent management additions, management of expanding operations,
dependence on high-quality components, dependence on proprietary technology,
intellectual property rights, dependence on key personnel, volatility of stock
price, shares eligible for future sale, effect of certain anti-takeover
provisions and dilution and the Year 2000 Issue.
 
     Concentration of Credit Risk -- Financial instruments which potentially
subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash
equivalents, short-term investments and accounts receivable. Cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments consist primarily of municipal
securities, cash accounts held at various banks and a money market fund held at
a single financial institution. The Company sells its products primarily to
large organizations in different industries and geographies. Credit risk is
further mitigated by the Company's credit evaluation process and limited payment
terms. The Company does not require collateral or other security to support
accounts receivable. The Company maintains an allowance for potential credit
losses.
 
     Net Income Per Share -- The Company has adopted the provisions of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, "Earnings Per Share" ("SFAS 128"),
effective in the third quarter of fiscal 1998. SFAS 128 requires the
presentation of basic and diluted net income per share. Basic net income per
share is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for that period. Diluted
net income per share is computed giving effect to all dilutive potential shares
that were outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential common shares
consist of incremental common shares subject to repurchase, common shares



issuable upon exercise of stock options and warrants and convertible preferred
stock. All prior-period net income (loss) per-share amounts have been restated
to comply with SFAS 128 as well as to reflect the two-for-one stock splits
effective on December 18, 1997 and on December 21, 1998 (See Note 11).
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     The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the
basic and diluted net income per share computations for the periods presented:
 

                                               YEARS ENDED APRIL 30,
                                           -----------------------------
                                            1996       1997       1998
                                           -------    -------    -------
                                                                        
NET INCOME (NUMERATOR):
  Net Income, basic and diluted..........  $ 6,600    $   250    $20,965
                                           =======    =======    =======
SHARES (DENOMINATOR):
  Weighted average common shares
     outstanding.........................   41,896     64,658     66,400
  Weighted average common shares
     outstanding subject to repurchase...   (5,902)    (3,680)    (1,486)
                                           -------    -------    -------
  Shares used in basic computation.......   35,994     60,978     64,914
  Weighted average common shares
     outstanding subject to repurchase...    5,902      3,680      1,486
  Common shares issuable upon exercise of
     stock options and warrants..........    4,538      4,146      5,502
  Convertible preferred stock............   16,502         --         --
                                           -------    -------    -------
  Shares used in diluted computation.....   62,936     68,804     71,902
                                           =======    =======    =======
NET INCOME PER SHARE:
  Basic..................................  $  0.18    $  0.00    $  0.32
                                           =======    =======    =======
  Diluted................................  $  0.10    $  0.00    $  0.29
                                           =======    =======    =======

 
     Statements of Cash Flows -- Supplemental cash flow and noncash investing
and financing activities are as follows:
 

                                               YEARS ENDED APRIL 30,
                                            ----------------------------
                                             1996       1997      1998
                                            -------    ------    -------
                                                                        
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
  Interest paid...........................  $    60    $   --    $    --
  Income taxes paid.......................    1,362     3,809      9,402
NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING
  ACTIVITIES:
  Deferred stock compensation.............      515      (244)       714
  Conversion of preferred stock into
     common stock.........................   12,694        --         --
  Income tax benefit from employee stock
     transactions.........................      238     2,487      4,065
  Common stock issued for IMC
     acquisition..........................       --     7,350         --
  Deferred stock compensation charge for
     IMC acquisition......................       --     3,150         --

 



     Stock-Based Compensation -- The Company accounts for stock-based awards to
employees using the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB No. 25,
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees."
 
     Accounting for Long-Lived Assets -- Effective May 1, 1996, the Company
adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 121 ("SFAS 121")
"Accounting for
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the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed
of," which requires the Company to review the impairment of long-lived assets,
certain identifiable intangibles and goodwill related to those assets whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. The adoption of SFAS 121 had no impact on the Company's
financial condition or results of operations.
 
     Recently Issued Accounting Standards -- In June 1997, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board issued two new statements of financial accounting
standards ("SFAS"). SFAS No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income", requires
that an enterprise report, by major components and as a single total, the change
in its net assets from nonowner sources during the period. SFAS No. 131,
"Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information",
establishes annual and interim reporting standards for an enterprise's business
segments and related disclosures about its products, services, and geographic
areas. The Company has not yet identified its SFAS No. 131 reporting segments.
Adoption of these statements will not impact the Company's consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Both statements are
effective for the Company's fiscal year 1999.
 
     In October 1997, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
issued Statement of Position ("SOP") No. 97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition".
This statement provides guidance on applying generally accepted accounting
principles in recognizing revenue on software transactions. SOP No. 97-2 is
effective for transactions entered into during the Company's fiscal year 1999
and thereafter. The Company does not expect that the adoption of this statement
will materially impact the Company's financial position, results of operations
or cash flows.
 
 3. COMMITMENTS
 
     The Company leases its main facility under operating leases that expire
through fiscal 2003. Sales offices of the Company are also leased under
operating leases which expire through fiscal 2013. The Company is responsible
for certain maintenance costs, taxes and insurance under the leases. Future
minimum annual lease payments as of April 30, 1998, are as follows:
 

            YEARS ENDING APRIL 30,
            ----------------------
                                                     
     1999.....................................  $ 4,249
     2000.....................................    3,323
     2001.....................................    1,049
     2002.....................................      886
     2003.....................................      707
     Thereafter...............................    2,185
                                                -------
Total lease payments..........................  $12,399
                                                =======

 
     Rent expense was $755, $1,195 and $4,278 for the years ended April 30,
1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. Rent expense under certain Company facility
leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The
difference between the amounts
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paid and the amounts expensed is classified as long-term obligations in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 
     The total of minimum rental payments to be received through 1999 under
non-cancelable subleases is $1,268 as of April 30, 1998.
 
 4. ACQUISITION
 
     On March 17, 1997, the Company acquired all outstanding shares and options
to purchase shares of IMC common stock by issuing 748 shares of the Company's
common stock and options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock. The
purchase price related to the common stock and options to purchase shares of the
Company's common stock was $7,350. IMC was founded in 1996 to develop and
commercialize Internet/ intranet proxy caching software.
 
     Certain key employees of IMC who continued as employees of the Company were
also granted vested options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock at
a discount to the market price of the Company's common stock immediately
preceding the acquisition. In connection with the granting of discounted options
to purchase shares of the Company's common stock, the Company recorded a
compensation expense of $3,150 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 1997. The Company
also recorded a deferred income tax benefit of $1,304, primarily related to the
compensation charge.
 
     The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and, accordingly, the
results of operations of IMC from the date of acquisition forward have been
included in the Company's consolidated financial statements. In connection with
the acquisition, intangible assets of $8,362 were acquired, of which $7,369 was
reflected as a one-time charge to operations for the write-off of purchased
in-process research and development that had not reached technological
feasibility and, in management's opinion, had no probable alternative future
use. The $10,519 combined one-time charge for purchased in-process technology
and compensation expense has been reflected in the Company's fiscal 1997
consolidated statement of income within operating expenses. The remaining
intangible assets of $993, consisting of existing technology and goodwill, are
included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are
being amortized over their estimated useful lives of five years.
 
     In connection with the acquisition, net assets acquired were as follows:
 

                                                             
Current assets........................................  $    21
Property and equipment, net...........................       46
Intangible assets, including purchased in-process
  technology..........................................    8,362
Current liabilities assumed...........................   (1,079)
                                                        -------
Net assets acquired...................................  $ 7,350
                                                        =======

 
     The following unaudited pro forma information shows the results of
operations for the two fiscal years ended April 30, 1997 as if the IMC
acquisition had occurred at the beginning of each period presented and at the
purchase price established in March 1997. The results are not necessarily
indicative of what would have occurred had the acquisition
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actually been made at the beginning of each of the respective periods presented
or of future operations of the combined companies. The pro forma results for
fiscal 1997 combine the Company's results of operations for the fiscal year



ended April 30, 1997 with the results of IMC for the period from inception (May
6, 1996) through the date of acquisition and include the $10,519 charge for
purchased in-process technology and the related compensation charge, as well as
the related tax benefits, and the straight-line amortization of intangible
assets over a period of five years. The pro forma results for fiscal 1996
reflect the Company's actual results of operations for that year less the
amortization of intangible assets related to the acquisition:
 

                                           YEARS ENDED APRIL 30,
                                           ----------------------
                                             1996          1997
                                           --------      --------
                                                               
Net Sales................................  $46,632       $93,552
Net Income (Loss)........................    6,401          (390)
Net Income (Loss) per Share, Basic.......     0.17         (0.01)
Net Income (Loss) per Share, Diluted.....     0.10         (0.01)

 
 5. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
 
     Initial Public Offering -- In November 1995, the Company completed its
initial public offering of 8,620 shares of its common stock. Net proceeds from
the offering were $25,714. In conjunction with the offering, all outstanding
shares of preferred stock automatically converted into common stock. In
addition, the Company issued 724 shares of common stock upon the exercise of
Series A preferred warrants, and 714 shares of common stock upon the exercise of
Series C preferred warrants. The Company received total proceeds of $708 from
the exercise of these warrants.
 
     Preferred Stock -- The Company's Board of Directors has the authority to
issue up to 5,000 shares of preferred stock and to determine the price, rights,
preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, of those
shares without any further vote or action by the shareholders.
 
     Stock Option Plans -- The Company adopted the 1993 Stock Option/Stock
Issuance Plan (the "1993 Plan") in April 1993. In September 1995, the Company
adopted the 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (the "1995 Plan"). The 1995 Plan replaced
the 1993 Plan, and provides for the grant of options and the issuance of common
stock under terms substantially the same as those provided under the 1993 Plan,
except that the 1995 Plan does not allow for the exercise of options prior to
vesting. Accordingly, all options and shares issued under the 1993 Plan were
incorporated into the 1995 Plan upon the effectiveness of the Company's initial
public offering.
 
     Under the 1995 Plan, the Board of Directors may grant to employees,
directors and consultants options to purchase shares of the Company's common
stock. The exercise price for an incentive stock option and a nonqualified stock
option cannot be less than 100% and 85%, respectively, of the fair market value
of the Company's common stock as determined by the Board of Directors on the
date of grant. Options granted under the 1995 Plan generally vest at a rate of
25% on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date
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and then ratably over the following 36 months. Options expire as determined by
the Board of Directors, but not more than ten years after the date of grant.
 
     In April 1997, the Board of Directors adopted the Special Non-Officer Stock
Option Plan (the "Non-Officer Plan")which provides for the grant of options and
the issuance of common stock under terms substantially the same as those
provided under the 1995 Plan, except that the Non-Officer Plan allows only for
the issuance of nonqualified options to non-officer employees. A summary of the
combined activity under the Company's stock option plans and agreements is as
follows:
 



                                           SHARES       OUTSTANDING OPTIONS
                                          AVAILABLE    ---------------------
                                             FOR        NUMBER      WEIGHTED
                                            GRANT      OF SHARES    AVERAGE
                                          ---------    ---------    --------
                                                                           
Balances, April 30, 1995................      672         5,554      $ 0.04
  Shares reserved for plan..............   13,000            --          --
  Options granted (weighted average fair
     value of $.80).....................   (7,172)        7,172        2.12
  Options exercised.....................       --        (5,750)       0.06
  Options canceled......................      590          (590)        .51
                                           ------       -------
Balances, April 30, 1996 (392 options
  exercisable)..........................    7,090         6,386        2.32
  Shares reserved for IMC acquisition...      516            --          --
  Options granted (weighted average fair
     value of $3.30)....................   (6,676)        6,676        7.42
  Options exercised.....................       --          (836)        .83
  Options canceled......................      948          (948)       2.68
                                           ------       -------
Balances, April 30, 1997 (3,994 options
  exercisable)..........................    1,878        11,278        5.42
  Shares reserved for plan..............    8,000            --          --
  Options granted (weighted average fair
     value of $4.56)....................   (5,448)        5,448       11.76
  Options exercised.....................       --        (1,240)       4.23
  Options canceled......................    1,148        (1,148)       6.91
                                           ------       -------
Balances, April 30, 1998 (5,012 options
  exercisable)..........................    5,578        14,338      $ 7.79
                                           ======       =======

 
     Options for the purchase of 3,746 shares of common stock were vested as of
April 30, 1998. Unvested common shares issued under the 1993 Plan of 620 as of
April 30, 1998 are subject to repurchase by the Company.
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     Additional information regarding options outstanding as of April 30, 1998
is as follows:
 

                                 OPTIONS OUTSTANDING
                 ----------------------------------------------------
                                      WEIGHTED                              OPTIONS EXERCISABLE
                                      AVERAGE                           ----------------------------
                     NUMBER          REMAINING                                           WEIGHTED
   RANGE OF      OUTSTANDING AT   CONTRACTUAL LIFE   WEIGHTED AVERAGE     NUMBER         AVERAGE
EXERCISE PRICES  APRIL 30, 1998      (IN YEARS)       EXERCISE PRICE    EXERCISABLE   EXERCISE PRICE
- ---------------  --------------   ----------------   ----------------   -----------   --------------
                                                                                               
$ 0.03 - $ 0.04         362             6.15              $ 0.03             362          $ 0.03
  0.05 -   0.07         254             6.95                0.07             222            0.07
  0.50 -   0.75         362             7.38                0.67             324            0.66
  1.13 -   1.50         230             7.32                1.32             230            1.32
  1.80 -   2.03       1,348             7.46                1.92           1,348            1.92
  2.75 -   2.95         820             8.17                2.84             516            2.78
  5.44 -   7.88       4,606             8.58                6.95           1,430            6.79
  8.50 -  12.69       4,366             9.02               10.21             580            9.48
 12.82 -  16.79       1,990             9.69               14.89              --            0.00
                     ------                                                -----
$ 0.03 - $16.79      14,338             8.60              $ 7.79           5,012          $ 3.94
                     ======                                                =====

 



     Employee Stock Purchase Plan -- Under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan,
employees are entitled to purchase shares of the Company's common stock at 85%
of the fair market value at certain specified dates. Of the 1,400 shares
authorized to be issued under this plan, 670 shares were available for issuance
at April 30, 1998 and 328 and 402 shares were issued in fiscal 1997 and 1998,
respectively, at a weighted average price of $3.17 and $4.21, respectively.
 
     Pro Forma Information -- As discussed in Note 2, the Company continues to
account for its stock-based awards using the intrinsic value method in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees" and its related interpretations. Accordingly, no compensation
expense has been recognized in the financial statements for employee stock
arrangements with the exception of $132, $85 and $270 in fiscal 1996, 1997 and
1998, respectively, which consists of the amortization of deferred stock
compensation related to the granting of nonqualified stock options at exercise
prices below market.
 
     Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, "Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation," ("SFAS 123") requires the disclosure of pro forma net
income and net income per share had the Company adopted the fair value method as
of the beginning of fiscal 1996. Under SFAS 123, the fair value of stock-awards
to employees is calculated through the use of option pricing models, even though
such models were developed to estimate the fair value of freely tradeable, fully
transferable options without vesting restrictions, which significantly differ
from the Company's stock option awards. These models also require subjective
assumptions, including future stock price volatility and expected time to
exercise, which greatly affect the calculated values. The Company's
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calculations were made using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following weighted average assumptions:
 

                                                  YEARS ENDED APRIL 30,
                                                 -----------------------
                                                 1996     1997     1998
                                                 -----    -----    -----
                                                                          
Expected life (in years).......................   3.01     2.90     2.94
Risk-free interest rate........................   5.89%    6.06%    6.00%
Volatility.....................................     50%      50%      50%
Expected dividend..............................     --       --       --

 
     The Company's calculations are based on a multiple option valuation
approach and forfeitures are recognized as they occur. If the computed fair
values of the fiscal 1996, 1997 and 1998 awards had been amortized to expense
over the vesting period of the awards, pro forma net income (loss) and net
income (loss) per share would have been as follows:
 

                                                YEARS ENDED APRIL 30,
                                             ---------------------------
                                              1996      1997       1998
                                             ------    -------    ------
                                                                         
Net income (loss)..........................  $5,824    $(4,661)   $8,677
Net income (loss) per share, basic.........    0.16      (0.08)     0.13
Net income (loss) per share, diluted.......    0.09      (0.07)     0.12

 
     However, the impact of outstanding non-vested stock options granted prior
to fiscal 1996 has been excluded from the pro forma calculations; accordingly,
the fiscal 1996, 1997 and 1998 pro forma adjustments are not indicative of
future period pro forma adjustments, when the calculation will apply to all



applicable stock options.
 
     Deferred Stock Compensation -- In May 1995, the Company issued stock
options for the purchase of 2,126 shares of common stock at $0.07 per share. The
Company recognized $515 of deferred compensation in May 1995 equal to the
difference between the option price as determined by the Board of Directors and
$0.32 (the deemed fair value for financial reporting purposes) for each option.
The Company is amortizing the deferred compensation expense ratably over the
four-year period in which the options vest.
 
     In fiscal 1998, the Company recorded $714 of deferred compensation,
primarily related to the grant of stock options to certain highly compensated
employees. Under terms of the 1995 Stock Option Plan, highly compensated
employees as defined by Company's management are eligible to contribute between
$15 to $75 in annual salary for the rights to be granted nonqualified stock
options. The discount from fair market value which is equal to the amount of
salary contributed has been recorded as deferred compensation expense. The
Company is amortizing the deferred compensation expense ratably over a one-year
period.
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 6. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN
 
     The Company has established a 401(k) tax-deferred savings plan ("Savings
Plan"). Employees meeting the eligibility requirements, as defined, may
contribute specified percentages of their salaries. The Company contributed $119
and $202 for fiscal 1997 and 1998, respectively. The Company did not make any
contributions to the Savings Plan in fiscal 1996.
 
 7. INCOME TAXES
 
     The provision for income taxes consists of the following:
 

                                               YEARS ENDED APRIL 30,
                                           -----------------------------
                                            1996       1997       1998
                                           -------    -------    -------
                                                                        
CURRENT:
  Federal................................  $ 1,880    $ 5,062    $12,132
  State..................................      220      1,525      2,199
                                           -------    -------    -------
  Total current..........................    2,100      6,587     14,331
                                           -------    -------    -------
DEFERRED:
  Federal................................   (1,880)    (2,394)    (1,597)
  State..................................     (220)      (400)      (152)
                                           -------    -------    -------
  Total deferred.........................   (2,100)    (2,794)    (1,749)
                                           -------    -------    -------
          Provision for income taxes.....  $    --    $ 3,793    $12,582
                                           =======    =======    =======

 
     Deferred income taxes result from differences in the timing of certain
expense items for tax and financial reporting purposes.
 
     The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying
the statutory federal income tax rate as follows:
 

                                               YEARS ENDED APRIL 30,
                                            ----------------------------
                                             1996       1997      1998



                                            -------    ------    -------
                                                                        
Tax computed at federal statutory rate....  $ 2,310    $1,415    $11,741
State income taxes, net of federal
  benefit.................................      405       764      1,482
Non-deductible acquisition charges related
  to the IMC acquisition..................       --     2,904         --
Research and experimentation credit.......      (50)     (410)      (555)
Investment tax credit.....................     (150)       --         --
Benefit of foreign sales corporation......       --      (105)      (489)
Tax exempt interest.......................       --      (184)      (281)
Change in valuation allowance.............   (2,510)     (673)        --
Business meal exclusion...................       --        45        100
Other.....................................       (5)       37        584
                                            -------    ------    -------
Provision for income taxes................  $    --    $3,793    $12,582
                                            =======    ======    =======
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     The income tax benefits associated with dispositions from employee stock
transactions reduced taxes currently payable by $238, $2,487 and $4,291,
respectively, for fiscal 1996, 1997 and 1998.
 
     Income before income taxes is as follows:
 

                                                YEARS ENDED APRIL 30,
                                             ---------------------------
                                              1996      1997      1998
                                             ------    ------    -------
                                                                        
Domestic...................................  $6,580    $3,983    $33,175
Foreign....................................      20        60        372
                                             ------    ------    -------
          Total............................  $6,600    $4,043    $33,547
                                             ======    ======    =======

 
     Current net deferred tax assets are $3,100 and $5,280, as of April 30, 1997
and April 30, 1998, respectively. Non-current net deferred tax assets at April
30, 1997 and 1998 of $1,794 and $1,363, respectively, are included in other
assets within the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The components of
the Company's net deferred tax assets are as follows:
 

                                                          APRIL 30,
                                                       ----------------
                                                        1997      1998
                                                       ------    ------
                                                                       
  Reserves and accruals not currently deductible
     for tax purposes..............................    $2,662    $4,599
  Tax benefit of options issued in IMC
     acquisition...................................     1,304     1,074
  Net operating loss carryforwards.................       116       236
  Depreciation.....................................       369       197
  Deferred rent....................................        80        66
  Capitalized research and development costs.......       142        --
  Other............................................       221       471
                                                       ------    ------
          Deferred tax assets......................    $4,894    $6,643
                                                       ======    ======

 



     As of April 30, 1998, the Company had federal net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $674 available to offset future taxable income.
These carryforwards expire in fiscal 2010.
 
 8. OPERATIONS BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA AND SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS
 
     The Company operates primarily in one industry segment: the design,
manufacturing and marketing of high-performance network data storage devices.
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     The Company's European operations primarily consist of sales by its
subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, France, Germany and Italy to either
unaffiliated European customers or to independent distributors.
 

                                                    YEARS ENDED APRIL 30,
                                                    ---------------------
                                                      1997        1998
                                                    --------    ---------
                                                                      
NET SALES:
North America.....................................  $83,342     $138,379
Europe............................................    9,991       27,784
                                                    -------     --------
          Total net sales.........................  $93,333     $166,163
                                                    =======     ========
OPERATING INCOME:
North America.....................................  $ 3,023     $ 32,285
Europe............................................       60          373
                                                    -------     --------
          Total operating income..................  $ 3,083     $ 32,658
                                                    =======     ========
IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS:
North America.....................................  $66,019     $105,601
Europe............................................    2,922       10,135
                                                    -------     --------
          Total assets............................  $68,941     $115,736
                                                    =======     ========

 
     North America revenues include export sales to Asia which amounted to less
than 10% of total net sales for all periods presented. Sales, operating income
and identifiable assets of the Company's foreign operations were less than 10%
of the comparable amounts on a consolidated basis in fiscal 1996.
 
     No single customer accounted for 10% or more of net sales in fiscal 1996,
1997 or 1998.
 
 9. LITIGATION
 
     The computer industry is characterized by frequent litigation regarding
intellectual property rights. During fiscal 1995 a lawsuit of this nature was
filed against the Company and two of its shareholders (the "Whipsaw
Litigation"). During the first quarter of fiscal 1997, the Company settled the
Whipsaw litigation and recorded a pre-tax expense of $4,300 ($3,500 in payments
to the plaintiffs and $800 in legal fees). In connection with the settlement,
the Whipsaw group released the Company from all liabilities.
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10. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)



 

                                       YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 1997
                                ----------------------------------------
                                  Q1         Q2         Q3         Q4
                                -------    -------    -------    -------
                                                                         
Net sales.....................  $18,460    $21,048    $24,845    $28,980
Gross margin..................   10,867     12,466     14,729     17,210
Net income (loss)(1)..........     (491)     2,780      3,380     (5,419)
Net income (loss) per share,
  basic(1)....................    (0.01)      0.04       0.05      (0.09)
Net income (loss) per share,
  diluted(1)..................    (0.01)      0.04       0.05      (0.09)

 

                                       YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 1998
                                ----------------------------------------
                                  Q1         Q2         Q3         Q4
                                -------    -------    -------    -------
                                                                         
Net sales.....................  $33,420    $38,401    $43,984    $50,358
Gross margin..................   19,850     22,655     26,104     30,005
Net income....................    4,221      4,885      5,555      6,304
Net income per share, basic...     0.07       0.08       0.08       0.10
Net income per share,
  diluted.....................     0.06       0.07       0.08       0.09

 
- ---------------
 
(1) The first quarter of fiscal 1997 includes the Whipsaw Litigation of $2,795
    (net of taxes). See Note 9. The fourth quarter of fiscal 1997 includes the
    purchased in-process technology and compensation charge related to the IMC
    acquisition of $9,215 (net of taxes). See Note 4.
 
11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 
     In June 1998, the Company executed an agreement to acquire 5.9 acres of
land in Sunnyvale, California and the accompanying 127,000 square foot building.
Under terms of the agreement, the Company paid $5,000 of the $33,750 purchase
price as a nonrefundable deposit. The agreement allows the Company to assign its
rights and obligations to a third-party entity should the Company decide to
enter into an operating lease. It is the Company's intent to assign its rights
and obligations to a third-party entity and enter into an operating lease,
provided the Company can obtain satisfactory leasing terms.
 
     In June 1998, the Company signed a 25-year operating lease requiring annual
lease payments of $3,084, commencing in October 1999, for a 6.2 acre plot in
Sunnyvale, California and an option agreement to purchase the 6.2 acres of land.
Under terms of the option agreement, the Company paid a $4,500 nonrefundable
deposit. The option allows the Company to purchase the land, within a 90-day
period, commencing in December 1999 at a purchase price of $23,745. The
Company's rights and obligations under this agreement may be assigned to third
parties, which it intends to do if it can obtain satisfactory leasing terms.
 
     In July 1998, the Company negotiated a $5,000 unsecured revolving credit
facility with a domestic commercial bank. Under terms of the credit facility,
which expires in July
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1999, the Company must maintain various financial covenants. Any borrowings
under this agreement bear interest at either LIBOR plus 1% or at the Lender's
"prime" lending rate, such rate determined at the discretion of the Company. As



of July 17, 1998, there were no borrowings under the credit facility.
 
     In August 1998, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire 6.0 acres
of land in Sunnyvale, California and the accompanying 79,000 square foot
building. Under terms of the agreement, the Company paid $2,500 of the $16,750
purchase price as a deposit, including $500 in November 1998 upon satisfaction
of certain conditions under the agreement. The deposit is nonrefundable with
limited exceptions. The Company's rights and obligations under this agreement
may be assigned to third parties, which the Company intends to do if it can
obtain satisfactory leasing terms.
 
     On December 9, 1998, the Company drew a $2,500 letter of credit against its
line of credit to facilitate payments associated with the August 1998
acquisition of land in Sunnyvale, California and the accompanying 79,000 square
foot building.
 
     On December 21, 1998, the Company effected a two-for-one stock split of the
outstanding shares of common stock. All share and per share amounts in these
consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to give effect to the stock
split.
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                                 (IN THOUSANDS)
                                  (UNAUDITED)
 

                                                          APRIL 30,    JANUARY 29,
                                                            1998          1999
                                                          ---------    -----------
                                                                             
                                      ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
  Cash and cash equivalents.............................  $ 37,315      $ 59,886
  Short-term investments................................    10,800         8,150
  Accounts receivable, net..............................    34,313        50,735
  Inventories...........................................     8,707        11,751
  Prepaid expenses and other............................     2,524         3,235
  Deferred taxes........................................     5,280         9,963
                                                          --------      --------
          Total current assets..........................    98,939       143,720
                                                          --------      --------
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET.............................    12,217        17,204
DEPOSITS................................................        --         7,000
OTHER ASSETS............................................     4,580         4,724
                                                          --------      --------
                                                          $115,736      $172,648
                                                          ========      ========
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
  Accounts payable......................................  $ 10,041      $  8,296
  Income taxes payable..................................     1,782         1,384
  Accrued compensation and related benefits.............     8,485        11,672
  Other accrued liabilities.............................     4,201         7,362
  Deferred revenue......................................     4,799         8,078
                                                          --------      --------
          Total current liabilities.....................    29,308        36,792
                                                          --------      --------
LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS...................................       163           116
                                                          --------      --------
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:
  Common stock..........................................    65,924        90,655
  Retained earnings.....................................    20,341        45,208
  Cumulative translation adjustment.....................        --          (123)
                                                          --------      --------
          Total shareholders' equity....................    86,265       135,740
                                                          --------      --------
                                                          $115,736      $172,648



                                                          ========      ========

 
           See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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                                                             NINE MONTHS ENDED
                                                         --------------------------
                                                         JANUARY 23,    JANUARY 29,
                                                            1998           1999
                                                         -----------    -----------
                                                                              
NET SALES..............................................   $115,805       $198,616
COST OF SALES..........................................     47,196         80,938
                                                          --------       --------
     Gross margin......................................     68,609        117,678
                                                          --------       --------
OPERATING EXPENSES:
  Sales and marketing..................................     29,352         51,830
  Research and development.............................     11,738         20,618
  General and administrative...........................      4,701          7,092
                                                          --------       --------
     Total operating expenses..........................     45,791         79,540
                                                          --------       --------
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS.................................     22,818         38,138
OTHER INCOME, NET......................................        640          1,658
                                                          --------       --------
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES.............................     23,458         39,796
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES.............................      8,797         14,929
                                                          --------       --------
NET INCOME.............................................   $ 14,661       $ 24,867
                                                          ========       ========
NET INCOME PER SHARE(1):
  Basic................................................   $   0.23       $   0.37
                                                          ========       ========
  Diluted..............................................   $   0.21       $   0.32
                                                          ========       ========
SHARES USED IN PER SHARE CALCULATION(1):
  Basic................................................     64,562         67,803
                                                          ========       ========
  Diluted..............................................     71,448         76,679
                                                          ========       ========

 
- -------------------------
(1) Share and per share amounts have been adjusted to reflect the two-for-one
    stock split which was effective December 21, 1998.
 
              See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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                                     (UNAUDITED)
 

                                                          NINE MONTHS ENDED
                                                 ------------------------------------
                                                 JANUARY 23, 1998    JANUARY 29, 1999



                                                 ----------------    ----------------
                                                                           
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
  Net income...................................      $ 14,661            $ 24,867
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
     cash provided by operating activities:
     Depreciation and amortization.............         3,885               7,091
     Provision for doubtful accounts...........           216               5,675
     Deferred income taxes.....................           (77)             (4,683)
     Deferred rent.............................           (29)                (47)
     Changes in assets and liabilities:
       Accounts receivable.....................       (12,989)            (22,199)
       Inventories.............................           875              (3,065)
       Prepaid expenses and other assets.......          (764)             (1,069)
       Accounts payable........................         2,489              (1,745)
       Income taxes payable....................         1,657              11,812
       Accrued compensation and related
          benefits.............................         2,433               3,187
       Other accrued liabilities...............         1,737               3,385
       Deferred revenue........................         2,105               3,279
                                                     --------            --------
          Net cash provided by operating
             activities........................        16,199              26,488
                                                     --------            --------
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
  Purchases of short-term investments..........        (7,600)            (15,230)
  Redemptions of short-term investments........         9,266              17,880
  Purchases of property and equipment..........        (4,886)            (11,615)
  Payment of deposits, net.....................            --              (7,000)
                                                     --------            --------
          Net cash used in investing
             activities........................        (3,220)            (15,965)
                                                     --------            --------
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
  Repayments of long-term obligations..........           (12)                 --
  Proceeds from sale of common stock, net......         4,815              12,048
                                                     --------            --------
          Net cash provided by financing
             activities........................         4,803              12,048
                                                     --------            --------
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS......        17,782              22,571
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
  Beginning of period..........................        21,520              37,315
                                                     --------            --------
  End of period................................      $ 39,302            $ 59,886
                                                     ========            ========
NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
  Deferred stock compensation..................      $    714            $    473
  Income tax benefit from employee stock
     transactions..............................      $     --            $ 12,210
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
  Income taxes paid............................      $  7,138            $  7,031

 
           See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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                                  (UNAUDITED)
 
 1. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
     The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by Network Appliance, Inc. without audit and reflect all adjustments
which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of
our financial position and results of operations for the interim periods. The
statements have been prepared in accordance with the regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Accordingly, they do not include all
information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles.
The results of operations for the nine-month period ended January 29, 1999 are
not necessarily indicative of the operating results to be expected for the full
fiscal year or future operating periods. The information included in this report
should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements



and notes thereto for the fiscal year ended April 30, 1998 and the risk factors
as set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, including, without limitation,
risks relating to history of operating losses, fluctuating operating results,
dependence on new products, rapid technological change, dependence on growth in
the network file server market, expansion of international operations, product
concentration, changing product mix, competition, management of expanding
operations, dependence on high-quality components, dependence on proprietary
technology, intellectual property rights, dependence on key personnel,
volatility of stock price, shares eligible for future sale, the effect of
certain anti-takeover provisions and the Year 2000 Issue. Any party interested
in reviewing these publicly available documents should contact the SEC or our
Chief Financial Officer.
 
 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
     Fiscal Periods -- We operate on a 52-week or 53-week year ending on the
last Friday in April. Fiscal 1999 is a 53-week year. Fiscal 1998 was a 52-week
year. The quarter ended January 29, 1999 includes 13 weeks of operating
activity, compared to 13 weeks of activity for the corresponding period of the
prior fiscal year. The nine months ended January 29, 1999 includes 40 weeks of
activity, compared to 39 weeks of activity for the corresponding period of the
prior fiscal year.
 
     Foreign Currency Translation -- In the first quarter of fiscal 1999, we
determined that the functional currencies of certain of our foreign subsidiaries
had changed from the U.S. dollar to the local currencies. Accordingly, assets
and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries are translated in U.S. dollars at
the exchange rates in effect as of the balance sheet date, and results of
operations for each subsidiary are translated using average rates in effect for
the period presented. Translation adjustments have been included within
shareholders' equity as a cumulative translation adjustment. The effect of the
change in functional currencies did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flow.
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 3. INVENTORIES
 
     Inventories consist of the following:
 

                                           APRIL 30,    JANUARY 29,
                                             1998          1999
                                           ---------    -----------
                                                              
Purchased components.....................   $4,494        $ 4,410
Work in process..........................    1,889          2,825
Finished goods...........................    2,324          4,516
                                            ------        -------
                                            $8,707        $11,751
                                            ======        =======

 
 4. COMMITMENTS
 
     In June 1998, we executed an agreement to acquire 5.9 acres of land in
Sunnyvale, California and the accompanying 127,000 square foot building. Under
terms of the agreement, we paid $5,500 of the $33,750 purchase price as a
nonrefundable deposit. In January 1999, we assigned our rights and obligations
under the agreement to a third-party entity and in exchange received back our
$5,500 deposit. We subsequently entered into a $44,000 operating lease for this
property. Our lease payments will vary based on the London Interbank Offered
Rate (LIBOR) plus a spread. The lease is for five years and can be renewed for
two five-year periods, subject to the approval of the third-party entity. At the
expiration or termination of the lease, we have the option to either purchase
the property for $44,000, or arrange for the sale of the property to a third



party for at least $44,000 with a contingent liability for any deficiency. If
the property is not purchased or sold as described above, we will be obligated
for an additional lease payment of approximately $36,960. The lease also
requires us to maintain specified financial covenants with which we were in
compliance as of January 29, 1999.
 
     In June 1998, we signed a 25-year operating lease requiring annual lease
payments of $3,084, commencing in October 1999, for a 6.2-acre plot in
Sunnyvale, California and an option agreement to purchase the 6.2 acres of land.
Under terms of the option agreement, we paid a $4,500 nonrefundable deposit. The
option allows us to purchase the land, within a 90-day period, commencing in
December 1999 at a purchase price of $23,745. Our rights and obligations under
this agreement may be assigned to third parties, which we intend to do if we can
obtain satisfactory leasing terms.
 
     In August 1998, we entered into an agreement to acquire 6.0 acres of land
in Sunnyvale, California and the accompanying 79,000 square foot building. Under
terms of the agreement, we paid $2,500 of the $16,750 purchase price as a
deposit, including $500 in November 1998 upon satisfaction of certain conditions
under the agreement. The deposits are nonrefundable with limited exceptions. Our
rights and obligations under this agreement may be assigned to third parties,
which we intend to do if we can obtain satisfactory leasing terms.
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     Excluding the commitments related to the aforementioned properties, which
we intend to assign to third parties and establish as operating leases, we
currently have no significant commitments other than commitments under operating
leases.
 
 5. LINE OF CREDIT
 
     In July 1998, we negotiated a $5,000 unsecured revolving credit facility
with a domestic commercial bank. Under terms of the credit facility, which
expires in July 1999, we must maintain various financial covenants. Any
borrowings under this agreement bear interest at either LIBOR plus 1% or at the
Lender's "prime" lending rate, such rate determined at our discretion. In
December 1998, we drew a $2,500 letter of credit against this line of credit to
facilitate payments associated with the August 1998 acquisition of land in
Sunnyvale, California and the accompanying 79,000 square foot building.
 
 6. COMMON STOCK AND NET INCOME PER SHARE
 
     We have adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 128, "Earnings Per Share" (SFAS 128), effective in the third
quarter of fiscal 1998. SFAS 128 requires the presentation of basic and diluted
net income per share. Basic net income per share is computed by dividing income
available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for that period. Diluted net income per share is computed giving
effect to all dilutive potential shares that were outstanding during the period.
Dilutive potential common shares consist of incremental common shares subject to
repurchase and common shares issuable upon exercise of stock options.
 
     On December 21, 1998, we effected a two-for-one stock split of the
outstanding shares of common stock. All share and per share amounts in these
condensed consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to give effect to
the stock split.
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     The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the
basic and diluted net income per share computations for the periods presented:
 

                                                     NINE MONTHS ENDED
                                                 --------------------------
                                                 JANUARY 23,    JANUARY 29,
                                                    1998           1999
                                                 -----------    -----------
                                                                      
NET INCOME (NUMERATOR):
  Net income, basic and diluted................    $14,661        $24,867
                                                   =======        =======
SHARES (DENOMINATOR):
  Weighted average common shares outstanding...     66,234         68,144
  Weighted average common shares outstanding
     subject to repurchase.....................     (1,672)          (341)
                                                   -------        -------
  Shares used in basic computation.............     64,562         67,803
  Weighted average common shares outstanding
     subject to repurchase.....................      1,672            341
  Common shares issuable upon exercise of stock
     options...................................      5,214          8,535
                                                   -------        -------
  Shares used in diluted computation...........     71,448         76,679
                                                   =======        =======
NET INCOME PER SHARE:
  Basic........................................    $  0.23        $  0.37
                                                   =======        =======
  Diluted......................................    $  0.21        $  0.32
                                                   =======        =======

 
 7. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 
     We have adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 130,
"Reporting Comprehensive Income," as of the first quarter of fiscal 1999. SFAS
No. 130 establishes new rules for the reporting and display of comprehensive
income and its components; however, it has no impact on our net income or
shareholders' equity.
 
     The components of comprehensive income, net of tax, are as follows:
 

                                                     NINE MONTHS ENDED
                                                 --------------------------
                                                 JANUARY 23,    JANUARY 29,
                                                    1998           1999
                                                 -----------    -----------
                                                                      
Net income.....................................    $14,661        $24,867
Change in cumulative translation adjustment....         --           (123)
                                                   -------        -------
Comprehensive income...........................    $14,661        $24,744
                                                   =======        =======

 
 8. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
 
     In June 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, "Disclosures About Segments of an
Enterprise
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                                  (UNAUDITED)
 
and Related Information," which establishes interim and annual reporting
standards for an enterprise's business segments and related disclosures about
its products, services and geographic areas. We have not yet identified our
reporting segments. This statement is effective for us beginning at fiscal year
end 1999. Adoption of this statement is not expected to impact our consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
     In the first quarter of fiscal 1999, we adopted Statement of Position (SOP)
97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition," which provides guidance on applying
generally accepted accounting principles in recognizing revenue for software
transactions. SOP 97-2 requires, among other things, revenue earned on software
arrangements involving multiple elements to be allocated to each element based
on the relative fair values of the elements. Adoption of this statement did not
have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
 
     In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133, "Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," which defines derivatives,
requires that all derivatives be carried at fair value, and provides for hedging
accounting when certain conditions are met. This statement is effective for all
fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999. On a
forward-looking basis, although we have not fully assessed the implications of
this new statement, we do not believe adoption of this statement will have a
material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.
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                                    PART II
 
                     INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS
 
ITEM 14. OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION
 
     The following table sets forth the costs and expenses, other than
underwriting discounts and commissions, payable by us in connection with the
sale of common stock being registered. All amounts are estimates except the SEC
registration fee and the NASD filing fees.
 

                                                                   
SEC Registration fee........................................  $ 36,865
NASD fee....................................................    13,761
Nasdaq National Market listing fee..........................    17,500
Printing and engraving......................................   130,000
Legal fees and expenses of the company......................   250,000
Accounting fees and expenses................................   100,000



Blue sky fees and expenses..................................     2,500
Transfer agent fees.........................................    12,000
Miscellaneous...............................................    37,374
                                                              --------
Total.......................................................  $600,000
                                                              ========

 
ITEM 15. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
 
     We have adopted provisions in our Amended and Restated Articles of
Incorporation that limit the liability of our directors in certain instances. As
permitted by the California General Corporation Law, directors will not be
liable to us for monetary damages arising from a breach of their fiduciary duty
as directors in certain circumstances. See Item 17 of this Registration
Statement regarding the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission as to
indemnification of liabilities arising under the Securities Act. Such limitation
does not affect liability for any breach of a director's duty to us or our
shareholders (i) with respect to approval by the director of any transaction
from which he derives an improper personal benefit, (ii) with respect to acts or
omissions involving an absence of good faith, that he believes to be contrary to
our best interests or the best interest of our shareholders, that involve
intentional misconduct or a knowing and culpable violation of law, that
constitute an unexcused pattern of inattention that amounts to an abdication of
his duty to us or our shareholders, or that show a reckless disregard for his
duty to us or our shareholders in circumstances in which he was, or should have
been, aware, in the ordinary course of performing his duties, of a risk of
serious injury to us or our shareholders or (iii) based on transactions between
us and our directors or another corporation with interrelated directors or on
improper distributions, loans, or guarantees under applicable sections of the
California General Corporation Law. Such limitation of liability also does not
affect the availability of equitable remedies such as injunctive relief or
rescission, although in certain circumstances equitable relief may not be
available as a practical matter. The limitation may relieve the directors of
monetary liability to us for grossly negligent conduct, including conduct in
situations involving attempted takeovers. No claim or litigation is currently
pending against our directors that would be affected by the limitation of
liability.
 
     Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that
we shall indemnify our directors and may indemnify our officers to the fullest
extent permitted
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by California law, including circumstances in which indemnification is otherwise
discretionary under California law.
 
     Reference is made to the form of Underwriting Agreement filed as Exhibit
1.1 to this Registration Statement for certain provisions regarding the
indemnification of officers and directors by the several Underwriters.
 
ITEM 16. EXHIBITS AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
 
(a) Exhibits
 

    EXHIBIT
      NO.                                 DESCRIPTION
    -------                               -----------
                        
     1.1     --   Form of Underwriting Agreement
     2.1(1)  --   Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of March 17,
                  1997, between the Company and IMC, a California corporation
     2.2(1)  --   Agreement of Merger between the Company and IMC as filed
                  with the California Secretary of State on March 17, 1997
     3.1(2)  --   Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company
     3.2(3)  --   Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Articles of
                  Incorporation of the Company
     4.1(4)  --   Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2
     4.2(4)  --   Specimen common stock certificate
     5.1     --   Opinion of Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison LLP



    23.1     --   Independent Auditors' Consent
    23.2     --   Consent of Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison LLP. Reference is
                  made to Exhibit 5.1.
    23.3     --   Independent Auditors' Report on Schedule
    24.1     --   Power of Attorney (see signature page)

 
- -------------------------
(1) Previously filed as an exhibit to our Form 8-K dated March 17, 1997.
 
(2) Previously filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K dated July
    25, 1996.
 
(3) Previously filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated
    March 15, 1999.
 
(4) Previously filed as an exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form S-1
    (No. 33-97864).
 
(b) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule
 
     Schedule II -- Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
 
     Schedules not listed above have been omitted because the information
required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is shown in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
 
ITEM 17. UNDERTAKINGS
 
     We hereby undertake that, for purposes of determining any liability under
the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of our annual report pursuant to Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable,
each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
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1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be
deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered
therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be
the initial bona fide offering thereof.
 
     Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act
may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons pursuant to the
California Corporations Code, our Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws,
indemnification agreements entered into between us and our officers and
directors, the Underwriting Agreement, or otherwise, we have been advised that
in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is
against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act, and is, therefore,
unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such
liabilities (other than the payment by us of expenses incurred or paid by a
director, officer or controlling person in the successful defense of any action,
suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person
in connection with the securities being registered hereunder, we will, unless in
the opinion of our counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent,
submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question of whether such
indemnification by us is against public policy as expressed in the Securities
Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
 
     We hereby undertake that:
 
          (1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities
     Act, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of
     this Registration Statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a
     form of prospectus filed by us pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h)
     under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this Registration
     Statement as of the time it was declared effective.
 
          (2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities
     Act, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall
     be deemed to be a new Registration Statement relating to the securities
     offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be
     deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.



 
                                      II-3

   83
 
                            NETWORK APPLIANCE, INC.
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                   YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 1996, 1997 AND 1998
                                 (IN THOUSANDS)
 

                                 BALANCE AT     CHARGED TO                  BALANCE AT
                                BEGINNING OF    COSTS AND                     END OF
                                   PERIOD        EXPENSES     DEDUCTIONS      PERIOD
                                ------------    ----------    ----------    ----------
                                                                                    
Allowance for doubtful
  accounts:
  1996........................     $  220         $  110        $   --        $  330
  1997........................        330             --            --           330
  1998........................        330            550            69           811
Excess and obsolescence
  inventory reserve:
  1996........................     $  345         $  698        $   --        $1,043
  1997........................      1,043          2,551           578         3,016
  1998........................      3,016          1,302         1,333         2,985
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                                   SIGNATURES
 
     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
Network Appliance, Inc. certifies that it has reasonable ground to believe that
it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this
Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized, in the City of Santa Clara, State of California, on this 24 day
of March, 1999.
 
                                          NETWORK APPLIANCE, INC.
 
                                          By:   /s/ DANIEL J. WARMENHOVEN
                                             -----------------------------------
                                                    Daniel J. Warmenhoven
                                                President and Chief Executive
                                                           Officer
 
                               POWER OF ATTORNEY
 
     KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature
appears below does hereby constitute and appoint, jointly and severally, Daniel
J. Warmenhoven and Jeffry R. Allen, or either of them, as his or her true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and
resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any
and all capacities, to sign the Registration Statement filed herewith and any
and all amendments to said Registration Statement (including post-effective
amendments and registration statements filed pursuant to Rule 462 and
otherwise), and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents
in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting
unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary
to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that
said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
 
     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed this Power of
Attorney as of the date indicated.
 
     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the dates indicated:



 

                 SIGNATURES                              TITLE                  DATE
                 ----------                              -----                  ----
                                                                                
 
          /s/ DANIEL J. WARMENHOVEN            President, Chief           March 24, 1999
- ---------------------------------------------  Executive Officer
            Daniel J. Warmenhoven              (Principal Executive
                                               Officer) and Director
 
             /s/ JEFFRY R. ALLEN               Vice President, Finance    March 24, 1999
- ---------------------------------------------  and Operations and Chief
               Jeffry R. Allen                 Financial Officer
                                               (Principal Financial and
                                               Accounting Officer)
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                 SIGNATURES                              TITLE                  DATE
                 ----------                              -----                  ----
                                                                                
           /s/ DONALD T. VALENTINE             Chairman of the Board      March 24, 1999
- ---------------------------------------------  and Director
             Donald T. Valentine
 
                                               Director
- ---------------------------------------------
                Sanjiv Ahuja
 
                                               Director
- ---------------------------------------------
               Carol A. Bartz
 
             /s/ LARRY R. CARTER               Director                   March 24, 1999
- ---------------------------------------------
               Larry R. Carter
 
                                               Director
- ---------------------------------------------
             Michael A. Hallman
 
             /s/ ROBERT T. WALL                Director                   March 24, 1999
- ---------------------------------------------
               Robert T. Wall
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                               INDEX TO EXHIBITS
 

    EXHIBIT
      NO.                                 DESCRIPTION
    -------                               -----------
                        
     1.1     --   Form of Underwriting Agreement
     2.1(1)  --   Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of March 17,
                  1997, between the Company and IMC, a California corporation
     2.2(1)  --   Agreement of Merger between the Company and IMC as filed
                  with the California Secretary of State on March 17, 1997
     3.1(2)  --   Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company
     3.2(3)  --   Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Articles of
                  Incorporation of the Company
     4.1(4)  --   Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2
     4.2(4)  --   Specimen common stock certificate
     5.1     --   Opinion of Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison LLP



    23.1     --   Independent Auditors' Consent
    23.2     --   Consent of Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison LLP. Reference is
                  made to Exhibit 5.1.
    23.3     --   Independent Auditors' Report on Schedule
    24.1     --   Power of Attorney (see signature page)

 
- -------------------------
(1) Previously filed as an exhibit to our Form 8-K dated March 17, 1997.
 
(2) Previously filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K dated July
    25, 1996.
 
(3) Previously filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated
    March 15, 1999.
 
(4) Previously filed as an exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form S-1
    (No. 33-97864).
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                                                                     EXHIBIT 1.1

                                    2,500,000

                             NETWORK APPLIANCE, INC.

                                  COMMON STOCK

                             UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT

                                                               March  ___, 1999

LEHMAN BROTHERS INC.
As Representatives of the several
  Underwriters named in Schedule 1,
c/o Lehman Brothers Inc.
Three World Financial Center
New York, New York 10285

Dear Sirs:

     Network Appliance, Inc., a California corporation (the "Company"), proposes
to sell an aggregate of 2,500,000 shares (the "Firm Stock") of the Company's
common stock, no par value per share (the "Common Stock"). In addition, the
Company proposes to grant to the underwriters named in Schedule 1 hereto (the
"Underwriters") an option to purchase up to an additional 375,000 shares of
Common Stock on the terms and for the purposes set forth in Section 2 (the
"Option Stock"). The Firm Stock and the Option Stock, if purchased, are
hereinafter collectively called the "Stock." This is to confirm the agreement
concerning the purchase of the Stock from the Company by the Underwriters.

     1.   Representations, Warranties and Agreements of the Company. The Company
represents, warrants and agrees that:

          (a)  A registration statement on Form S-3 and the amendments thereto
with respect to the Stock has (i) been prepared by the Company in conformity
with the requirements of the United States Securities Act of 1933 (the
"Securities Act") and the rules and regulations (the "Rule and Regulations") of
the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission")
thereunder, (ii) been filed with the Commission under the Securities Act and
(iii) become effective under the Securities Act. Copies of such registration
statement and the amendments thereto have been delivered by the Company to you
as the representative (the "Representative") of the Underwriters. As used in
this Agreement, "Effective Time" means the date and the time as of which such
registration statement, or the most recent post-effective
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amendment thereto, if any, was declared effective by the Commission; "Effective
Date" means the date of the Effective Time; "Preliminary Prospectus" means each
prospectus included in such registration statement, or amendments thereof,
before it became effective under the Securities Act and any prospectus filed
with the Commission by the Company with the consent of the Representative
pursuant to Rule 424(a) of the Rules and Regulations; "Registration Statement"
means such registration statement, as amended at the Effective Time, including
any documents incorporated by reference therein at such time and all information
contained in the final prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule
424(b) of the Rules and Regulations in accordance with Section 5(a) hereof and
deemed to be a part of the registration statement as of the Effective Time
pursuant to paragraph (b) of Rule 430A of the Rules and Regulations; and
"Prospectus" means such final prospectus, as first filed with the Commission
pursuant to paragraph (1) or (4) of Rule 424(b) of the Rules and Regulations.
Reference made herein to any Preliminary Prospectus or to the Prospectus shall
be deemed to refer to and include any documents incorporated by reference
therein pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the Securities Act, as of the date



of such Preliminary Prospectus or the Prospectus, as the case may be, and any
reference to any amendment or supplement to any Preliminary Prospectus or the
Prospectus shall be deemed to refer to and include any document filed under the
United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") after the
date of such Preliminary Prospectus or the Prospectus, as the case may be, and
incorporated by reference in such Preliminary Prospectus or the Prospectus, as
the case may be; and any reference to any amendment to the Registration
Statement shall be deemed to include any annual report of the Company filed with
the Commission pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the
Effective Time that is incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement.
The Commission has not issued any order preventing or suspending the use of any
Preliminary Prospectus.

          (b)  The Registration Statement conforms, and the Prospectus and any
further amendments or supplements to the Registration Statement or the
Prospectus will, when they become effective or are filed with the Commission, as
the case may be, conform in all respects to the requirements of the Securities
Act and the Rules and Regulations and do not and will not, as of the applicable
effective date (as to the Registration Statement and any amendment thereto) and
as of the applicable filing date (as to the Prospectus and any amendment or
supplement thereto) contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein not misleading; provided that no representation or warranty
is made as to information contained in or omitted from the Registration
Statement or the Prospectus in reliance upon and in conformity with written
information furnished to the Company through the Representative by or on behalf
of any Underwriter specifically for inclusion therein which information consists
solely of the information specified in Section 8(e).

          (c)  The documents incorporated by reference in the Prospectus, when
they became effective or were filed with the Commission, as the case may be,
conformed in all material respects to the requirements of the Securities Act and
Exchange Act, as applicable, and the rules and regulations of the Commission
thereunder, and none of such documents contained an untrue statement of a
material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein
or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; and any further
documents so filed and
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incorporated by reference in the Prospectus, when such documents become
effective or are filed with Commission, as the case may be, will conform in all
material respects to the requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act,
as applicable, and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder and
will not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements
therein not misleading.

          (d)  The Company and each of its subsidiaries (as defined in Section
15) have been duly incorporated and are validly existing as corporations in good
standing under the laws of their respective jurisdictions of incorporation, are
duly qualified to do business and are in good standing as foreign corporations
in each jurisdiction in which their respective ownership or lease of property or
the conduct of their respective businesses requires such qualification, and have
all power and authority necessary to own or hold their respective properties and
to conduct the businesses in which they are engaged; and none of the
subsidiaries of the Company [(other than ________, ________ and ________
(collectively, the "Significant Subsidiaries"))] is a "significant subsidiary",
as such term is defined in Rule 405 of the Rules and Regulations.

          (e)  The Company has an authorized capitalization as set forth in the
Prospectus, and all of the issued shares of capital stock of the Company have
been duly and validly authorized and issued, are fully paid and non-assessable
and conform to the description thereof contained in the Prospectus; and all of
the issued shares of capital stock of each subsidiary of the Company have been
duly and validly authorized and issued and are fully paid and non-assessable and
(except for directors' qualifying shares, if any) are owned directly or
indirectly by the Company, free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, equities
or claims.

          (f)  The unissued shares of the Stock to be issued and sold by the
Company to the Underwriters hereunder have been duly and validly authorized and,



when issued and delivered against payment therefor as provided herein, will be
duly and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and the Stock will
conform to the description thereof contained in the Prospectus.

          (g)  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered
by the Company.

          (h)  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the
Company and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not
conflict with or result in a breach or violation of any of the terms or
provisions of, or constitute a default under, any indenture, mortgage, deed of
trust, loan agreement or other agreement or instrument to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries is bound or to which any of the property or assets of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries is subject, nor will such actions result in any
violation of the provisions of the charter or by-laws of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or any statute or any order, rule or regulation of any court or
governmental agency or body having jurisdiction over the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or any of their properties or assets; and except for the
registration of the Stock and such consents, approvals, authorizations,
registrations or qualifications as may be required under the Exchange Act and
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applicable state securities laws in connection with the purchase and
distribution of the Stock by the Underwriters, no consent, approval,
authorization or order of, or filing or registration with, any such court or
governmental agency or body is required for the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby.

          (i)  There are no contracts, agreements or understandings between the
Company and any person granting such person the right to require the Company to
file a registration statement under the Securities Act with respect to any
securities of the Company owned or to be owned by such person or to require the
Company to include such securities in the securities registered pursuant to the
Registration Statement or in any securities being registered pursuant to any
other registration statement filed by the Company under the Securities Act.

          (j)  Except as described in the Prospectus, the Company has not sold
or issued any shares of Common Stock during the six-month period preceding the
date of the Prospectus, including any sales pursuant to Rule 144A under, or
Regulations D or S of, the Securities Act, other than shares issued pursuant to
employee benefit plans, qualified stock option plans or other employee
compensation plans or pursuant to outstanding options, rights or warrants.

          (k)  Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has sustained,
since the date of the latest audited financial statements included or
incorporated by reference in the Prospectus, any material loss or interference
with its business from fire, explosion, flood or other calamity, whether or not
covered by insurance, or from any labor dispute or court or governmental action,
order or decree, otherwise than as set forth or contemplated in the Prospectus;
and, since such date, there has not been any change in the capital stock or
long-term debt of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any material adverse
change, or any development involving a prospective material adverse change, in
or affecting the general affairs, management, financial position, shareholders'
equity or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries, otherwise
than as set forth or contemplated in the Prospectus.

          (l)  The financial statements (including the related notes and
supporting schedules) filed as part of the Registration Statement or included or
incorporated by reference in the Prospectus present fairly the financial
condition and results of operations of the entities purported to be shown
thereby, at the dates and for the periods indicated, and have been prepared in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent
basis throughout the periods involved.

          (m)  Deloitte & Touche LLP, who have certified certain financial
statements of the Company, whose report appears in the Prospectus or is
incorporated by reference therein and who have delivered the initial letter
referred to in Section 7(f) hereof, were independent accountants as required by
the Securities Act and the Rules and Regulations during the periods covered by



the financial statements contained or incorporated in the Prospectus on which
they reported.

          (n)  Except as described in the Prospectus, the Company and each of
its subsidiaries own or possess adequate rights to use all material patents,
patent applications,
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trademarks, service marks, trade names, trademark registrations, service mark
registrations, copyrights and licenses necessary for the conduct of their
respective businesses and have no reason to believe that the conduct of their
respective businesses will conflict with, and have not received any notice of
any claim of conflict with, any such rights of others.

          (o)  There are no legal or governmental proceedings pending to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or of which any property or
assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is the subject which, if
determined adversely to the Company or any of its subsidiaries, might have a
material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, shareholders'
equity, results of operations, business or prospects of the Company and its
subsidiaries; and to the best of the Company's knowledge, no such proceedings
are threatened or contemplated by governmental authorities or threatened by
others.

          (p)  The conditions for use of Form S-3, as set forth in the General
Instructions thereto, have been satisfied.

          (q)  There are no contracts or other documents which are required to
be described in the Prospectus or filed as exhibits to the Registration
Statement by the Securities Act or by the Rules and Regulations which have not
been described in the Prospectus or filed as exhibits to the Registration
Statement or incorporated therein by reference as permitted by the Rules and
Regulations.

          (r)  Since the date as of which information is given in the Prospectus
through the date hereof, and except as may otherwise be disclosed in the
Prospectus, the Company has not (i) issued or granted any securities, (ii)
incurred any liability or obligation, direct or contingent, other than
liabilities and obligations which were incurred in the ordinary course of
business, (iii) entered into any transaction not in the ordinary course of
business or (iv) declared or paid any dividend on its capital stock.

     2.   Purchase of the Stock by the Underwriters. On the basis of the
representations and warranties contained in Section 1, and subject to the terms
and conditions of, this Agreement, the Company agrees to sell 2,500,000 shares
of the Firm Stock to the several Underwriters and each of the Underwriters,
severally and not jointly, agrees to purchase the number of shares of the Firm
Stock set forth opposite that Underwriter's name in Schedule 1 hereto. The
respective purchase obligations of the Underwriters with respect to the Firm
Stock shall be rounded among the Underwriters to avoid fractional shares, as the
Representative may determine.

     In addition, the Company grants to the Underwriters an option to purchase
up to 375,000 shares of Option Stock. Such option is granted for the purpose of
covering over-allotments in the sale of Firm Stock and is exercisable as
provided in Section 4 hereof. Shares of Option Stock shall be purchased
severally for the account of the Underwriters in proportion to the number of
shares of Firm Stock set forth opposite the name of such Underwriters in
Schedule 1 hereto. The respective purchase obligations of each Underwriter with
respect to the Option Stock shall be adjusted by the
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Representative so that no Underwriter shall be obligated to purchase Option
Stock other than in 100 share amounts. The price of both the Firm Stock and any
Option Stock shall be $_____ per share.

     The Company shall not be obligated to deliver any of the Stock to be



delivered on any Delivery Date (as hereinafter defined), as the case may be,
except upon payment for all the Stock to be purchased on such Delivery Date as
provided herein.

     3.   Offering of Stock by the Underwriters.

     Upon authorization by the Representative of the release of the Firm Stock,
the several Underwriters propose to offer the Firm Stock for sale upon the terms
and conditions set forth in the Prospectus.

     4.   Delivery of and Payment for the Stock. Delivery of and payment for the
Firm Stock shall be made at the office of Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison LLP, One
Market Street, Spear Street Tower, San Francisco, California 94105, at 10:00
A.M., New York City time, on the fourth full business day following the date of
this Agreement or at such other date or place as shall be determined by
agreement between the Representative and the Company. This date and time are
sometimes referred to as the "First Delivery Date." On the First Delivery Date,
the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered certificates representing the
Firm Stock to the Representative for the account of each Underwriter against
payment to or upon the order of the Company of the purchase price by wire
transfer in immediately available funds. Time shall be of the essence, and
delivery at the time and place specified pursuant to this Agreement is a further
condition of the obligation of each Underwriter hereunder. Upon delivery, the
Firm Stock shall be registered in such names and in such denominations as the
Representative shall request in writing not less than two full business days
prior to the First Delivery Date. For the purpose of expediting the checking and
packaging of the certificates for the Firm Stock, the Company shall make the
certificates representing the Firm Stock available for inspection by the
Representative in New York, New York, not later than 2:00 P.M., New York City
time, on the business day prior to the First Delivery Date.

     The option granted in Section 2 will expire 30 days after the date of this
Agreement and may be exercised in whole or in part from time to time by written
notice being given to the Company by the Representative. Such notice shall set
forth the aggregate number of shares of Option Stock as to which the option is
being exercised, the names in which the shares of Option Stock are to be
registered, the denominations in which the shares of Option Stock are to be
issued and the date and time, as determined by the Representative, when the
shares of Option Stock are to be delivered; provided, however, that this date
and time shall not be earlier than the First Delivery Date nor earlier than the
second business day after the date on which the option shall have been exercised
nor later than the fifth business day after the date on which the option shall
have been exercised. The date and time the shares of Option Stock are delivered
are sometimes referred to as a "Second Delivery Date" and the First Delivery
Date and any Second Delivery Date are sometimes each referred to as a "Delivery
Date".
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     Delivery of and payment for the Option Stock shall be made at the place
specified in the first sentence of the first paragraph of this Section 4 (or at
such other place as shall be determined by agreement between the Representative
and the Company) at 10:00 A.M., New York City time, on such Second Delivery
Date. On such Second Delivery Date, the Company shall deliver or cause to be
delivered the certificates representing the Option Stock to the Representative
for the account of each Underwriter against payment to or upon the order of the
Company of the purchase price by wire transfer in immediately available funds.
Time shall be of the essence, and delivery at the time and place specified
pursuant to this Agreement is a further condition of the obligation of each
Underwriter hereunder. Upon delivery, the Option Stock shall be registered in
such names and in such denominations as the Representative shall request in the
aforesaid written notice. For the purpose of expediting the checking and
packaging of the certificates for the Option Stock, the Company shall make the
certificates representing the Option Stock available for inspection by the
Representative in New York, New York, not later than 2:00 P.M., New York City
time, on the business day prior to such Second Delivery Date.

     5.   Further Agreements of the Company. The Company agrees:

          (a)  To prepare the Prospectus in a form approved by the
Representative and to file such Prospectus pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the
Securities Act not later than Commission's close of business on the second



business day following the execution and delivery of this Agreement or, if
applicable, such earlier time as may be required by Rule 430A(a)(3) under the
Securities Act; to make no further amendment or any supplement to the
Registration Statement or to the Prospectus prior to the last Delivery Date
except as permitted herein; to advise the Representative, promptly after it
receives notice thereof, of the time when any amendment to the Registration
Statement has been filed or becomes effective or any supplement to the
Prospectus or any amended Prospectus has been filed and to furnish the
Representative with copies thereof; to file promptly all reports and any
definitive proxy or information statements required to be filed by the Company
with the Commission pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act subsequent to the date of the Prospectus and for so long as the
delivery of a prospectus is required in connection with the offering or sale of
the Stock; to advise the Representative, promptly after it receives notice
thereof, of the issuance by the Commission of any stop order or of any order
preventing or suspending the use of any Preliminary Prospectus or the
Prospectus, of the suspension of the qualification of the Stock for offering or
sale in any jurisdiction, of the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for
any such purpose, or of any request by the Commission for the amending or
supplementing of the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or for additional
information; and, in the event of the issuance of any stop order or of any order
preventing or suspending the use of any Preliminary Prospectus or the Prospectus
or suspending any such qualification, to use promptly its best efforts to obtain
its withdrawal.

          (b)  To furnish promptly to the Representative and to counsel for the
Underwriters a signed copy of the Registration Statement as originally filed
with the Commission, and each amendment thereto filed with the Commission,
including all consents and exhibits filed therewith.
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          (c)  To deliver promptly to the Representative such number of the
following documents as the Representative shall reasonably request: (i)
conformed copies of the Registration Statement as originally filed with the
Commission and each amendment thereto (in each case excluding exhibits other
than this Agreement), (ii) each Preliminary Prospectus, the Prospectus and any
amended or supplemented Prospectus and (iii) any document incorporated by
reference in the Prospectus (excluding exhibits thereto); and, if the delivery
of a prospectus is required at any time after the Effective Time in connection
with the offering or sale of the Stock or any other securities relating thereto
and if at such time any events shall have occurred as a result of which the
Prospectus as then amended or supplemented would include an untrue statement of
a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make
the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were
made when such Prospectus is delivered, not misleading, or, if for any other
reason it shall be necessary to amend or supplement the Prospectus or to file
under the Exchange Act any document incorporated by reference in the Prospectus
in order to comply with the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, to notify the
Representative and, upon its request, to file such document and to prepare and
furnish without charge to each Underwriter and to any dealer in securities as
many copies as the Representative may from time to time reasonably request of an
amended or supplemented Prospectus which will correct such statement or omission
or effect such compliance.

          (d)  To file promptly with the Commission any amendment to the
Registration Statement or the Prospectus or any supplement to the Prospectus
that may, in the judgment of the Company or the Representative, be required by
the Securities Act or requested by the Commission.

          (e)  Prior to filing with the Commission any amendment to the
Registration Statement or supplement to the Prospectus, any document
incorporated by reference in the Prospectus or any Prospectus pursuant to Rule
424 of the Rules and Regulations, to furnish a copy thereof to the
Representative and counsel for the Underwriters and obtain the consent of the
Representative to the filing.

          (f)  As soon as practicable after the Effective Date (it being
understood that the Company shall have until at least 455 days after the end of
the Company's current fiscal quarter), to make generally available to the
Company's security holders and to deliver to the Representative an earnings
statement of the Company and its subsidiaries (which need not be audited)



complying with Section 11(a) of the Securities Act and the Rules and Regulations
(including, at the option of the Company, Rule 158).

          (g)  For a period of five years following the Effective Date, to
furnish to the Representative copies of all materials furnished by the Company
to its shareholders and all public reports and all reports and financial
statements furnished by the Company to the principal national securities
exchange upon which the Common Stock may be listed pursuant to requirements of
or agreements with such exchange or to the Commission pursuant to the Exchange
Act or any rule or regulation of the Commission thereunder.
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          (h)  Promptly from time to time to take such action as the
Representative may reasonably request to qualify the Stock for offering and sale
under the securities laws of such jurisdictions as the Representative may
request and to comply with such laws so as to permit the continuance of sales
and dealings therein in such jurisdictions for as long as may be necessary to
complete the distribution of the Stock; provided that in connection therewith
the Company shall not be required to qualify as a foreign corporation or to file
a general consent to service of process in any jurisdiction.

          (i)  For a period of [90] days from the date of the Prospectus, not
to, directly or indirectly, (1) offer for sale, sell, pledge or otherwise
dispose of (or enter into any transaction or device which is designed to, or
could be expected to, result in the disposition by any person at any time in the
future of) any shares of Common Stock or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for Common Stock (other than the shares issued pursuant to employee
benefit plans, qualified stock option plans or other employee compensation plans
existing on the date hereof or pursuant to currently outstanding options,
warrants or rights), or sell or grant options, rights or warrants with respect
to any shares of Common Stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for
Common Stock (other than the grant of options pursuant to option plans existing
on the date hereof), or (2) enter into any swap or other derivatives transaction
that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic benefits or
risks of ownership of such shares of Common Stock, whether any such transaction
described in clause (1) or (2) above is to be settled by delivery of Common
Stock or other securities, in cash or otherwise, in each case without the prior
written consent of Lehman Brothers Inc.

          (j)  Prior to the Effective Date, to apply for the inclusion of the
Stock on the Nasdaq National Market and to use its best efforts to complete that
inclusion, subject only to official notice of issuance prior to the First
Delivery Date.

     6.   Expenses. The Company agrees to pay (a) the costs incident to the
authorization, issuance, sale and delivery of the Stock and any taxes payable in
that connection; (b) the costs incident to the preparation, printing and filing
under the Securities Act of the Registration Statement and any amendments and
exhibits thereto; (c) the costs of distributing the Registration Statement as
originally filed and each amendment thereto and any post-effective amendments
thereof (including, in each case, exhibits), any Preliminary Prospectus, the
Prospectus and any amendment or supplement to the Prospectus or any document
incorporated by reference therein, all as provided in this Agreement; (d) the
costs of producing and distributing this Agreement and any other related
documents in connection with the offering, purchase, sale and delivery of the
Stock; (e) the filing fees incident to securing any required review by the
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. of the terms of sale of the
Stock; (f) any applicable listing or other fees; (g) the fees and expenses of
qualifying the Stock under the securities laws of the several jurisdictions as
provided in Section 5(h) and of preparing, printing and distributing a Blue Sky
memorandum (including related fees and expenses of counsel to the Underwriters);
and (i) all other costs and expenses incident to the performance of the
obligations of the Company; provided that, except as provided in this Section 6
and in Section 11 the Underwriters shall pay their own costs and
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expenses, including the costs and expenses of their counsel, any transfer taxes



on the Stock which they may sell and the expenses of advertising any offering of
the Stock made by the Underwriters.

     7.   Conditions of Underwriters' Obligations. The respective obligations of
the Underwriters hereunder are subject to the accuracy, when made and on each
Delivery Date, of the representations and warranties of the Company contained
herein, to the performance by the Company of its respective obligations
hereunder, and to each of the following additional terms and conditions:

          (a)  The Prospectus shall have been timely filed with the Commission
          in accordance with Section 5(a); no stop order suspending the
          effectiveness of the Registration Statement or any part thereof shall
          have been issued and no proceeding for that purpose shall have been
          initiated or threatened by the Commission; and any request of the
          Commission for inclusion of additional information in the Registration
          Statement or the Prospectus or otherwise shall have been complied
          with.

          (b)  No Underwriter shall have discovered and disclosed to the Company
          on or prior to such Delivery Date that the Registration Statement or
          the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto contains an
          untrue statement of a fact which, in the opinion of Wilson Sonsini
          Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation, counsel for the
          Underwriters, is material or omits to state a fact which, in the
          opinion of such counsel, is material and is required to be stated
          therein or is necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.

          (c)  All corporate proceedings and other legal matters incident to the
          authorization, form and validity of this Agreement, the Stock, the
          Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and all other legal matters
          relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby
          shall be reasonably satisfactory in all material respects to counsel
          for the Underwriters, and the Company shall have furnished to such
          counsel all documents and information that they may reasonably request
          to enable them to pass upon such matters.

          (d)  Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison LLP shall have furnished to the
          Representative its written opinion, as counsel to the Company,
          addressed to the Underwriters and dated such Delivery Date, in form
          and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Representative, to the
          effect that:

               (i)  The Company and each of its subsidiaries have been duly
               incorporated and are validly existing as corporations in good
               standing under the laws of their respective jurisdictions of
               incorporation, are duly qualified to do business and are in good
               standing as foreign corporations in each jurisdiction in which
               their respective ownership or lease of property or the conduct of
               their respective businesses requires such qualification and have
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               all power and authority necessary to own or hold their respective
               properties and conduct the businesses in which they are engaged;

               (ii) The Company has an authorized capitalization as set forth in
               the Prospectus, and all of the issued shares of capital stock of
               the Company (including the shares of Stock being delivered on
               such Delivery Date) have been duly and validly authorized and
               issued, are fully paid and non-assessable and conform to the
               description thereof contained in the Prospectus; and all of the
               issued shares of capital stock of each subsidiary of the Company
               have been duly and validly authorized and issued and are fully
               paid, non-assessable and (except for directors' qualifying
               shares, if any) are owned directly or indirectly by the Company,
               free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, equities or claims;

               (iii) There are no preemptive or other rights to subscribe for or
               to purchase, nor any restriction upon the voting or transfer of,
               any shares of the Stock pursuant to the Company's charter or
               by-laws or any agreement or other instrument known to such



               counsel;

               (iv) To the best of such counsel's knowledge and other than as
               set forth in the Prospectus, there are no legal or governmental
               proceedings pending to which the Company or any of its
               subsidiaries is a party or of which any property or assets of the
               Company or any of its subsidiaries is the subject which, if
               determined adversely to the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
               might have a material adverse effect on the consolidated
               financial position, shareholders' equity, results of operations,
               business or prospects of the Company and its subsidiaries; and,
               to the best of such counsel's knowledge, no such proceedings are
               threatened or contemplated by governmental authorities or
               threatened by others;

               (v)  The Registration Statement was declared effective under the
               Securities Act as of the date and time specified in such opinion,
               the Prospectus was filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule
               424(b) of the Rules and Regulations specified in such opinion on
               the date specified therein and no stop order suspending the
               effectiveness of the Registration Statement has been issued and,
               to the knowledge of such counsel, no proceeding for that purpose
               is pending or threatened by the Commission;

               (vi) The Registration Statement and the Prospectus and any
               further amendments or supplements thereto made by the Company
               prior to such Delivery Date (other than the financial statements
               and related schedules therein, as to which such counsel need
               express no opinion) comply as to form in all material respects
               with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Rules and
               Regulations; and the documents incorporated by reference in
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               the Prospectus and any amendment or supplement to any such
               incorporated document made by the Company prior to such Delivery
               Date (other than the financial statements and related schedules
               therein, as to which such counsel need express no opinion), when
               they were filed with the Commission complied as to form in all
               material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act and
               the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder;

               (vii) To the best of such counsel's knowledge, there are no
               contracts or other documents which are required to be described
               in the Prospectus or filed as exhibits to the Registration
               Statement by the Securities Act or by the Rules and Regulations
               which have not been described or filed as exhibits to the
               Registration Statement or incorporated therein by reference as
               permitted by the Rules and Regulations;

               (viii) This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and
               delivered by the Company, and when duly executed by the proper
               officers of the Company (assuming due execution and delivery by
               the Representative) and delivered by the Company will constitute
               a valid and binding agreement of the Company enforceable against
               the Company in accordance with its terms, subject to the effects
               of bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization,
               moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting
               creditors' rights generally, general equitable principles
               (whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law) or an
               implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing;

               (ix) The issue and sale of the shares of Stock being delivered on
               such Delivery Date by the Company and the compliance by the
               Company with all of the provisions of this Agreement and the
               consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not
               conflict with or result in a breach or violation of any of the
               terms or provisions of, or constitute a default under, any
               indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan agreement or other
               agreement or instrument known to such counsel to which the
               Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which the
               Company or any of its subsidiaries is bound or to which any of



               the property or assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
               is subject, nor will such actions result in any violation of the
               provisions of the charter or by-laws of the Company or any of its
               subsidiaries or any statute or any order, rule or regulation
               known to such counsel of any court or governmental agency or body
               having jurisdiction over the Company or any of its subsidiaries
               or any of their properties or assets; and, except for the
               registration of the Stock under the Securities Act and such
               consents, approvals, authorizations, registrations or
               qualifications as may be required under the Exchange Act and
               applicable state securities laws in connection with the purchase
               and distribution of the Stock by the Underwriters, no consent,
               approval, authorization or order of,
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               or filing or registration with, any such court or governmental
               agency or body is required for the execution, delivery and
               performance of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation
               of the transactions contemplated hereby; and

               (x)  To the best of such counsel's knowledge, there are no
               contracts, agreements or understandings between the Company and
               any person granting such person the right to require the Company
               to file a registration statement under the Securities Act with
               respect to any securities of the Company owned or to be owned by
               such person or to require the Company to include such securities
               in the securities registered pursuant to the Registration
               Statement or in any securities being registered pursuant to any
               other registration statement filed by the Company under the
               Securities Act.

          In rendering such opinion, such counsel may (i) state that its opinion
          is limited to matters governed by the Federal laws of the United
          States of America and the laws of the State of California; (ii) rely
          (to the extent such counsel deems proper and specifies in its
          opinion), as to matters involving the application of
          [______________]upon the opinion of other counsel of good standing,
          provided that such other counsel is satisfactory to counsel for the
          Underwriters and furnishes a copy of its opinion to the
          Representative; and (iii) in respect of matters of fact, upon
          certificates of officers of the Company or its subsidiaries, provided
          that such counsel shall state that it believes that both the
          Underwriters and it are justified in relying upon such certificates.
          Such counsel shall also have furnished to the Representative a written
          statement, addressed to the Underwriters and dated such Delivery Date,
          in form and substance satisfactory to the Representative, to the
          effect that (x) such counsel has acted as counsel to the Company on a
          regular basis (although the Company is also represented by its General
          Counsel and in certain other matters, by other outside counsel), has
          acted as counsel to the Company in connection with previous financing
          transactions and has acted as counsel to the Company in connection
          with the preparation of the Registration Statement, and (y) based on
          the foregoing, no facts have come to the attention of such counsel
          which lead it to believe that (I) the Registration Statement, as of
          the Effective Date, contained any untrue statement of a material fact
          or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or
          necessary in order to make the statements therein not misleading, or
          that the Prospectus contains any untrue statement of a material fact
          or omits to state a material fact required to be stated therein or
          necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the
          circumstances under which they were made, not misleading or (II) any
          document incorporated by reference in the Prospectus, when they were
          filed with the Commission contained an untrue statement of a material
          fact or omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make
          the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they
          were made, not misleading. The foregoing opinion and statement may be
          qualified by a
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          statement to the effect that such counsel does not assume any
          responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the
          statements contained in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus
          except for the statements made in the Prospectus under the captions
          "Description of Capital Stock" and "Indemnification of Directors and
          Officers", insofar as such statements relate to the Stock and concern
          legal matters.

          (e)  The Representative shall have received from Wilson Sonsini
          Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation, counsel for the
          Underwriters, such opinion or opinions, dated such Delivery Date, with
          respect to the issuance and sale of the Stock, the Registration
          Statement, the Prospectus and other related matters as the
          Representative may reasonably require, and the Company shall have
          furnished to such counsel such documents as they reasonably request
          for the purpose of enabling them to pass upon such matters.

          (f)  At the time of execution of this Agreement, the Representative
          shall have received from Deloitte & Touche LLP a letter, in form and
          substance satisfactory to the Representatives, addressed to the
          Underwriters and dated the date hereof (i) confirming that they are
          independent public accountants within the meaning of the Securities
          Act and are in compliance with the applicable requirements relating to
          the qualification of accountants under Rule 2-01 of Regulation S-X of
          the Commission, (ii) stating, as of the date hereof (or, with respect
          to matters involving changes or developments since the respective
          dates as of which specified financial information is given in the
          Prospectus, as of a date not more than five days prior to the date
          hereof), the conclusions and findings of such firm with respect to the
          financial information and other matters ordinarily covered by
          accountants' "comfort letters" to underwriters in connection with
          registered public offerings.

          (g)  With respect to the letter of Deloitte & Touche LLP referred to
          in the preceding paragraph and delivered to the Representative
          concurrently with the execution of this Agreement (the "initial
          letter"), the Company shall have furnished to the Representative a
          letter (the "bring-down letter") of such accountants, addressed to the
          Underwriters and dated such Delivery Date (i) confirming that they are
          independent public accountants within the meaning of the Securities
          Act and are in compliance with the applicable requirements relating to
          the qualification of accountants under Rule 2-01 of Regulation S-X of
          the Commission, (ii) stating, as of the date of the bring-down letter
          (or, with respect to matters involving changes or developments since
          the respective dates as of which specified financial information is
          given in the Prospectus, as of a date not more than five days prior to
          the date of the bring-down letter), the conclusions and findings of
          such firm with respect to the financial information and other matters
          covered by the initial letter and (iii) confirming in all material
          respects the conclusions and findings set forth in the initial letter.
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          (h)  The Company shall have furnished to the Representative a
          certificate, dated such Delivery Date, of its Chairman of the Board,
          its President or a Vice President and its Chief Financial Officer
          stating that:

                    (i)  The representations, warranties and agreements of the
               Company in Section 1 are true and correct as of such Delivery
               Date; the Company has complied with all its agreements contained
               herein; and the conditions set forth in Sections 7(a) and 7(i)
               have been fulfilled; and

                    (ii) They have carefully examined the Registration Statement
               and the Prospectus and, in their opinion (A) as of the Effective
               Date, the Registration Statement and Prospectus did not include
               any untrue statement of a material fact and did not omit to state
               a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
               make the statements therein not misleading and (B) since the



               Effective Date no event has occurred which should have been set
               forth in a supplement or amendment to the Registration Statement
               or the Prospectus.

          (i)  (i) Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries shall have
          sustained since the date of the latest audited financial statements
          included or incorporated by reference in the Prospectus any loss or
          interference with its business from fire, explosion, flood or other
          calamity, whether or not covered by insurance, or from any labor
          dispute or court or governmental action, order or decree, otherwise
          than as set forth or contemplated in the Prospectus or (ii) since such
          date there shall not have been any change in the capital stock or
          long-term debt of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
          change, or any development involving a prospective change, in or
          affecting the general affairs, management, financial position,
          shareholders' equity or results of operations of the Company and its
          subsidiaries, otherwise than as set forth or contemplated in the
          Prospectus, the effect of which, in any such case described in clause
          (i) or (ii), is, in the judgment of the Representative, so material
          and adverse as to make it impracticable or inadvisable to proceed with
          the public offering or the delivery of the Stock being delivered on
          such Delivery Date on the terms and in the manner contemplated in the
          Prospectus.

          (j)  Subsequent to the execution and delivery of this Agreement there
          shall not have occurred any of the following: (i) trading in
          securities generally on the New York Stock Exchange or the American
          Stock Exchange or in the over-the-counter market, or trading in any
          securities of the Company on any exchange or in the over-the-counter
          market, shall have been suspended or minimum prices shall have been
          established on any such exchange or such market by the Commission, by
          such exchange or by any other regulatory body or governmental
          authority having jurisdiction, (ii) a banking moratorium shall have
          been declared by Federal or state authorities, (iii) the United States
          shall have become engaged in hostilities, there shall have been an
          escalation in hostilities involving the United States or there shall
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          have been a declaration of a national emergency or war by the United
          States or (iv) there shall have occurred such a material adverse
          change in general economic, political or financial conditions (or the
          effect of international conditions on the financial markets in the
          United States shall be such) as to make it, in the judgment of a
          majority in interest of the several Underwriters, impracticable or
          inadvisable to proceed with the public offering or delivery of the
          Stock being delivered on such Delivery Date on the terms and in the
          manner contemplated in the Prospectus.

          (k)  The Nasdaq National Market shall have approved the Stock for
          inclusion, subject only to official notice of issuance.

          All opinions, letters, evidence and certificates mentioned above or
elsewhere in this Agreement shall be deemed to be in compliance with the
provisions hereof only if they are in form and substance reasonably satisfactory
to counsel for the Underwriters.

     8.   Indemnification and Contribution.

          (a)  The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless each Underwriter,
its officers and employees and each person, if any, who controls any Underwriter
within the meaning of the Securities Act, from and against any loss, claim,
damage or liability, joint or several, or any action in respect thereof
(including, but not limited to, any loss, claim, damage, liability or action
relating to purchases and sales of Stock), to which that Underwriter, officer,
employee or controlling person may become subject, under the Securities Act or
otherwise, insofar as such loss, claim, damage, liability or action arises out
of, or is based upon, (i) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a
material fact contained in any Preliminary Prospectus, the Registration
Statement or the Prospectus or in any amendment or supplement thereto, (ii) the
omission or alleged omission to state in any Preliminary Prospectus, the
Registration Statement or the Prospectus, or in any amendment or supplement



thereto, or in any Blue Sky Application any material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or (iii) any
act or failure to act or any alleged act or failure to act by any Underwriter in
connection with, or relating in any manner to, the Stock or the offering
contemplated hereby, and which is included as part of or referred to in any
loss, claim, damage, liability or action arising out of or based upon matters
covered by clause (i) or (ii) above (provided that the Company shall not be
liable under this clause (iii) to the extent that it is determined in a final
judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that such loss, claim, damage,
liability or action resulted directly from any such acts or failures to act
undertaken or omitted to be taken by such Underwriter through its gross
negligence or willful misconduct), and shall reimburse each Underwriter and each
such officer, employee or controlling person promptly upon demand for any legal
or other expenses reasonably incurred by that Underwriter, officer, employee or
controlling person in connection with investigating or defending or preparing to
defend against any such loss, claim, damage, liability or action as such
expenses are incurred; provided, however, that the Company shall not be liable
in any such case to the extent that any such loss, claim, damage, liability or
action arises out of, or is based upon, any untrue statement or alleged untrue
statement or omission or alleged omission made in any Preliminary Prospectus,
the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or in any such
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amendment or supplement, in reliance upon and in conformity with written
information concerning such Underwriter furnished to the Company through the
Representative by or on behalf of any Underwriter specifically for inclusion
therein which information consists solely of the information specified in
Section 8(e). The foregoing indemnity agreement is in addition to any liability
which the Company may otherwise have to any Underwriter or to any officer,
employee or controlling person of that Underwriter.

          (b)  Each Underwriter, severally and not jointly, shall indemnify and
hold harmless the Company, its officers and employees, each of its directors,
and each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of the
Securities Act, from and against any loss, claim, damage or liability, joint or
several, or any action in respect thereof, to which the Company or any such
director, officer or controlling person may become subject, under the Securities
Act or otherwise, insofar as such loss, claim, damage, liability or action
arises out of, or is based upon, (i) any untrue statement or alleged untrue
statement of a material fact contained (A) in any Preliminary Prospectus, the
Registration Statement or the Prospectus or in any amendment or supplement
thereto, or (B) in any Blue Sky application or (ii) the omission or alleged
omission to state in any Preliminary Prospectus, the Registration Statement or
the Prospectus, or in any amendment or supplement thereto, or in any Blue Sky
application any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make
the statements therein not misleading, but in each case only to the extent that
the untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission
was made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information concerning
such Underwriter furnished to the Company through the Representative by or on
behalf of that Underwriter specifically for inclusion therein, and shall
reimburse the Company and any such director, officer or controlling person for
any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by the Company or any such
director, officer or controlling person in connection with investigating or
defending or preparing to defend against any such loss, claim, damage, liability
or action as such expenses are incurred. The foregoing indemnity agreement is in
addition to any liability which any Underwriter may otherwise have to the
Company or any such director, officer, employee or controlling person.

          (c)  Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party under this Section
8 of notice of any claim or the commencement of any action, the indemnified
party shall, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against the
indemnifying party under this Section 8, notify the indemnifying party in
writing of the claim or the commencement of that action; provided, however, that
the failure to notify the indemnifying party shall not relieve it from any
liability which it may have under this Section 8 except to the extent it has
been materially prejudiced by such failure and, provided further, that the
failure to notify the indemnifying party shall not relieve it from any liability
which it may have to an indemnified party otherwise than under this Section 8.
If any such claim or action shall be brought against an indemnified party, and
it shall notify the indemnifying party thereof, the indemnifying party shall be
entitled to participate therein and, to the extent that it wishes, jointly with



any other similarly notified indemnifying party, to assume the defense thereof
with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party. After notice from
the indemnifying party to the indemnified party of its election to assume the
defense of such claim or action, the indemnifying party shall not be liable to
the indemnified party under this Section 8 for any legal or other expenses
subsequently incurred by the indemnified party in connection with the defense
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thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation; provided, however, that
the Representative shall have the right to employ counsel to represent jointly
the Representative and those other Underwriters and their respective officers,
employees and controlling persons who may be subject to liability arising out of
any claim in respect of which indemnity may be sought by the Underwriters
against the Company under this Section 8 if, in the reasonable judgment of the
Representative, it is advisable for the Representative and those Underwriters,
officers, employees and controlling persons to be jointly represented by
separate counsel, and in that event the fees and expenses of such separate
counsel shall be paid by the Company. No indemnifying party shall (i) without
the prior written consent of the indemnified parties (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld), settle or compromise or consent to the entry of any
judgment with respect to any pending or threatened claim, action, suit or
proceeding in respect of which indemnification or contribution may be sought
hereunder (whether or not the indemnified parties are actual or potential
parties to such claim or action) unless such settlement, compromise or consent
includes an unconditional release of each indemnified party from all liability
arising out of such claim, action, suit or proceeding, or (ii) be liable for any
settlement of any such action effected without its written consent (which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), but if settled with the consent of
the indemnifying party or if there be a final judgment of the plaintiff in any
such action, the indemnifying party agrees to indemnify and hold harmless any
indemnified party from and against any loss or liability by reason of such
settlement or judgment.

          (d)  If the indemnification provided for in this Section 8 shall for
any reason be unavailable to or insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified
party under Section 8(a) or 8(b) in respect of any loss, claim, damage or
liability, or any action in respect thereof, referred to therein, then each
indemnifying party shall, in lieu of indemnifying such indemnified party,
contribute to the amount paid or payable by such indemnified party as a result
of such loss, claim, damage or liability, or action in respect thereof, (i) in
such proportion as shall be appropriate to reflect the relative benefits
received by the Company on the one hand and the Underwriters on the other from
the offering of the Stock or (ii) if the allocation provided by clause (i) above
is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is appropriate to
reflect not only the relative benefits referred to in clause (i) above but also
the relative fault of the Company on the one hand and the Underwriters on the
other with respect to the statements or omissions which resulted in such loss,
claim, damage or liability, or action in respect thereof, as well as any other
relevant equitable considerations. The relative benefits received by the Company
on the one hand and the Underwriters on the other with respect to such offering
shall be deemed to be in the same proportion as the total net proceeds from the
offering of the Stock purchased under this Agreement (before deducting expenses)
received by the Company, on the one hand, and the total underwriting discounts
and commissions received by the Underwriters with respect to the shares of the
Stock purchased under this Agreement, on the other hand, bear to the total gross
proceeds from the offering of the shares of the Stock under this Agreement, in
each case as set forth in the table on the cover page of the Prospectus. The
relative fault shall be determined by reference to whether the untrue or alleged
untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a
material fact relates to information supplied by the Company or the
Underwriters, the intent of the parties and their relative knowledge, access to
information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission.
The Company and the Underwriters agree that it would not be just and
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equitable if contributions pursuant to this Section were to be determined by pro
rata allocation (even if the Underwriters were treated as one entity for such



purpose) or by any other method of allocation which does not take into account
the equitable considerations referred to herein. The amount paid or payable by
an indemnified party as a result of the loss, claim, damage or liability, or
action in respect thereof, referred to above in this Section shall be deemed to
include, for purposes of this Section 8(d), any legal or other expenses
reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in connection with investigating
or defending any such action or claim. Notwithstanding the provisions of this
Section 8 (d), no Underwriter shall be required to contribute any amount in
excess of the amount by which the total price at which the Stock underwritten by
it and distributed to the public was offered to the public exceeds the amount of
any damages which such Underwriter has otherwise paid or become liable to pay by
reason of any untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged
omission. No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning
of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from
any person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation. The
Underwriters' obligations to contribute as provided in this Section 8(d) are
several in proportion to their respective underwriting obligations and not
joint.

          (e)  The Underwriters severally confirm and the Company acknowledges
that the statements with respect to the public offering of the Stock by the
Underwriters set forth on the cover page of, the legend concerning
over-allotments on the inside front cover page of and the concession and
reallowance figures appearing under the caption "Underwriting" in, the
Prospectus are correct and constitute the only information concerning such
Underwriters furnished in writing to the Company by or on behalf of the
Underwriters specifically for inclusion in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus.

     9.   Defaulting Underwriters.

          If, on either Delivery Date, any Underwriter defaults in the
performance of its obligations under this Agreement, the remaining
non-defaulting Underwriters shall be obligated to purchase the Stock which the
defaulting Underwriter agreed but failed to purchase on such Delivery Date in
the respective proportions which the number of shares of the Firm Stock set
opposite the name of each remaining non-defaulting Underwriter in Schedule 1
hereto bears to the total number of shares of the Firm Stock set opposite the
names of all the remaining non-defaulting Underwriters in Schedule 1 hereto;
provided, however, that the remaining non-defaulting Underwriters shall not be
obligated to purchase any of the Stock on such Delivery Date if the total number
of shares of the Stock which the defaulting Underwriter or Underwriters agreed
but failed to purchase on such date exceeds 9.09% of the total number of shares
of the Stock to be purchased on such Delivery Date, and any remaining
non-defaulting Underwriter shall not be obligated to purchase more than 110% of
the number of shares of the Stock which it agreed to purchase on such Delivery
Date pursuant to the terms of Section 2. If the foregoing maximums are exceeded,
the remaining non-defaulting Underwriters, or those other underwriters
satisfactory to the Representative who so agree, shall have the right, but shall
not be obligated, to purchase, in such proportion as may be agreed upon among
them, all the Stock to be purchased on such Delivery Date. If the remaining
Underwriters or other underwriters satisfactory to the Representative do not
elect to purchase the shares which the
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defaulting Underwriter or Underwriters agreed but failed to purchase on such
Delivery Date, this Agreement (or, with respect to the Second Delivery Date, the
obligation of the Underwriters to purchase, and of the Company to sell, the
Option Stock) shall terminate without liability on the part of any
non-defaulting Underwriter or the Company, except that the Company will continue
to be liable for the payment of expenses to the extent set forth in Sections 6
and 8. As used in this Agreement, the term "Underwriter" includes, for all
purposes of this Agreement unless the context requires otherwise, any party not
listed in Schedule 1 hereto who, pursuant to this Section 9, purchases Firm
Stock which a defaulting Underwriter agreed but failed to purchase.

          Nothing contained herein shall relieve a defaulting Underwriter of any
liability it may have to the Company for damages caused by its default. If other
underwriters are obligated or agree to purchase the Stock of a defaulting or
withdrawing Underwriter, either the Representative or the Company may postpone
the Delivery Date for up to seven full business days in order to effect any



changes that in the opinion of counsel for the Company or counsel for the
Underwriters may be necessary in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or
in any other document or arrangement.

     10.  Termination. The obligations of the Underwriters hereunder may be
terminated by the Representative by notice given to and received by the Company
prior to delivery of and payment for the Firm Stock if, prior to that time, any
of the events described in Sections 7(i) or 7(j), shall have occurred or if the
Underwriters shall decline to purchase the Stock for any reason permitted under
this Agreement.

     11.  Reimbursement of Underwriters' Expenses. If (a) the Company shall fail
to tender the Stock for delivery to the Underwriters by reason of any failure,
refusal or inability on the part of the Company to perform any agreement on its
part to be performed, or because any other condition of the Underwriters'
obligations hereunder required to be fulfilled by the Company is not fulfilled,
the Company will reimburse the Underwriters for all reasonable out-of-pocket
expenses (including fees and disbursements of counsel) incurred by the
Underwriters in connection with this Agreement and the proposed purchase of the
Stock, and upon demand the Company shall pay the full amount thereof to the
Representative. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 9 by reason
of the default of one or more Underwriters, the Company shall not be obligated
to reimburse any defaulting Underwriter on account of those expenses.

     12.  Notices, etc. All statements, requests, notices and agreements
hereunder shall be in writing, and:

          (a)  if to the Underwriters, shall be delivered or sent by mail, telex
or facsimile transmission to Lehman Brothers Inc., Three World Financial Center,
New York, New York 10285, Attention: Syndicate Department (Fax: 212-526-6588),
with a copy, in the case of any notice pursuant to Section 8(c), to the Director
of Litigation, Office of the General Counsel, Lehman Brothers Inc., 3 World
Financial Center, 10th Floor, New York, NY 10285;
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          (b)  if to the Company, shall be delivered or sent by mail, telex or
facsimile transmission to the address of the Company set forth in the
Registration Statement, Attention: General Counsel (Fax: (408) 367-3452).

provided, however, that any notice to an Underwriter pursuant to Section 8(c)
shall be delivered or sent by mail, telex or facsimile transmission to such
Underwriter at its address set forth in its acceptance telex to the
Representative, which address will be supplied to any other party hereto by the
Representative upon request. Any such statements, requests, notices or
agreements shall take effect at the time of receipt thereof. The Company shall
be entitled to act and rely upon any request, consent, notice or agreement given
or made on behalf of the Underwriters by Lehman Brothers Inc.

     13.  Persons Entitled to Benefit of Agreement. This Agreement shall inure
to the benefit of and be binding upon the Underwriters, the Company, and their
respective successors. This Agreement and the terms and provisions hereof are
for the sole benefit of only those persons, except that (A) the representations,
warranties, indemnities and agreements of the Company contained in this
Agreement shall also be deemed to be for the benefit of the person or persons,
if any, who control any Underwriter within the meaning of Section 15 of the
Securities Act and (B) the indemnity agreement of the Underwriters contained in
Section 8(b) of this Agreement shall be deemed to be for the benefit of
directors of the Company, officers of the Company who have signed the
Registration Statement and any person controlling the Company within the meaning
of Section 15 of the Securities Act. Nothing in this Agreement is intended or
shall be construed to give any person, other than the persons referred to in
this Section 13, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in
respect of this Agreement or any provision contained herein.

     14.  Survival. The respective indemnities, representations, warranties and
agreements of the Company and the Underwriters contained in this Agreement or
made by or on behalf on them, respectively, pursuant to this Agreement, shall
survive the delivery of and payment for the Stock and shall remain in full force
and effect, regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of any of them
or any person controlling any of them.



     15.  Definition of the Terms "Business Day" and "Subsidiary". For purposes
of this Agreement, (a) "business day" means each Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday,
Thursday or Friday which is not a day on which banking institutions in New York
are generally authorized or obligated by law or executive order to close and (b)
"subsidiary" has the meaning set forth in Rule 405 of the Rules and Regulations.

     16.  Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF NEW YORK.

     17.  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more
counterparts and, if executed in more than one counterpart, the executed
counterparts shall each be deemed to be an original but all such counterparts
shall together constitute one and the same instrument.
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     18.  Headings. The headings herein are inserted for convenience of
reference only and are not intended to be part of, or to affect the meaning or
interpretation of, this Agreement.
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     If the foregoing correctly sets forth the agreement between the Company and
the Underwriters, please indicate your acceptance in the space provided for that
purpose below.

                                       Very truly yours,

                                       NETWORK APPLIANCE, INC.

                                       By
                                          --------------------------------------
                                          Daniel J. Warmenhoven
                                          President and Chief Executive Officer

Accepted:

LEHMAN BROTHERS INC.

By
   -----------------------------------
       Authorized Representative

For itself and as Representative
of the several Underwriters named
in Schedule 1 hereto
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                                   SCHEDULE 1

                                                                       Number of
     Underwriters                                                        Shares
     ------------                                                      ---------
                                                                            

     Lehman Brothers Inc.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

     BT Alex. Brown. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

     Merrill Lynch & Co. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 



     Wit Capital Corporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

          Total
                                                                       =========

                                       24
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                 [LETTERHEAD OF BROBECK, PHLEGER & HARRISON LLP]

                                March 24, 1999

Network Appliance, Inc.
2770 San Tomas Expressway
Santa Clara, California 95051

               Re:    Network Appliance, Inc.
                      Registration Statement on Form S-3 for 2,875,000 Shares of
                      Common Stock 

Ladies and Gentlemen:

               We have acted as counsel to Network Appliance, Inc., a California
corporation (the "Company"), in connection with the proposed issuance and sale
by the Company of up to 2,875,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock (the
"Shares") pursuant to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-3 (the
"Registration Statement") filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act").

               This opinion is being furnished in accordance with the
requirements of Item 16 of Form S-3 and Item 601(b)(5)(i) of Regulation S-K.

               We have reviewed the Company's charter documents and the
corporate proceedings taken by the Company in connection with the issuance and
sale of the Shares. Based on such review, we are of the opinion that the Shares
have been duly authorized, and if, as and when issued in accordance with the
Registration Statement and the related prospectus (as amended and supplemented
through the date of issuance) will be legally issued, fully paid and
nonassessable.

               We consent to the filing of this opinion letter as Exhibit 5.1 to
the Registration Statement and to the reference to this firm under the caption
"Legal Matters" in the prospectus which is part of the Registration Statement.
In giving this consent, we do not thereby admit that we are within the category
of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Act, the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission promulgated thereunder, or
Item 509 of Regulation S-K.

   2
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               This opinion letter is rendered as of the date first written
above and we disclaim any obligation to advise you of facts, circumstances,
events or developments which hereafter may be brought to our attention and which
may alter, affect or modify the opinion expressed herein. Our opinion is
expressly limited to the matters set forth above and we render no opinion,
whether by implication or otherwise, as to any other matters relating to the
Company or the Shares.

                                        Very truly yours,

                                        /s/ BROBECK, PHLEGER & HARRISON LLP

                                        BROBECK, PHLEGER & HARRISON LLP
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                                                                    EXHIBIT 23.1

                         INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT

We consent to the use in this Registration Statement of Network Appliance, Inc.
on Form S-3 of our report dated May 8, 1998 (July 17, 1998 as to the first three
paragraphs of Note 11 and December 21, 1998 as to the last three paragraphs of
Note 11) appearing in the Prospectus, which is part of the Registration
Statement and of our report dated May 8, 1998 relating to the consolidated
financial statement schedule appearing elsewhere in the Registration Statement.
We also consent to the reference to us under the heading "Experts" in such
Prospectus.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
March 22, 1999
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                                                                    EXHIBIT 23.3

                    INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON SCHEDULE

Our audits of the consolidated balance sheets of Network Appliance, Inc. and its
subsidiaries as of April 30, 1997 and 1998, and the related consolidated
statements of income, shareholders' equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended April 30, 1998 also included the
consolidated financial statement schedule of Network Appliance, Inc., listed in
Item 16(b) of this Registration Statement on Form S-3. This consolidated
financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion based on our audits. In our opinion,
such consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to
the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in
all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/  DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
May 8, 1998
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